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Performance
An overview of our

Increase in net profit after tax  
(NPAT) from the same period  
last year

$220.5M

financial

Increase in underlying NPAT**  
from the same period last year

$56.6M

Increase in EBITDAF* from  
the same period last year

$108.2M

Improvement in net cash flow 
from operating activities from 
the same period last year

$94.5M

Pre–tax gain from the sale  
of the Macarthur wind farm  
in June 2013

$101.4M

Lost–time injuries during the  
12 months ended 30 June 2013

0
safety and health

Increase in hydro inflows from  
last year

34%

INFLOWS

Improvement in the retail segment  
EBITDAF per contracted MWh  
from the same period last year

$1.20/MWh***

CUSTOMERS

Active customer installation  
control points (ICPs), a reduction  
of 15,227 since 30 June 2012

272,077****

development

Macarthur wind farm in  
Australia fully commissioned  
in January 2013

420mw

Mill Creek wind farm began 
construction in July 2012

60mw

Mt. Mercer wind farm began 
construction in December 2012

131mw

* 	 Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation, amortisation, change 
in fair value of financial instruments, 
impairments, gain/(loss) on sale 
of assets and joint venture equity 
accounted earnings.

**	 NPAT minus the effects of one–off  
and/or infrequently occurring events, 
impairments and changes in fair  
value of financial instruments.

***	 Megawatt hour.

****	 Excluding vacant ICPs.
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EBITDAF
PER MEGAWATT HOUR (MWh) GENERATED

$46.78

$584.8M
EBITDAF
(EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST,  
TAX, DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION,  
CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS, IMPAIRMENTS, GAIN/(LOSS) 
ON SALE OF ASSETS AND JOINT VENTURE 
EQUITY ACCOUNTED EARNINGS)

08  
The Management Team 

11  
Summary of Group Performance

23  
Meridian’s People

27 
Governance

30 
Financial Statements 

87 
Statutory Information

89 
Directory

Contents



SUMMARY OF GROUP PERFORMANCE

PG 2

Lake Benmore

Lake Benmore is New Zealand’s largest manmade lake.  
It holds 1.5 times as much water as Wellington Harbour.

Meridian Energy
About

As the country’s biggest electricity 
generator and a significant  
retailer, Meridian Energy Limited 
(Meridian) is New Zealand’s largest 
electricity company. 

Meridian is committed to generating 
electricity from 100% renewable 
sources – water, wind and solar. 
Meridian generates approximately 
30% of New Zealand’s electricity 
from its integrated chain of dams  
on the Waitaki River and ManapŌuri, 
which is the largest hydro power 
station in New Zealand, along with 
four wind farms around the country. 

Through the Meridian and Powershop 
brands, Meridian retails electricity 
to more than 270,000 customer 
connections, including homes, 
businesses and farms around  
the country. 

Meridian owns and operates the  
Mt. Millar wind farm in South 
Australia and is constructing the  
Mt. Mercer wind farm in Victoria.  

In New Zealand, Meridian is also 
constructing the Mill Creek wind 
farm near Wellington. 

Meridian also built the first  
grid–connected solar farm in 
California and further developed  
its solar expertise by building  
the first solar farm in Tonga. 

Meridian’s commitment to 
renewable energy and supporting 
the environments and communities 
where it operates underpins a 
sustainable business model.  
Meridian continues to focus on 
providing energy solutions that help 
customers manage their energy use. 

The Meridian Group employs 
approximately 820 full–time 
equivalent employees and has 
offices in New Zealand, Australia  
and the United States. 

Meridian is creating a better energy future by its approach 
to generating electricity from renewable sources, 

supporting communities where it operates and focusing  
on energy solutions for customers

Chris Moller	P eter Wilson 
Chair	 Deputy Chair

This Annual Report is signed on behalf of the Board by;
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* 	 This segment included Energy for Industry Limited (EFI),  
which was sold in December 2012.

**	 Other subsidiaries are no longer active.

 MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT for the year ended 30 June 2013

The Meridian Group Company Structure

INTERNATIONAL 
SEGMENT

Australia

USA

RETAIL  
SEGMENT

Meridian Retail

Powershop

Arc Innovations

CORPORATE 
SERVICES

Human  
Resources

External Relations

Information & 
Communications 

Technology

Strategy,  
Finance & Legal

Insurance  
& Property

WHOLESALE  
SEGMENT

Markets & 
Production

Renewable 
Development

Damwatch

OTHER SUBSIDIARIES 
SEGMENT*

Other Subsidiary 
Activities**

Captive Insurance 
Company
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HydroRetail

2,338272,077
MW ***ICPs*

10,91813.8%
GWh**Market Share1

NEW ZEALAND

PLANT  
CAPACITY  

MW***

TOTAL GWh** PRODUCED 
YEAR TO 30 JUNE

2013 2012

Ōhau A  264  1,029  979 

Ōhau B  212  875  820 

Ōhau C  212  865  817 

Benmore  540  2,154  1,954 

Aviemore  220  950  827 

Waitaki  90  499  431 

ManapŌuri  800  4,546  3,962 

Total Hydro Generation  2,338  10,918  9,790 

**	 Gigawatt hours.

***	Megawatts.

1. Electricity Authority, 30 June 2013.

* 	Active installation control points excluding vacant ICPs.

Company Overview

144,393
ICPs*

106,085 MERIDIAN retail 
38,308 POWERSHOP 

9.8%
Market Share 1
7.2% MERIDIAN retail 
2.6% POWERSHOP 

127,684
ICPs*

114,721 MERIDIAN retail 
12,963 POWERSHOP 

24.9%
Market Share 1
22.4% MERIDIAN retail 
2.5% POWERSHOP 

NORTH ISLAND SOUTH ISLAND

Total Installed Capacity Total GenerationTotal New Zealand
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(Excluding the Macarthur wind 
farm which was sold in June 2013)

(Including Macarthur 2013 generation)

Wind

NEW ZEALAND

PLANT  
CAPACITY  

MW***

TOTAL GWh** PRODUCED 
YEAR TO 30 JUNE

2013 2012

Te Āpiti  91 291 295

White Hill  58 188 189

West Wind  143 475 496

Te Uku  64 198 226

Total New Zealand Wind Generation  356  1,152  1,206 

AUSTRALIA

Mt. Millar  70  166  177 

Macarthur  
(Interest in joint venture sold June 2013)  420  255 –

Total Australia Wind Generation  490  421  177 

UNDER CONSTRUCTION

Mill Creek (New Zealand)  60 

Mt. Mercer (Australia)  131 

426 1,573
GWh**MW *** MW ***

11
GWh**

5

Solar

Total GenerationTotal Installed Capacity Total GenerationTotal Installed Capacity

UNITED STATES

PLANT  
CAPACITY  

MW***

TOTAL GWh** PRODUCED 
YEAR TO 30 JUNE

2013 2012

CalRENEW–1  5  11  11 
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Chris Moller 
Chair
BCA, Diploma of Accounting,  
ACA (NZICA)

Chris Moller has been on the Meridian 
Board since May 2009 and was appointed 
Chair in January 2011. Chris also serves 
on the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Chris has extensive experience  
in New Zealand and international 
business at both Director and 
executive level. He is the former  
Chief Executive Officer of the 
New Zealand Rugby Union, co–leading 
New Zealand’s successful bid to host 
the Rugby World Cup 2011. His 15–year 
career in the dairy industry included 
roles as Deputy Chief Executive of 
Fonterra and Chief Financial Officer  
of the New Zealand Dairy Board. 

Chris is currently Chair of New Zealand 
Transport Agency, New Zealand Cricket 
(Inc.) and SKYCITY Entertainment 
Group Limited. He is also a Director  
of the International Cricket Council, 
Westpac New Zealand Limited and 
Cricket World Cup 2015 Ltd. Previously 
he was a Director of NZX Limited, 
Synlait Limited, Rugby New Zealand 
2011 Limited (which entered into 
voluntary liquidation following the 
conclusion of the Rugby World Cup 
2011) and National Foods (Pty) Limited. 
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Peter Wilson
Deputy Chair
CA (NZICA)

Peter Wilson joined the Meridian  
Board in May 2011. Peter is a Chartered 
Accountant and business consultant, 
and was formerly a partner of Ernst  
& Young. He has extensive experience 
in banking, business establishment, 
problem resolution, asset sales and 
management of change functions. 

Peter has been involved in companies 
undertaking capital raising activities 
and has wide ranging governance 
experience in the public market,  
the private sector and with Crown–
owned entities. Peter serves on the 
Audit and Risk Committee, and is 
currently Chairman of Westpac  
New Zealand Limited and Augusta 
Capital Limited. Peter is also a Director 
of PF Olsen Limited and Farmlands 
Co–operative Society Limited. Past 
Directorships include The Colonial 
Motor Company Limited, Westpac 
Banking Corporation and NZ Farming 
Systems Uruguay Limited.

Mark Cairns
Director
BE (Hons), BBS, Post Grad Dip Bus 
Admin, MMgt, FIPENZ

Mark Cairns joined the Meridian Board 
in July 2012. He currently serves on the 
Audit and Risk Committee. Mark has 
extensive experience in port operations 
and transportation. He has been  
Chief Executive of NZX–listed Port of 
Tauranga Limited since 2005. Prior to 
joining Port of Tauranga Limited, he 
was Chief Executive of C 3 Limited 
(formerly Toll Owens Limited) for five 
years, following his role as General 
Manager (Central) at Fulton Hogan 
Limited. Mark is Chair of Quality 
Marshalling (Mount Maunganui) 
Limited and is a Director of Northport 
Limited, North Tugz Limited and Port  
of Tauranga Trustee Company Limited. 
Mark has also previously held Director 
roles in C 3 Limited, Metropack Limited 
and Tapper Transport Limited.

Jan Dawson
Director
BCom, FCA (NZICA), MInstD

Jan Dawson joined the Meridian  
Board in November 2012. Jan is a 
professional independent Director  
with appointments to a number  
of New Zealand and Australian 
companies. She was previously the 
Chair and Chief Executive for KPMG 
New Zealand, following a career 
spanning 30 years specialising in audit 
and accounting services in the United 
Kingdom, Canada and New Zealand. 

Sally Farrier 
Director
BE (Hons), MBA, gDipAppFin

Sally Farrier was appointed a Director 
of Meridian in July 2012 and serves  
on the Safety and Sustainability 
Committee. She is a professional  
non–executive Director and corporate 
adviser, with extensive experience in 
industry restructuring and economic 
reform, privatisation, business 
strategy and risk management. 

Sally’s professional career has focused 
on the utility sector (water, electricity 
and gas) spanning a number of 
consulting and Director roles  
in New Zealand and Australia. Sally  
was previously an Australian National 
Water Commissioner of Australian 
National Water, a member of the 
Department of Primary Industries 
Portfolio Strategy Board and a member 
of the Victorian Water Trust Advisory 
Council and the Independent Panel  
for the Victorian Regional Sustainable 
Water Strategies. Sally was formerly  
a Director of Hydro Tasmania, Manidis 
Roberts Pty Limited and Western 
Power. She is currently a Director of 
Farrier Swier Consulting Pty Limited. 

Anake Goodall 
Director
BA, MBA, MPA

Anake Goodall joined the Meridian 
Board in May 2011 and serves on the 
Remuneration and Human Resources 
Committee. Anake has diverse 
management and governance 
experience including being a union 
delegate in the meat industry,  
a founding Board member of the 
Makarewa Credit Union, holding various 
executive roles in community–based 
organisations, and as adviser to the 
Government and iwi. 

Most recently, he served as Chief 
Executive Officer of Te Rūnanga o Ngāi 
Tahu, and was before that responsible 
for managing all aspects of Ngāi Tahu’s 
Treaty settlement process. Anake is 
currently a Director of NXT Fuels 
Limited (formerly Aquaflow Bionomic 
Corporation Limited) and Enspiral 
Foundation Limited. He is a member  
of the Environmental Protection 
Authority and the Canterbury 
Earthquake Recovery Review Panel, 
and is an Adjunct Professor at the 
University of Canterbury. He has 
previously been a Director of various 
Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu entities. Anake 
is Chair of the ManawapŌpore Trust, 
Trustee of the Hillary Institute of 
International Leadership, and is a  
New Zealand Harkness Fellow. Anake 
was a Director of Quik Bake Products 
Limited at the time it was placed in 
receivership in 1989.

Stephen Reindler
Director
BE (Hons), AMP, FIPENZ 

Steve Reindler joined the Meridian 
Board in September 2008 and is Chair 
of the Safety and Sustainability 
Committee. Steve is an engineer  
who has a background in large–scale 
infrastructure and heavy industry 
manufacturing. He has gained 
extensive experience through his 
previous engineering roles at 
New Zealand Steel Limited and 
Auckland International Airport Limited, 
and through his industry position as 
inaugural Chairman of the Chartered 
Professional Engineers Council. 

He is currently a Director of Port of 
Napier Limited, and a member of the 
Advisory Committee for Transfield 
Services Limited. Steve was previously  
a Director of Stevenson Group Limited 
and an advisory Director of Glidepath 
Limited. He served as a Senior Office 
Holder on the Board of the NZ Institution 
of Professional Engineers and was 
President of the Institution in 2011. 

Mary Devine 
Director
BCom, MBA, ONZM

Mary Devine became a Director of 
Meridian in May 2010. Mary is Chair  
of the Remuneration and Human 
Resources Committee. She has had  
a 20–year career in executive roles  
in private New Zealand companies. 

A former Chief Executive of 
Australasia’s largest fashion and 
homewares multi–channel retailer, 
EziBuy, she is currently Managing 
Director of department store,  
J. Ballantyne & Co. Mary has extensive 
experience in corporate strategy, 
brand marketing and multi–channel 
retailing and was this year awarded  
an ONZM for services to business.  
She is currently a Director of IAG 
New Zealand Limited and Briscoe 
Group Limited. Mary is also a trustee  
of the New Zealand Hockey Foundation.

John Bongard
Director
BCom, ONZM

John Bongard has been a Director of 
Meridian since May 2011 and currently 
serves on the Remuneration and 
Human Resources Committee. John 
has more than 30 years’ experience  
in marketing appliances around the 
world and has established new sales 
companies in Australia and in the 
United States. He has held a number  
of executive–level positions during  
his 36–year career within the Fisher  
& Paykel Group, including, until 2009, 
serving as Chief Executive Officer and 
as Managing Director of Fisher & Paykel 
Appliances Holdings Limited. 

He is currently Chair of PSCTH Thailand 
and The Rising Foundation and Local 
Chair of BNZ Partners Highbrook.  
John is a Director of HJ Asmuss & Co 
Limited, Narta Australia Pty Limited 
and Netball New Zealand, and was 
previously a Director of Tourism 
Holdings Limited. He is also a trustee of 
Counties Manukau Pacific Trust Board.

Jan is Chair of the Audit and Risk 
Committee. Jan is currently a Director 
of Air New Zealand Limited, Westpac 
New Zealand Limited, AIG Insurance 
New Zealand Limited, Counties 
Manukau District Health Board and 
Goodman Fielder Limited. She was  
also previously a Director of Regional 
Treasury Management Limited and 
numerous companies associated with 
KPMG subsidiaries. She is currently 
President of Yachting New Zealand.
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Mark Binns 
Chief Executive
LLB

Mark Binns joined Meridian as Chief 
Executive in January 2012. Prior to this 
appointment Mark was Chief Executive 
of the Infrastructure Division of 
Fletcher Building Limited, the 
company’s largest division. Mark 
worked at Fletcher Building and its 
predecessor, Fletcher Challenge 
Limited, for 22 years. During that period 
he was responsible for operations in 
Australia, South East Asia, India, South 
America, the United States and the 
South Pacific, as well as in New Zealand. 
Mark also held Director roles in 
numerous subsidiary companies of the 
Fletcher Building group. 

His career has seen him closely 
involved in some of New Zealand’s 
largest infrastructure projects, 
including the Wiri Prison public–private 
partnership, Waterview Connection, 
Eden Park, SKYCITY, Museum of  
New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa and 
the ManapŌuri tunnel. By training, Mark 
is a qualified lawyer and, prior to joining 
Fletcher Challenge, was a partner at 
Simpson Grierson in Auckland.

Paul Chambers 
Chief Financial Officer
BSc (Hons), FCA (ICAEW), CA (NZICA)

Before taking up his role at Meridian  
in 2009, Paul Chambers was Chief 
Financial Officer of Transfield Services 
New Zealand. Paul has extensive senior 
finance experience in a variety of 
industries, including ports, 
manufacturing and retail, both  
in the United Kingdom and in France. 
Paul is a Chartered Accountant and  
is currently a Director of the Meridian 
subsidiaries Powershop New Zealand 
Limited, Arc Innovations Limited and 
Meridian Energy Australia Pty Limited. 
His team has responsibility for 
strategy coordination, performance 
measurement, external reporting, 
funding, risk management 
coordination, procurement and 
financial transaction services.

Ben Burge 
Chief Executive Officer,  
Meridian Energy Australia  
PTY Limited
BCom, LLB (First Class Hons)

Ben Burge joined the Meridian Group in 
2011 as the Chief Executive of Meridian 
Energy Australia Pty Limited and is 
responsible for Meridian’s Australian 
business. Ben has had extensive 
experience in the Australian market 
dealing in securities and derivatives  
in equities, debt and energy. Ben was 
the founder and Chief Executive of 
ASX–listed media business Emitch 
Limited and has held the roles of Chief 
Executive and partner of investment 
bank JT Campbell & Co, and partner  
of IBM in the Business Analytics and 
Optimisation business unit.

Jacqui Cleland 
General Manager,  
Human Resources
BBS, M.Phil (Psych)

Jacqui Cleland joined Meridian as 
General Manager of Human Resources 
in September 2012. She has an 
extensive background in human 
resources and has held senior human 
resources management roles in  
New Zealand Post, New Zealand  
Inland Revenue and Fonterra.  
Jacqui was previously a trustee of  
the New Zealand Post Superannuation 
Plan. Jacqui also spent a number of 
years as a university lecturer, teaching 
and researching in a wide range of 
business and human resources topics. 
Jacqui’s team focuses on developing 
leaders and executing strategies to 
help Meridian’s people utilise and grow 
their capabilities, competencies and 
skills. This ensures the Company is well 
supported to deliver on its business 
objectives and aspirations.

Glen McLatchie 
General Manager, Information AND 
Communications Technology (ICT)
BBS, MIS

Glen McLatchie joined Meridian in May 
2010 and is responsible for ensuring 
the Company has the appropriate  
ICT infrastructure, data, processes, 
security and applications in place to 
meet the Company’s requirements. 
Glen has over 20 years’ experience  
in delivering business and information 
technology change and has held a 
number of general management 
positions in both commercial and 
information technology business 
functions. He has held several senior 
management roles with a global focus 
based in Australia, the United Kingdom 
and France over a 13 year period with 
BP Oil International Limited. Prior to 
joining Meridian, Glen was the Director 
of ICT Transformation and Strategic 
Planning for Contact Energy Limited 
and prior to this was the General 
Manager of Retail Automation Limited 
(a division of the former Provenco 
Group Limited).

Jason Stein 
General Counsel and  
company secretary
LLB, BCA

Jason Stein joined Meridian in 2008  
as Assistant General Counsel and  
was appointed General Counsel and 
Company Secretary in 2010. Jason  
was also appointed General Manager 
of the Office of the Chief Executive in 
2011. Jason is a lawyer and has held  
in–house roles at financial institutions 
and the energy sector, including at 
vice president and senior counsel 
levels. Jason has been working in the  
New Zealand energy sector since 2004. 
He was formerly the Group Legal 
Manager of Vector Limited. Jason’s 
team is responsible for providing  
and managing the Company’s legal 
services and providing the corporate 
governance and company secretarial 
functions to the Company, the Board 
and the management team. He also 
holds Directorships associated with 
Meridian’s subsidiaries.

Guy Waipara 
General Manager,  
External Relations
BE (Hons), MBA

Guy Waipara (Rongowhakaata) was 
appointed as General Manager of 
External Relations at Meridian in 
August 2010. Guy is responsible for 
the Company’s corporate reputation 
which includes Company brand, 
relationship management, regulatory 
and external communications. Guy 
has previously held roles at Meridian 
in offshore business development and 
setting Company strategy. He has 
over 20 years’ experience in the 
electricity sector and previously 
worked at Transpower New Zealand 
Limited in roles responsible for 
transmission planning and network 
development. Guy is currently a 
Director of Meridian Energy USA,  
Inc and was previously a Director  
of Energy for Industry Limited (EFI).

Alan McCauley
General Manager, Retail
BCA, MBA, PGDFA, CA (NZICA)

Alan McCauley joined Meridian in  
July 2013 as General Manager of Retail.  
His career in the energy industry has 
spanned 18 years in roles in both 
Australia and New Zealand. Alan was  
a member of the project team which 
established Red Energy in Australia in 
2003. As General Manager of Customer 
Management at Red Energy until  
June 2013, Alan was a key member of the 
executive team that grew that company 
into a profitable and award–winning 
energy retailer. He has previously 
worked in managerial and consulting 
roles for Contact Energy Limited, 
Electricity Corporation of New Zealand 
Limited and Electro Power Limited. 
Alan was a Director of Athletics 
New Zealand from July 2006 until 
August 2013 and is a current Director  
of Athletics Victoria. 

Neal Barclay 
General Manager, Markets  
and Production
BCA, CA (NZICA)

Neal Barclay has been General  
Manager of Markets and Production 
since October 2009. He joined Meridian 
in July 2008 as Chief Financial Officer. 
Prior to joining Meridian, Neal,  
a Chartered Accountant, held a number 
of general manager roles in a 13-year 
career with Telecom New Zealand 
Limited. Neal is responsible for the 
Company’s New Zealand generation 
asset portfolio, including seven hydro 
power stations and four wind farms  
that deliver about 30% of New Zealand’s 
electricity generation, and for the 
Company’s wholesale trading and  
risk position.
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Benmore Power Station

Benmore was built as part of the Waitaki hydro scheme. The Waitaki hydro scheme 
is made up of eight hydro stations on the Waitaki River in the South Island.  
Meridian owns and operates six of the hydro stations.
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Meridian saw a significant improvement in financial performance from the record 
dry 2012 financial year. This was achieved while managing an extremely dry period 

during the summer months, 42 days of HVDC outages, three months of Tekapo 
canal outages, intense competition in the retail market, ongoing negotiations with 

the owners of the Tiwai Point aluminium smelter and continued preparations for 
Meridian’s partial listing, planned for later in 2013. 

Despite these challenges, Meridian delivered a strong end of year result  
to 30 June 2013 with EBITDAF of $584.8 million, up 23% on last year. The result  
was influenced by improved New Zealand Energy Margin, reflecting improved 
hydrology, and revenue received from the Macarthur wind farm in Australia.  

The financial performance of the retail segment continued to improve,  
with net contracted revenue increasing by 3% on last year whilst  

sales volumes remained flat.

Meridian generated strong results in a year characterised 
by improved inflows, but with periods of market 

disruption and intense retail competition 

Group  
Performance
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SUMMARY OF GROUP PERFORMANCE

MERIDIAN GROUP SUMMARY INCOME STATEMENT  
($ MILLIONS)

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Energy Margin (New Zealand)  865.1  740.4 929.0 940.1 785.3

Energy Margin (International)  50.7  22.8 21.3 1.6  –

Total Energy Margin  915.8  763.2 950.3 941.7 785.3

Dividend and Other Revenue  29.7  27.3 42.5 38.7 27.1

Energy Related Expenses (Non–core)  –  – (10.6) (9.2) (3.3)

Energy Transmission Expenses  (115.3)  (86.7) (84.2) (78.9) (78.2)

Gross Margin  830.2  703.8 898.0 892.3 730.9

Employee and Other Operating Expenses  (245.4)  (227.2) (238.1) (250.6) (218.5)

EBITDAF  584.8  476.6 659.9 641.7 512.4

Gain/(Loss) Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments – Operational  51.1  121.3 (89.3) (48.0) (114.1)

Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairments  (244.5)  (285.2) (235.2) (206.4) (172.3)

Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment, Subsidiary, Investments and  
Finance Lease Receivable  106.6  (1.5) 174.1 0.3 4.8

Equity Accounting Earnings of Joint Ventures  0.1  (2.7) (3.4) (2.0) (1.9)

Operating Profit  498.1  308.5 506.1 385.6 228.9

Net Finance Expenses  (113.5)  (82.5) (107.6) (85.1) (68.4)

Gain/(Loss) Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments – Financing  42.7  (68.0) (14.2) (23.3) (32.5)

Profit Before Tax  427.3  158.0 384.3 277.2 128.0

Income Tax  (132.2)  (83.4) (81.2) (93.2) (38.7)

Net Profit After Tax (NPAT)  295.1  74.6 303.1 184.0 89.3

MERIDIAN GROUP UNDERLYING PROFIT AFTER TAX 
($ MILLIONS)

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Net Profit After Tax  295.1  74.6 303.1 184.0 89.3

Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments – Financing  (42.7)  68.0 14.2 23.3 32.5

Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments – Operational  (51.1)  (121.3) 89.3 48.0 114.1

Premiums Paid on Electricity Options (Less interest)  (18.5)  (15.2) (13.9)  –  –

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investments and Intangibles  24.8  60.1 11.0 18.3 9.2

Net (Gain)/Loss on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment and Finance Lease Receivable  0.7  1.1 (174.1) (0.3) (4.8)

Net (Gain)/Loss on Sale of Investments  (107.3)  –  –  –  –

Adjustments Before Tax  (194.1)  (7.3) (73.5) 89.3 151.0

Income Tax on Adjustments  61.7  14.6 (30.4) (26.8) (45.3)

Effect of Gain of the Tekapo Power Stations  – – 17.4  –  –

Effect of Corporate Tax Rate Reduction on Deferred Tax Liability  –  0.6 2.4 (9.4)  –

Effect of Change in Building Tax Depreciation on Deferred Tax  –  23.6  – 14.8  –

Adjustments After Tax  (132.4)  31.5 (84.1) 67.9 105.7

Underlying Profit After Tax  162.7  106.1 219.0 251.9 195.0

Group 
Performance
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Income Statement

Meridian’s Group Net Profit after Taxation (NPAT) 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 (FY2013) was  
$295.1 million, an increase of $220.5 million  
from the year ended 30 June 2012 (FY2012).  
This increase was due to improved Energy Margin 
in New Zealand and Australia, profit from the sale 
of the Macarthur wind farm, positive non–cash 
fair value movements on financing derivatives, 
and a reduced level of impairments compared 
with FY2012.

Underlying NPAT, which removes the effects of  
non–cash fair value movements and other one–off 
and/or infrequently occurring events (reconciliation 
to NPAT is shown on page 12) was $162.7 million in 
FY2013, an increase of $56.6 million (a 53% uplift) 
from FY2012. This increase reflected the improved 
Energy Margin contributions to EBITDAF, while 
being partially offset by increased finance costs and 
higher levels of tax on improved operating profit.
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EBITDAF

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, 
amortisation, change in fair value of financial 
instruments, impairments, gain/(loss) on sale  
of assets and joint venture equity accounted 
earnings (EBITDAF) was $584.8 million in FY2013,  
a $108.2 million increase (a 23% uplift) from 
FY2012. This improvement was largely driven by 
a $152.6 million increase in the Energy Margin 
from Meridian’s integrated retail and wholesale 
businesses, reflecting improved hydrology 
conditions in New Zealand, and revenue received 
from the Macarthur wind farm in Australia. These 
impacts were partially offset by a $28.6 million 
increase in transmission costs associated with 
Transpower New Zealand Limited’s (Transpower’s) 
work in upgrading the high voltage direct current 
(HVDC) Pole 3.

Employee and other operating costs were  
$245.4 million in FY2103, an increase of $18.2 million 
from FY2012. This increase was partly influenced  
by the cost of at–risk performance incentives to 
staff this year, following the achievement of  
Group financial performance targets, which 
were not earned in FY2012. One–off costs were 
also incurred this year as Meridian continued 
to rationalise its development pipeline and 
commenced the Initial Public Offering process. 
Increased cost pressures in other areas were 
largely absorbed through a continuing focus on 
cost management and organisational changes 
implemented during the year.
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New Zealand Energy Margin

The New Zealand Energy Margin consists of:

•	 revenue received from sales to retail customers 
(net of distribution costs), sales to large 
industrial customers and fixed price revenue from 
derivatives sold (contracted sales revenue); less

•	 the fixed cost of derivatives acquired to manage 
both generation volumes and exposure to 
wholesale electricity prices (cost of buy–side 
electricity derivatives); plus

•	 revenue from the volume of electricity that 
Meridian generates and generation acquired 
through derivative instruments that is in  
excess of volumes required to cover contracted 
customer sales (spot exposed revenue); plus  
or minus 

•	 other associated market revenue and cost 
including Electricity Authority levies and 
ancillary generation revenue and cost  
e.g. frequency keeping (other market  
revenue/expenses).

The New Zealand Energy Margin was $865.1 million 
in FY2013, an increase of $124.7 million (a 17% uplift) 
from FY2012. 
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The graph below highlights the movements in the New Zealand Energy Margin between the financial years ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2013.         
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The graph below outlines the breakdown of the New Zealand Energy Margin components.
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Retail Performance

The retail segment includes Meridian’s two retail 
electricity brands, Meridian and Powershop  
New Zealand Limited (Powershop), and electricity 
meter service business Arc Innovations Limited.

Retail segment EBITDAF per megawatt hour (MWh) 
of contracted sales (at a fixed input purchase 
price averaging $85/MWh) improved by $1.2/MWh 
compared with FY2012, despite the introduction 
of an allocation of directly attributable overhead 
which totalled $9.6 million during FY2013. Retail 
contracted sales and margin received from spot 
sales grew by $12.2 million compared with last year, 
despite a reduction in contracted sales volumes. 
Improved profitability resulted from the use of 
customer analytics enabling the execution of 
targeted acquisition and retention strategies,  
with a growing emphasis on the rural sector.  
The average contracted sales price received  
(net of lines and ancillary costs) improved by  
$3.4/MWh from last year.

Contracted sales volumes declined by 40GWh 
from FY2012 to 5,661GWh in FY2013, affected by 
the transfer of approximately 6,800 of Meridian’s 
pre–pay customers to Mighty River Power Limited’s 
GLO–BUG pre–pay system and the transfer of the 
management of over 14,000 installation control 
points (ICPs) to Energy Direct NZ (EDNZ), combined 
with continued subdued demand.

Total ICPs declined by 15,227 in the 12 months to 
30 June 2013, which was primarily driven by the 
transfer of customers to GLO–BUG and EDNZ.

While Powershop growth slowed, due to more 
conservative acquisition strategies during the 
period of record low inflows last year, total ICPs 
reached 51,271, an increase of 7% in the 12 months 
to 30 June 2013.

Both Powershop and Meridian implemented a 
number of customer–focused initiatives that 
will enhance interactions with customers. These 
include the ongoing development of MyMeridian, 

which provides customers with an online portal to 
monitor and forecast electricity consumption, and 
the redesign and development of new websites and 
other digital platforms. 

Meridian Retail General Manager Bill Highet 
announced in May 2013 that he would resign to take 
on a new opportunity. Alan McCauley, formerly of 
Red Energy in Australia, began as the new General 
Manager of Retail in July 2013. 

RETAIL ELECTRICITY SALES VOLUMES

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Powershop Contracted Electricity Sales (GWh) 506 444 267 83 –

Meridian Retail Non–half–hourly Sales (GWh) 2,923 2,897 2,925 2,899 2,941

Meridian Retail Half–hourly Sales (GWh) 2,232 2,360 2,448 2,577 2,757

Total Meridian Contracted Volume (GWh) 5,661 5,701 5,640 5,559 5,698

Meridian Retail Spot Electricity Sales (GWh) 1,760 1,744 1,796 1,741 1,729

Total Retail Electricity Sales (GWh) 7,421 7,445 7,436 7,300 7,427
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AVERAGE RETAIL ELECTRICITY PURCHASE PRICE*
$/MWh

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Quarter 1 – Sept 65.3 87.0 49.8 35.3 122.8 

Quarter 2 – Dec 51.6 74.7 61.2 52.3 41.8

Half–Year 58.5 80.9 55.5 43.2 82.6 

Quarter 3 – Mar 93.5 104.4 50.5 84.1 34.2 

Quarter 4 – June 85.8 126.6 44.8 57.9 44.2 

Annual 74.4 97.4 51.7 58.1 62.1 

* Excludes the transfer price between wholesale and retail at a fixed rate of $85/MWh.
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Industrial Customers  
and Electricity Derivatives Sold

Wholesale contracted sales, which include sales to 
New Zealand Aluminium Smelters Limited (NZAS) 
and electricity derivatives sold to other industrial 
customers and generators/retailers, increased 
by $61.9 million to $457.3 million when compared 
with FY2012. On 1 January 2013 the electricity 
supply contract with NZAS was replaced with a 
pricing arrangement in the form of an electricity 
derivative. This agreement contributed to 
increased revenue, along with increased volumes 
of electricity derivatives sold, including increased 
volumes of the virtual asset swap contracts.

On 7 August 2013, after more than a year of 
negotiation, Meridian and NZAS reached consensus 
on an amended form of agreement. The amended 
agreement took effect on 1 July 2013 and continues 
to 2030. The new agreement sees a reduction 
of the fixed price of the contract for difference 
(CfD) and that price adjusts with changes in the 
consumers price index. The amended agreement 
also allows for future fixed price increases if the 
New Zealand dollar price of aluminium exceeds 
agreed levels.

The volume of electricity derivatives sold included 
increased trading on the New Zealand Electricity 
Futures and Options market operated by the 
Australian Stock Exchange, and the effects of  
the ramp-up of virtual asset swap contracts.

Wholesale Trading Performance

Inflows, Storage and Risk Management

The financial year began with storage levels at 
Meridian’s hydro catchments at 75% of mean, 
following the record low inflows during FY2012, but 
recovered to 113% of mean by 31 December 2012 
with improved inflows in this period. The second 
half of the financial year was characterised by 
very high inflows in early January followed by 
an extended period of low inflows that ended in 
early June 2013, requiring Meridian to manage 
generation responsibly and preserve storage. 
The conservative use of water, combined with an 
unseasonal inflow event in early June, enabled 
Meridian to finish the year with storage levels 
at 90% of mean. Total inflows for the year were 
12,172GWh, compared with 9,096GWh in FY2012.

Derivative market liquidity, combined with 
the sophistication of instruments now traded, 
helped Meridian to effectively manage hydrology 
and transmission outage risks during the year. 
The cost of derivatives acquired to supplement 
generation and help manage wholesale and market 
price risks was $49.4 million lower than last 
year which was impacted by record low inflows. 
While derivative costs reduced, they remained 
significant as a result of the carry–over from last 
year’s challenging hydrology conditions, extended 
dry periods during the second half of the year, 42 
days of HVDC outages and the ramp–up of virtual 
asset swap contracts with Genesis Power Limited 
(Genesis) and Mighty River Power (a 323GWh uplift 
from last year). 

During the year Meridian gained consents to raise 
the upper limit of Lake Pūkaki, removing a seasonal 
variation previously in place between September 
and April, and also gained access to emergency 
storage in the lower levels of Lake Pūkaki, which 
will further strengthen Meridian’s ability to manage 
extreme hydrology risks in the future.
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Net Spot Exposed Revenues 

Net spot exposed revenue is a derived result  
of the volume of electricity Meridian physically 
generates and generation acquired through 
derivative instruments that is in excess of the 
electricity required to cover contracted  
customer sales. Net spot exposed revenue grew  
by $12.9 million to $90.7 million from FY2012 as 
spot exposed volumes increased by 565GWh. 
Core to this increase was a 12% uplift in hydro 
generation production, while being partially offset 
by a softening in the average price received for 
generation, which declined by $35.8/MWh (36%) 
from FY2012 to $64.9/MWh.

While maintaining world–class standards, plant 
performance reduced slightly from last year.  
The hydro forced outage factor increased due  
to the replacement of a faulty high–voltage 
bushing within the ManapŌuri Unit 4 transformer. 
Hydro availability was also affected by scheduled 
outages at the Benmore hydro station, where 
work was completed on the commissioning of new 
transformers that will ensure the site continues to 
operate reliably and more efficiently in future years.

Meridian announced during the year that it will 
invest more than $40 million in a four–year project 
to refurbish the Waitaki power station. This is the 
last major hydro refurbishment project Meridian 
expects to undertake in the medium–term and will 
involve reinstating the station’s seventh generation 
unit and carrying out erosion, seismic and flood 
protection work around the station.
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PLANT PERFORMANCE METRICS (New Zealand only) 

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Plant Availability* – Hydro 89.1% 94.5% 93.1% 91.3% 92.6%

Plant Availability* – Wind 97.3% 97.1% 96.6% 96.0% 95.6%

Hydro Forced Outage Factor** 0.86% 0.14% 0.18% 1.47% 0.43%

* 	100% less planned outage duration and unplanned outage duration.				  

**	Percentage of time that hydro assets are unavailable in a period owing to forced, unplanned outages.			 
	

AVERAGE WHOLESALE ELECTRICITY PRICE  
RECEIVED FROM GENERATION PRODUCTION
$/MWh

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Quarter 1 – Sept 62.4 83.6 47.5 26.8 132.0 

Quarter 2 – Dec 34.8 71.2 54.8 41.7 34.0 

Half–Year 47.7 77.6 51.1 34.0 79.00 

Quarter 3 – Mar 83.4 109.9 31.7 74.5 22.4 

Quarter 4 – June 80.8 153.3 39.4 50.3 23.0 

Annual 64.9 100.7 43.3 48.3 48.5 
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International Energy Margin

The Energy Margin from Meridian’s international 
businesses grew by $27.9 million from FY2012 to 
$50.7 million, predominantly from the contribution 
from the Macarthur wind farm, in Victoria, 
Australia, which began generating revenue  
from February 2013.

The Macarthur wind farm, a joint venture with  
AGL Energy Limited, was fully commissioned  
in January 2013, making it the largest wind farm  
in the Southern Hemisphere. On 28 June 2013, 
Meridian sold its interest in Macarthur to  
Malakoff Corporation Berhad, a Malaysian power 
generator and retailer, for an enterprise value  
of A$659 million that resulted in a gain of  
$101.4 million before tax. While the Macarthur 
investment was intended to be held for the full 
contract term, the low interest rate environment, 
unexpectedly strong investor demand and 
potential to invest in further wind farms  
in Australia provided a good opportunity for 
Meridian to sell its interests in Macarthur.

In December 2012, Meridian commenced the 
construction of the 131MW Mt. Mercer wind farm in 
Australia, located 30 kilometres south of Ballarat in 
Victoria. Construction of the wind farm is expected 
to take two years, with full production scheduled 
to occur in late FY2014. This will add to Meridian’s 
Australian wind generation asset base. 

The trial of the Powershop retail model in 
Australia concluded positively and approval has 
been given to commence a full product roll–out  
in the state of Victoria.

Transmission

Transmission costs increased by $28.6 million 
from FY2012 to $115.3 million in FY2013. This 
largely resulted from Meridian’s share of charges 
associated with Transpower’s costs of upgrading the 
national grid, including the commissioning of Pole 3.

An effective nationwide transmission network is 
critical to Meridian in managing portfolio risks  
and ensuring optimal generation production. 
Transpower is currently completing a project to 
upgrade the capacity of the HVDC link between the 
North and South Islands. A major milestone in the 
project was the successful commissioning of Pole 3 
on the 30th May 2013 and the project is currently 
working to upgrade the existing Pole 2. Transpower 
have indicated they expect the project to be 
completed by December 2013 at which point the 
links capacity will be significantly increased, 
alleviating transmission constraints and improving 
both Meridian’s risk position and portfolio flexibility.

Meridian continues to support the Electricity 
Authority’s (EA) ongoing transmission pricing 
methodology (TPM) review, which is reassessing 
the system of charging for transporting electricity 
across the transmission network. One of the 
most contentious parts of the current system is 
that HVDC charges are paid only by South Island 
generators, which Meridian, as a major South 
Island generator, considers to be discriminatory 
and a disincentive for generation investment and 
operations in the South Island. The EA’s analysis 
has shown that there are material inefficiencies 
that result from the current charging regime and 
that efficiency gains will be available if changes  
are implemented.

The EA has indicated that it will produce a series 
of working papers covering specific TPM–related 
issues. This process will take a number of months 
and, while no date for a final decision has been 
advised, the TPM remains in the EA’s top 10 list of 
priority market development projects. The EA does 
not expect its second issues paper on this subject 
to be released prior to the second half of 2014 and 
does not expect any changes to the TPM would be 
effective by 1 April 2015.
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Impacts below EBITDAF

Gain on Sale of Assets

In December 2012, Meridian sold its subsidiary 
business Energy for Industry Limited to Pioneer 
Generation Limited, resulting in a gain on sale 
before tax (net of sale costs) of $5.9 million.

On 28 June 2013, Meridian also sold its interest in 
the Macarthur wind farm in Victoria, Australia to 
Malakoff Corporation Berhad, a Malaysian power 
generator and retailer, resulting in a gain on sale  
of $101.4 million before tax (net of sale costs). 

Fair Value Movements

Meridian uses financial derivatives to manage 
hydrology, electricity price, currency and interest 
rate risks. These derivatives are valued at each 
reporting period, with the majority of the non–cash 
fair value movements recorded within Meridian’s 
NPAT. Fair value movements in FY2013 resulted 
in a net positive unrealised fair value movement 
of $93.8 million. This was predominantly due to 
upward movement in interest rate swap curves 
combined with a softening of the forward electricity 
price curve, and represented an increase of 
$40.5 million on last year, which was impacted by 
downward movements in interest rate swap curves.

Impairments

Impairments of $24.8 million were recognised this 
year, reflecting the continuing rationalisation of 
Meridian’s development portfolio and divestment 
from non–core investments. Impairments primarily 
related to the suspended North Bank Tunnel 
development project and further impairment of 
the Meridian Energy USA business, which is being 
prepared for sale.

Finance Costs 

Net finance costs have increased by $31.0 million 
from FY2012, driven by interest costs relating to 
the Macarthur wind farm development, which was 
fully commissioned in January 2013. During the 
construction phase of this project, finance costs 
were capitalised in line with accounting standards.

Development Pipeline

Meridian continued to rationalise its generation 
development pipeline in response to market 
conditions, with a view to focusing on smaller, 
flexible options. While this has resulted in a 
number of organisational changes to Meridian’s 
development team, the key development capability 
has been retained.

During the year Meridian put the North Bank 
Hydro project on hold. Given the company’s 
view of the market for the short to medium term, 
Meridian will not continue to advance a project  
of this size and significance at this time.

On–site works began in July 2012 on the 60MW  
Mill Creek wind farm development near Wellington. 
Once completed in FY2014, Mill Creek will further 
diversify Meridian’s generation.

While it is unlikely that Meridian will commence 
additional development projects in the short to 
medium term, Meridian’s priority development 
options include a number of wind farm 
opportunities. These include a 31–turbine wind 
farm in North Canterbury, for which Meridian 
was granted consent by the Environment Court 
in April 2013. This development would provide 
approximately 255GWh of generation north 
of Christchurch, a region that is subject to 
transmission constraints.

Renewable Development General Manager  
Ken Smales announced his retirement on  
28 August 2013.
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Cash Flows and Funding

The net cash flow from operating activities was 
$416.7 million, an improvement of $94.5 million 
(29%) from FY2012, which was driven by an 
improved operating profit during the financial 
year. Meridian also reported a reduction in net 
cash outflow from investing activities, which was 
due to a reduced capital investment programme, 
and proceeds received from the sale of both the 
Macarthur wind farm and Meridian’s subsidiary, 
Energy for Industry, which enabled debt to  
be repaid. 

Meridian spent $276.7 million on capital  
investment during FY2013, including funds to 
complete the large–scale Macarthur wind farm in 
Australia. Ongoing construction of the Mt. Mercer 
and Mill Creek wind farms is expected to represent 
the majority of capital expenditure in the next  
two years.

Total borrowings at 30 June 2013 were $1,180.2 
million, $645.4 million lower than the position 
at 30 June 2012, with funds repaid in line with 
the improved cash flow position during the year, 
including sale proceeds. Net debt at 30 June 2013 
was $794.7 million, a reduction of $813.0 million 
from 30 June 2012 reflecting the impacts from the 
sale of the Macarthur wind farm.

At 30 June 2013 a revaluation of generation assets 
was undertaken by an independent expert. The 
valuation assessed future maintainable earnings, 
asset performance and comparable company 
performance. The revaluation resulted in a 
decrease of $476.2 million (gross of deferred tax), 
primarily driven by the renegotiated agreement 
with NZAS impacting future maintainable earnings. 
This decrease reversed previous upward valuations 
held in the revaluation reserve. 

Meridian continued to maintain a strong balance 
sheet with net assets of $4,688.0 million and also 
maintained its BBB+ credit rating from Standard 
and Poor’s (outlook stable).

MERIDIAN GROUP SUMMARY CASH FLOW  
($ Millions)

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities  416.7  322.2  368.7  451.8  313.5

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities  (124.1)  (524.8)  557.7  (458.4)  (476.8)

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities  (101.3)  48.8  (612.0)  13.1  139.4

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents  191.3  (153.8)  314.4  6.5  (23.9)

MERIDIAN GROUP FINANCIAL MEASURES

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Equity to Total Assets – SCI* Measure 60.6% 55.5% 58.3% 58.2% 59.7%

Return on Average Equity 6.2% 1.5% 6.1% 3.9% 2.1%

Underlying Return on Average Equity  
(excl. Revaluation Reserves) 10.8% 7.2% 15.0% 17.2% 12.6%

EBITDAF per MWh Generated ($ per MWh) – SCI Measure $46.78 $42.62 $47.74 $46.25 $41.87

Net Debt/(Net Debt plus Equity) Gearing – SCI Measure** 14.5% 25.0% 19.3% 22.4% 20.9%

Funds from Operations Interest Cover (# of Times)  
– SCI Measure 4.7 5.0 4.9 5.7 5.4

EBITDAF Interest Cover (# of Times)** 5.4 5.8 5.9 6.7 5.9

	
*		  Statement of Corporate Intent.

**		 These ratios may differ from those presented in note 26 of the notes to the financial statements as those ratios meet the specific 
definitions in the trust deed covering the Guaranteeing Group’s externally imposed capital requirements.

MERIDIAN GROUP SUMMARY FINANCIAL POSITION  
($ MILLIONS)

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Current Assets 766.1 570.8 627.2 271.6 266.9

Non–Current Assets 6,971.3 8,122.0 7,832.8 8,444.0 6,910.4

Total Assets 7,737.4 8,692.8 8,460.0 8,715.6 7,177.3

Current Liabilities 520.5 593.4 569.7 557.0 356.8

Non–Current Liabilities 2,528.9 3,273.7 2,959.0 3,087.9 2,536.4

Equity 4,688.0 4,825.7 4,931.3 5,070.7 4,284.1

Total Equity and Liabilities 7,737.4 8,692.8 8,460.0 8,715.6 7,177.3
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Dividends

Dividends paid during the year were $99.8 million. 
These related to this financial year’s interim 
dividend, with no final dividend paid in relation  
to FY2012. A final dividend of $152.6 million  
was declared for payment in respect of FY2013, 
taking total dividends declared in the year to 
$252.4 million. The final dividend will be paid  
by 30 September 2013.
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West Wind Farm 

The 62 wind turbines at the West Wind Farm generate enough 
electricity each year for about 71,000 average New Zealand homes.
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The continued development, engagement and safety  
and health of its people is integral to Meridian’s success 

Meridian’s 
People

In the year to 30 June 2013, Meridian’s engagement and capability–building 
initiatives contributed to a 2.9% improvement in overall employee 

engagement results. The Company also began developing a Diversity  
and Inclusion Policy in order to enhance Meridian’s business performance  

and create opportunities to access a larger talent pool. 

It’s now two years since a lost–time injury has been recorded at Meridian, 
which is a testament to the company’s continued focus on ensuring that 

safety and health is a key part of all its decisions and operations.
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Safety and Health 

Meridian’s top priority is the safety and health in its 
workplaces and of its employees and contractors. 

In the year to 30 June 2013, Meridian recorded 
no lost–time injuries across its permanent and 
contractor workforce, which is well below the 
industry average.

A number of programmes are in place to ensure 
that Meridian’s high standard of safety and 
health is maintained. The company continues to 
support an industry sector safety forum called 
StayLive, which strives to improve safety and 
health standards and performance across the 
industry. Meridian is also committed to ongoing 
training and monitoring initiatives that help to 
improve awareness and processes for all in–house 
and contracted staff. An example of this is the 
employee–driven safety culture initiative, called 
the Safety Climate Project, which identifies safety 
improvement opportunities for staff working in 
hydro and wind maintenance. Based on workshops 
and surveys conducted in the last six months of 
this programme, Meridian has noted a modest but 
consistent improvement in compliance and safety, 
and behavioural changes. 

In July 2012 the Meridian Board established a new 
sub–committee to provide governance and oversight 
on all matters related to safety and health. 

Employee Engagement  
and Development 

Meridian considers the engagement and 
development of its people to be integral to 
the company’s success. In order to grow 
capability, permanent employees have individual 
development plans and objectives that are 
reviewed annually. These development plans and 
objectives are closely aligned with the company’s 
strategy to ensure a strong connection between 
the goals of individuals and those of the company. 

Meridian’s engagement and capability–building 
initiatives contributed to a 2.9% improvement in 
overall employee engagement results for the Parent 
company – now 78.9%. The results came from the 
company’s annual engagement survey, facilitated 
by Kenexa, which is designed to capture and 
measure the level of employee engagement. This 
year 89.6% of employees participated, a slightly 
higher response rate than in the previous year. 
Both the response rate and the engagement level 
achieved compared favourably with the Kenexa 
Best Places to Work benchmarks. 

Diversity Policy 

Meridian believes that developing diversity 
and inclusivity in the workforce is a strategic 
necessity for the company. A balance of gender, 
age and ethnicity enhances Meridian’s business 
performance and creates opportunities to access  
a larger talent pool. 

The development of a Diversity and Inclusion 
Policy, which began during this reporting period, 
aims to operate under the following principles: 

•	 a diverse workforce that is more representative 
of the countries, communities and customer  
and stakeholder groups in which Meridian 
operates; and

•	 an inclusive culture and work environment  
that identifies and addresses specific needs  
of different groups.

To achieve these outcomes, Meridian’s Board 
and management have established measurable 
objectives for increasing the representation of 
women in its senior leadership pool, and aim to 
increase the ethnic diversity of the company’s front 
line customer service roles. Progress against these 
objectives will be assessed on an annual basis by 
the Board. 

As part of the development of this policy, Meridian 
has identified diversity champions who act as 
leaders and influencers throughout the business 
and help implement diversity initiatives. One area 
of particular focus for Meridian is gender balance. 
As at 30 June 2013, 43% of all Group employees 
were females, with 32% of the people managers, 
and 33% of the Board, also female. 

Remuneration 

Meridian offers its employees competitive 
remuneration packages that reflect individual 
achievements, responsibilities and performance. 
All permanent employees receive formal 
performance reviews annually. 

Remuneration is made up of a base salary as well as 
KiwiSaver contributions and an at–risk performance 
incentive. Both types of remuneration are dependent 
on the business delivering on its objectives according 
to the Business Plan. The awarding of at–risk 
incentives requires a minimum level of company 
financial performance to be achieved. 

Chief Executive Remuneration

During the financial year, Meridian’s Chief Executive 
Mark Binns received total cash remuneration of 
$1,092,000. This comprised fixed remuneration and 
KiwiSaver contributions. There was no short-term 
incentive paid in the year.
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Financial Year Ended 30 June

Meridian Group Employees (Full–time equivalents)

2013 2012

GROUP PARENT GROUP PARENT

Permanent 771 559 717 514

Fixed Term 56 41 58 46

Total Employees 827 600 775 560

15+

11-15

3-4

1-2

<1

5-6

7-8

9-10

0 10 20 3530

MeRidian GROUp eMplOyees – lenGth Of seRvice

Financial Year Ended 30 June

%

2013 2012

5 15 25

YE
AR

S 
o

F 
SE

RV
IC

E

Group Employee Remuneration 

The total number of employees of Meridian Energy 
Limited and its subsidiaries (not including Directors 
and the Group Chief Executive) who during the year 
ended 30 June 2013 received cash remuneration 
and other benefits (including at–risk performance 
incentives and KiwiSaver contributions) exceeding 
$100,000 is outlined in the table below. 

Group Employee Remuneration

Year to 30 June 2013

BAND TOTAL GROUP

100,000 – 109,999 68

110,000 – 119,999 41

120,000 – 129,999 31

130,000 – 139,999 28

140,000 – 149,999 24

150,000 – 159,999 19

160,000 – 169,999 17

170,000 – 179,999 18

180,000 – 189,999 6

190,000 – 199,999 7

200,000 – 209,999 6

210,000 – 219,999 5

220,000 – 229,999 8

230,000 – 239,999 3

240,000 – 249,999 3

250,000 – 259,999 1

260,000 – 269,999 3

270,000 – 279,999 1

280,000 – 289,999 1

290,000 – 299,999 3

300,000 – 309,999 1

310,000 – 319,999 2

330,000 – 339,999 1

340,000 – 349,999 1

390,000 – 399,999 1

430,000 – 439,999 2

500,000 – 509,999 1

540,000 – 549,999 1

570,000 – 579,999 1

620,000 – 629,000 1

700,000 – 709,999 1

306
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Benmore Hydro Power Station Machine Hall 

Benmore generates enough electricity each year for about 247,000 average New Zealand homes.
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Meridian’s Board is committed to leading the company  
through corporate governance best practice

Meridian operates in accordance with its constitution, its statutory 
obligations (such as the Companies Act 1993, the State–Owned 

Enterprises Act 1986 and the Official Information Act 1982) and its owner’s 
expectations as set out by the Crown Ownership Monitoring Unit.

Governance
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Role of the Board

On behalf of the Shareholding Ministers, the Board’s 
primary role is to provide strategic guidance and 
effective oversight of Meridian’s operations with 
a view to adding long–term value to the company. 
Consistent with the State–Owned Enterprises Act 
1986, Meridian’s principal objective is to operate as 
a successful company that is:

•	 as profitable and efficient as a comparable 
business not owned by the Crown;

•	 a good employer; and

•	 an organisation that exhibits a sense of social 
responsibility by having regard to the interests 
of the communities in which it operates and by 
endeavouring to accommodate or encourage 
those interests when able to do so.

Board Composition

The Board is appointed by Shareholding Ministers 
and currently comprises nine independent  
non–executive Directors, including the Chair.

Board Meetings

The Board will normally hold up to eight scheduled 
meetings per year. In addition, the Board meets 
whenever necessary between the scheduled 
meetings for discussions on key strategic issues 
and urgent business. In particular, within the 
financial year the Board held extra meetings in 
order to fulfil its responsibilities relating to the 
proposed Government Share Offer in respect 
of Meridian and the resolution of the new NZAS 
agreement for Tiwai Point.

Board Committees

The Board may from time to time establish 
appropriate committees to assist it by focusing  
on specific responsibilities in greater detail than is 
possible for the Board as a whole, reporting to the 
Board and making any necessary recommendations. 
All Directors are provided with copies of minutes 
and papers received by the committees.

Other committees may be formed from time to time.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee’s role is to assist 
the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in all 
matters related to risk management and the 
financial accounting and reporting of Meridian. 
The Audit and Risk Committee is also responsible 
for making recommendations to the Board 
concerning the appointment of Meridian’s  
internal and external auditors.

The Audit and Risk Committee members are:

•	 Jan Dawson (Chair);

•	 Mark Cairns;

•	 Chris Moller; and

•	 Peter Wilson.

Remuneration and Human Resources 
Committee

The Remuneration and Human Resources 
Committee’s role is to assist the Board in 
all matters related to human resources and 
remuneration, including setting the principles  
and standards for remuneration structure  
and practice and the human resources policy.

The Remuneration and Human Resources 
Committee members are:

•	 Mary Devine (Chair);

•	 John Bongard; and

•	 Anake Goodall.

Safety and Sustainability Committee

The Safety and Sustainability Committee’s role  
is to assist the Board in all matters related to 
safety and sustainability, including ensuring that 
Meridian has effective sustainability initiatives  
and a robust safety framework that supports  
a zero harm culture.

The Safety and Sustainability Committee  
members are:

•	 Stephen Reindler (Chair); and

•	 Sally Farrier.

Board Meeting Attendance

SCHEDULED 
BOARD 

MEETINGS

AD-HOC 
SPECIFIC 

ISSUE 
MEETINGS

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Remuneration 
and Human 
Resources 
Committee

Safety and 
Sustainability 

Committee

Number of meetings 8 15 6 6 5

Chris Moller (chair) 8 15 6

Peter Wilson (deputy chair) 8 15 6

John Bongard 8 11 3

Mark Cairns (Appointed 18/07/12) 8 8 3

Jan Dawson (Appointed 1/11/12) 4 6 (chair) 3

Mary Devine 8 15 (chair) 6

Sally Farrier (Appointed 18/07/12) 8 14 5

Anake Goodall 8 15 6

Stephen Reindler 8 15 (chair) 5

Governance Framework

The company’s governance framework is designed 
to ensure that the company is effectively managed 
and statutory obligations are met.

The Board monitors developments in the governance 
area and updates its governance practices to 
ensure that Meridian continues to maintain the most 
appropriate standards of governance.

The Chief Executive is charged with the day–to–day 
leadership and management of Meridian.  
All authority conferred on management is delegated 
by the Board through the Chief Executive. The Board 
agrees to the levels of delegated authority for those 
who report directly to the Chief Executive and 
throughout the company.

Board Performance Review

The Board conducts a self–evaluation each year. 
Board evaluation surveys are undertaken to seek 
Director feedback on a range of matters relating  
to Board performance, including its role, 
procedures, practices and administration.  
The process also includes one–on–one meetings 
between the Chairman and each Director. 

The collective results of the evaluation are reported 
to the Board and key learnings are summarised and 
reported to the Crown Ownership Monitoring Unit.

Planning

As a part of the Board’s annual programme of work 
the Board held strategic planning sessions and 
approved the company’s Business Plan. 
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Risk Management  
and Compliance

Risk management is ingrained in strategic and 
operational activities, including business planning, 
investment analysis, portfolio and project 
management and day–to–day operations. 

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring 
that management’s risk management framework, 
including policies and procedures, is appropriate 
and that it appropriately identifies, considers and 
manage risks.

Compliance with the many legal, regulatory and 
electricity industry requirements is also a priority 
for the Board, with management providing regular 
compliance reports to the Board.

External Audit Independence

The Board has adopted a strict policy to maintain 
the independence of the company’s external 
auditor, including recommending to the Office 
of the Auditor–General that there be lead audit 
partner rotation after a maximum of every six years.

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible 
for making recommendations to the Board 
concerning the appointment of Meridian’s 
external auditor and their terms of engagement. 
Under section 29 of the Public Finance Act 1989, 
the Auditor–General has appointed Michael 
Wilkes of Deloitte to audit Meridian.

Internal Audit

Internal audit of Meridian provides independent 
assurance to the Board and management that 
key risks are being adequately managed and the 
company’s internal control framework is  
operating effectively.

Meridian’s internal audit function is provided via 
an outsourced arrangement with Ernst & Young, 
managed by Meridian’s Group Financial Controller. 
Ernst & Young was appointed as Meridian’s internal 
auditor in 2008.

Statement of Corporate  
Intent (SCI)

In accordance with the State–Owned Enterprises 
Act 1986, the SCI includes the objectives of the 
Group, the nature and scope of activities, and 
the key financial and non–financial performance 
targets and measures for the company.

The Shareholding Ministers make comments on the 
SCI. The Board then considers these comments and 
delivers a final SCI to Shareholding Ministers on or 
before the start of the financial year, or a later date 
as Shareholding Ministers have determined. 

Indemnities and Insurance

As permitted by Meridian’s constitution, deeds 
of indemnity have been given to Directors for 
potential liabilities and costs they might incur for 
actions or omissions in their capacity as Directors.

From 1 May 2013, Meridian’s Directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance was renewed to cover risks 
normally covered by such policies. Insurance is not 
provided for dishonest, fraudulent, malicious or 
wilful acts or omissions.

Use of Company Information

No notices were received by the Board requesting 
to use company information received in their 
capacity as Directors that would not otherwise 
have been available to them.

Whistleblowing  
‘Speaking Up’ Policy

Meridian has a strong commitment to ensuring  
that all its business activities are carried out in  
a way that is both ethical and compliant.  
The Whistleblowing ‘Speaking Up’ Policy sets  
out the process for reporting serious wrongdoing  
in the organisation. 

Disclosures can be made to the Chief Executive  
and other designated staff. 

Political Donations

Meridian does not make donations to  
political parties.

Statutory Information

Statutory information is available in the  
financial statements.
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West Wind Farm 

West Wind uses one of Wellington’s most renowned natural resources – wind.
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MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED GROUP PARENT

NOTE
2013

$M
2012

$M
2013

$M
2012

$M

Operating Revenue 

Energy Sales Revenue 2,681.5 2,542.9 2,515.9 2,398.7

Energy Related Services Revenue 13.3 11.1 2.5 3.4

Dividends Received 0.1 0.2 0.4 2.1

Other Revenue 16.3 16.0 15.1 12.1

Total Operating Revenue 2,711.2 2,570.2 2,533.9 2,416.3

Operating Expenses 

Energy Related Expenses (1,361.5) (1,375.5) (1,309.5) (1,315.2)

Energy Distribution Expenses (404.2) (404.2) (359.3) (370.0)

Energy Transmission Expenses (115.3) (86.7) (113.2) (84.7)

Employee Expenses 3 (88.6) (79.6) (65.7) (57.0)

Other Operating Expenses 3 (156.8) (147.6) (142.8) (133.0)

(2,126.4) (2,093.6) (1,990.5) (1,959.9)

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation, Change in  
Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Other Significant Items (EBITDAF) 584.8 476.6 543.4 456.4

Impairment of Assets 4 (24.8) (60.1) (21.1) (93.9)

Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Assets 5 106.6 (1.5) 8.6 (1.0)

Equity Accounted Earnings of Joint Ventures 19 0.1 (2.7) - -

Amortisation of Intangible Assets 21 (18.5) (22.2) (17.3) (18.0)

Depreciation 22 (201.2) (202.9) (181.6) (182.1)

Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments Gain (Operational) 27 51.1 121.3 49.7 124.4

Operating Profit 498.1 308.5 381.7 285.8

Finance Costs and Other Finance Related Income/(Expenses)

Finance Costs 6 (115.1) (90.2) (79.8) (89.9)

Interest Income 7 1.6 7.7 29.6 23.9

Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments Gain/(Loss) (Financing) 27 42.7 (68.0) 42.5 (61.3)

Profit Before Tax 427.3 158.0 374.0 158.5

Income Tax Expense 8 (132.2) (83.4) (120.5) (87.7)

Profit After Tax 295.1 74.6 253.5 70.8

Profit After Tax Attributable to: 

Shareholders of the Parent Company 295.1 74.9 253.5 70.8

Non Controlling Interest - (0.3) - -

295.1 74.6 253.5 70.8

Earnings per Share from operations attributable  
to equity holders of the Company during the year:

Basic Earnings per Share ($) 9 0.18 0.05

Diluted Earnings per Share ($) 9 0.18 0.05

Income Statement  for the year ended 30 June 2013
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MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED GROUP PARENT

NOTE
2013

$M
2012

$M
2013

$M
2012

$M

Profit After Tax for the Year 295.1 74.6 253.5 70.8

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified to Profit or Loss:

Buy out of Whisper Tech Limited Minority Shareholders - (1.0) - -

Reversal of Asset Revaluation 22 (476.2) - (476.2) -

Tax relating to items that will not be reclassified:

Deferred Tax on Asset Revaluation Reserve 24 133.3 4.3 133.3 4.3

(342.9) 3.3 (342.9) 4.3

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to Profit or Loss:

Net Gain/(Loss) on Available for Sale Investments 20 2.3 (0.3) 2.3 (0.3)

Net Gain/(Loss) on Cash Flow Hedges 28.3 (59.5) (2.9) 3.7

Exchange Differences Arising from Translation of Foreign Operations (11.5) (1.0) - -

Income Tax relating to items that may be reclassified 24 (9.2) 18.0 0.1 (1.0)

9.9 (42.8) (0.5) 2.4

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year Net of Tax (333.0) (39.5) (343.4) 6.7

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year Net of Tax (37.9) 35.1 (89.9) 77.5

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year Attributable to: 

Shareholders of the Parent Company (37.9) 35.4 (89.9) 77.5

Non Controlling Interest - (0.3) - -

(37.9) 35.1 (89.9) 77.5

Statement of Comprehensive Income  for the year ended 30 June 2013
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MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED GROUP PARENT

NOTE
2013

$M
2012

$M
2013

$M
2012

$M

 Shareholders’ Equity 

 Share Capital 10 1,600.0 1,600.0 1,600.0 1,600.0

 Reserves 3,088.0 3,225.7 2,991.4 3,181.1

 Total Equity 4,688.0 4,825.7 4,591.4 4,781.1

 Represented by: 

 Current Assets 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents 12 382.8 214.4 64.8 86.4

 Accounts Receivable and Prepayments 13 261.9 298.1 181.4 276.7

 Inventories 14 4.3 4.5 4.3 3.7

 Other Assets 15 0.6 0.2 0.1 0.1

 Finance Lease Receivable 16 0.2 0.6 0.2 0.6

 Assets Classified as Held for Sale 17 64.8 29.4 40.8 1.7

 Derivative Financial Instruments 27 51.5 23.6 51.8 23.7

 Total Current Assets 766.1 570.8 343.4 392.9

 Non-Current Assets 

 Finance Lease Receivable 16 0.6 4.8 0.6 4.8

 Investments in Subsidiaries 18 - - 176.4 207.6

 Equity Accounted Joint Ventures 19 - 3.8 - -

 Available for Sale Investments 20 - 3.6 - 3.6

 Intangible Assets 21 54.8 26.8 48.7 20.6

 Property, Plant and Equipment 22 6,769.0 7,963.6 6,440.7 7,112.7

 Deferred Tax Asset 24 12.7 8.4 - -

 Derivative Financial Instruments 27 134.2 111.0 132.5 111.0

 Advances to Subsidiaries 29 - - 412.0 392.9

 Total Non-Current Assets 6,971.3 8,122.0 7,210.9 7,853.2

 Total Assets 7,737.4 8,692.8 7,554.3 8,246.1

 Current Liabilities 

 Liabilities Classified as Held for Sale 17 2.7 0.8 0.7 -

 Payables and Accruals 23 274.7 286.1 184.4 259.5

 Provisions 0.1 - - -

 Current Tax Payable 51.3 6.0 21.0 5.8

 Current Portion of Term Borrowings 25 146.7 247.9 147.0 113.2

 Derivative Financial Instruments 27 45.0 52.6 53.2 51.0

 Advances from Subsidiaries 29 - - 229.0 228.5

 Total Current Liabilities 520.5 593.4 635.3 658.0

 Non-Current Liabilities 

 Deferred Tax Liability 24 1,364.2 1,444.2 1,354.4 1,448.3

 Term Borrowings 25 1,033.5 1,577.7 843.6 1,175.1

 Term Payables 6.7 22.8 6.7 22.8

 Derivative Financial Instruments 27 124.5 229.0 122.9 160.8

 Total Non-Current Liabilities 2,528.9 3,273.7 2,327.6 2,807.0

 Total Liabilities 3,049.4 3,867.1 2,962.9 3,465.0

 Net Assets 4,688.0 4,825.7 4,591.4 4,781.1

The Directors of Meridian Energy Limited authorise these financial statements for issue on behalf of the Board.

Chris Moller						      Jan Dawson 
Chairman, 11 August 2013					     Chair of Audit and Risk Committee, 11 August 2013

Statement of Financial Position  as at 30 June 2013
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Balance at 1 July 2012 1,600.0 3,418.0 (1.7) (41.8) - (148.8) 4,825.7

Profit for the Year - - - - - 295.1 295.1

Reversal of Asset Revaluation - (476.2) - - - - (476.2)

Cash Flow Hedges:

Net Gain Taken to Equity - - - 28.3 - - 28.3

Available for Sale Reserve:

Net Gain Taken to Equity - - - - 2.3 - 2.3

Transfer Cash Flow Hedge Reserve to Retained Earnings  
on Sale of Subsidiary - - - 44.2 - (44.2) -

Exchange Differences Arising from Translation of Foreign Operations - - (11.5) - - - (11.5)

Asset Revaluation Reserve Transferred to Retained Earnings - (1.6) - - - 1.6 -

Deferred Tax on Revaluation Reserve - 133.7 - - - (0.4) 133.3

Income Tax Relating to Other Comprehensive Income - - - (21.8) (0.7) 13.3 (9.2)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - (344.1) (11.5) 50.7 1.6 265.4 (37.9)

Dividends Paid - - - - - (99.8) (99.8)

Balance at 30 June 2013 1,600.0 3,073.9 (13.2) 8.9 1.6 16.8 4,688.0

MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED GROUP

Sh
ar

e
Ca

pi
ta

l
$m Re

va
lu

at
io

n
Re

se
rv

e
$m For

e
ig

n
Curr


en

cy
Tr

an
sl

at
io

n
Re

se
rv

e 
$m

Ca
sh

 F
low


H

ed
g

e
Re

se
rv

e 
$m

Av
ai

la
bl

e
for

 
Sa

le
Re

se
rv

e 
$m

Re
ta

in
ed

Ea
rn

in
g

s
$m To

ta
l 

Eq
u

it
y

At
tr

ibu


ta
bl

e 
to

Sh
ar

eh
o

ld
er

s
o

f 
th

e 
Pa

re
n

t 
$m

Sh
ar

e
O

pt
io

n
s

Ve
st

ed
$m No


n

Co
n

tro


ll
in

g
In

te
re

st
$m To

ta
l

$m

Balance at 1 July 2011 1,600.0 3,392.5 (0.7) (0.2) 0.2 (61.4) 4,930.4 1.0 (0.1) 4,931.3

Profit for the Year - - - - - 74.9 74.9 - (0.3) 74.6

Cash Flow Hedges:

Net Loss Taken to Equity - - - (59.5) - - (59.5) - - (59.5)

Available for Sale Reserve:

Net Loss Taken to Equity - - - - (0.3) - (0.3) - - (0.3)

Buy out of Whisper Tech Limited 
Minority Shareholders - - - - - (0.4) (0.4) (1.0) 0.4 (1.0)

Exchange Differences Arising from 
Translation of Foreign Operations - - (1.0) - - - (1.0) - - (1.0)

Revaluation Reserve Transferred to 
Retained Earnings - 21.3 - - - (21.3) - - - -

Deferred Tax on Revaluation Reserve - 4.3 - - - - 4.3 - - 4.3

Income Tax Relating to Other 
Comprehensive Income - (0.1) - 17.9 0.1 0.1 18.0 - - 18.0

Total Comprehensive Income  
for the Year

- 25.5 (1.0) (41.6) (0.2) 53.3 36.0 (1.0) 0.1 35.1

Dividends Paid - - - - - (140.7) (140.7) - - (140.7)

Balance at 30 June 2012 1,600.0 3,418.0 (1.7) (41.8) - (148.8) 4,825.7 - - 4,825.7

Statement of Changes in Equity  for the year ended 30 June 2013
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MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED parent
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Balance at 1 July 2012 1,600.0 3,412.8 2.4 - (234.1) 4,781.1

Profit for the Year - - - - 253.5 253.5

Reversal of Asset Revaluation - (476.2) - - - (476.2)

Cash Flow Hedges:

Net Loss Taken to Equity - - (2.9) - - (2.9)

Available for Sale Reserve:

Net Gain Taken to Equity - - - 2.3 - 2.3

Revaluation Reserve Transferred to Retained Earnings - (1.6) - - 1.6 -

Deferred Tax on Revaluation Reserve - 133.7 - - (0.4) 133.3

Income Tax Relating to Other Comprehensive Income - - 0.8 (0.7) - 0.1

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - (344.1) (2.1) 1.6 254.7 (89.9)

Dividends Paid - - - - (99.8) (99.8)

Balance at 30 June 2013 1,600.0 3,068.7 0.3 1.6 (79.2) 4,591.4

MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED parent
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Balance at 1 July 2011 1,600.0 3,387.3 (0.2) 0.2 (143.0) 4,844.3

Profit for the Year - - - - 70.8 70.8

Cash Flow Hedges:

Net Gain Taken to Equity - - 3.7 - - 3.7

Available for Sale Reserve:

Net Loss Taken to Equity - - - (0.3) - (0.3)

Asset Revaluation Reserve Transferred to Retained Earnings - 21.3 - - (21.3) -

Deferred Tax on Asset Revaluation Reserve - 4.3 - - - 4.3

Income Tax Relating to Other Comprehensive Income - (0.1) (1.1) 0.1 0.1 (1.0)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - 25.5 2.6 (0.2) 49.6 77.5

Dividends Paid - - - - (140.7) (140.7)

Balance at 30 June 2012 1,600.0 3,412.8 2.4 - (234.1) 4,781.1

Statement of Changes in Equity  for the year ended 30 June 2013
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MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED GROUP PARENT

NOTE
2013

$M
2012

$M
2013

$M
2012

$M

Operating Activities

Cash was Provided from:

Receipts from Customers 2,390.0 2,514.8 2,219.1 2,365.9

Interest Received 2.0 7.7 0.7 1.8

Dividends Received 0.1 0.2 0.3 2.1

2,392.1 2,522.7 2,220.1 2,369.8

Cash was Applied to:

Payments to Suppliers and Employees (1,811.8) (2,048.9) (1,686.4) (1,912.7)

Interest Paid (106.5) (91.2) (77.3) (87.5)

Income Tax Paid (57.1) (60.4) (56.7) (60.3)

(1,975.4) (2,200.5) (1,820.4) (2,060.5)

Net Cash Inflows from Operating Activities 416.7 322.2 399.7 309.3

Investing Activities

Cash was Provided from:

Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 0.6 3.2 0.5 0.8

Finance Lease Receivable - 0.6 - 0.6

Repayment of Advances to Subsidiaries - - 1.7 2.3

Sale of Subsidiaries 151.2 - 56.3 -

Sale of Investments 0.8 - 0.8 -

152.6 3.8 59.3 3.7

Cash was Applied to:

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (244.8) (510.4) (44.1) (59.3)

Capitalised Interest (5.7) (6.5) (1.9) -

Advances to Subsidiaries - - (2.3) (106.4)

Investment in Subsidiaries - - (15.3) (18.8)

Purchase of Intangible Assets (25.9) (8.3) (23.1) (7.6)

Purchase of Investments (0.3) (3.4) - -

(276.7) (528.6) (86.7) (192.1)

Net Cash Outflows from Investing Activities (124.1) (524.8) (27.4) (188.4)

Financing Activities

Cash was Provided from:

Advances from Subsidiaries - - 7.1 8.7

Proceeds from Borrowings 1,115.9 943.4 309.5 551.7

1,115.9 943.4 316.6 560.4

Cash was Applied to:

Repayment of Advances from Subsidiaries - - (6.9) (8.8)

Dividends Paid 11 (99.8) (140.7) (99.8) (140.7)

Term Borrowings Paid (1,117.4) (753.9) (603.8) (702.0)

(1,217.2) (894.6) (710.5) (851.5)

Net Cash (Outflows)/Inflows from Financing Activities (101.3) 48.8 (393.9) (291.1)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 191.3 (153.8) (21.6) (170.2)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 214.4 368.2 86.4 256.6

Cash Removed on Sale of Subsidiaries (14.1) - - -

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Net Cash (8.8) - - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 12 382.8 214.4 64.8 86.4

Statement of Cash Flows  for the year ended 30 June 2013
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MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED GROUP PARENT

Reconciliation of Profit after Tax for the Year  
to Cash Flows from Operating Activities	 NOTE

2013
$M

2012
$M

2013
$M

2012
$M

Profit after Tax for the Year 295.1 74.6 253.5 70.8

Adjustments for Operating Activities Non-Cash Items:

Amortisation of Intangible Assets 21 18.5 22.2 17.3 18.0

Depreciation 22 201.2 202.9 181.6 182.1

Movement in Deferred Tax 24 40.3 53.7 39.5 51.9

Total Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments 27 (93.8) (53.3) (92.2) (63.1)

Cash Payments of Option Premiums (20.4) (18.1) (20.5) (17.9)

Net Non Cash Movement in Fair Value of Financial Instruments (114.2) (71.4) (112.7) (81.0)

Transfer of Tax Losses to Parent - - 8.7 6.9

Share Based Payments - (1.0) - -

Equity Accounted Earnings of Joint Ventures 19 (0.1) 2.7 - -

Finance Costs 10.5 (3.7) (27.5) (22.2)

 156.2 205.4 106.9 155.7

Items Classified as Investing Activities:

Impairment of Other Assets 4 24.8 60.1 21.1 93.9

Finance Lease Interest - (0.5) - (0.5)

Loss/(Gain) on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 5 0.2 1.1 (0.3) 1.0

Gain on Sale of Subsidiaries (107.3) - (8.8) -

Loss/(Gain) on Sale of Investments - 0.4 - (0.1)

(82.3) 61.1 12.0 94.3

Items Classified as Financing Activities:

Amortisation of Prepaid Debt Facility Fees (2.3) 1.8 0.3 1.8

(2.3) 1.8 0.3 1.8

Changes in Working Capital Items

Decrease/(Increase) in Accounts Receivable and Prepayments 36.2 (57.2) 95.3 (50.6)

Decrease/(Increase) in Inventory 0.2 (1.3) (0.6) (1.4)

Increase in Other Assets (0.4) - - -

(Decrease)/Increase in Payables and Accruals (29.0) 68.3 (83.1) 69.5

Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 0.1 (0.1) - -

Increase/(Decrease) in Current Tax Payable 45.3 (30.6) 15.2 (31.4)

Working Capital Items transferred to Held for Sale - 0.2 0.4 -

Working Capital Items transferred to Available for Sale (0.2) - (0.2) -

Working Capital Disposed on ARC Innovations Limited Establishment  
as a Subsidiary

- - - 0.6

Working Capital items on sale of Subsidiaries (2.2) - - -

50.0 (20.7) 27.0 (13.3)

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 416.7 322.2 399.7 309.3

Statement of Cash Flows  for the year ended 30 June 2013



MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2013

PG 39

Contents

1	 Summary of Accounting Policies

2	 Segment Reporting

3	O perating Expenses

4	 Impairment of Assets

5	G ain/(Loss) on Sale of Assets

6	 Finance Costs

7	 Interest Income

8	 Income Tax Expense

9	 Earnings per Share

10	 Equity

11	 Dividends

12	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

13	 Accounts Receivable and Prepayments

14	 Inventories

15	O ther Assets

16	 Finance Lease Receivable

17	 Assets and Liabilities Classified  
as Held for Sale

18	 Investments in Subsidiaries

19	 Joint Ventures

20	 Available for Sale Investments

21	 Intangible Assets

22	 Property, Plant and Equipment

23	 Payables and Accruals

24	 Deferred Tax

25	 Borrowings

26	 Financial Risk Management

27	 Financial Instruments

28	 Commitments

29	 Related Party Transactions

30	 Subsequent Events

31	 Contingent Assets and Liabilities

1.  Summary of Accounting Policies

Standard/Interpretation

Effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning 

on or after

Amendments to NZ IAS 12 Income Taxes – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 1 January 2012

Amendments to NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 1 July 2012

The adoption of these standards does not have an impact on the reported results or financial position of Meridian.

Reporting Entity  
and Statement of Compliance

Meridian Energy Limited is a profit-oriented  
entity domiciled in New Zealand, registered  
under the Companies Act 1993 and an issuer  
for the purposes of the Financial Reporting  
Act 1993. The registered office of the Company is  
33 Customhouse Quay, Wellington. The shares in 
Meridian Energy Limited are held in equal numbers 
by the Minister for State-Owned Enterprises and 
the Minister of Finance, on behalf of Her Majesty 
the Queen in Right of New Zealand (“the Crown”) 
under the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.  
The liabilities of Meridian Energy Limited are  
not guaranteed in any way by the Crown.

Meridian Energy Limited’s core business is  
the generation of electricity (including the 
management of related assets) and the trading 
and retailing of electricity and wider 
complementary products and services.

The consolidated financial statements comprise 
those of Meridian Energy Limited (the “Parent”  
or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together 
referred to as “Meridian” or the “Group”).

These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in New Zealand. They comply with the 
New Zealand equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
appropriate for a profit-oriented entity and are 
prepared in accordance with the requirements  
of the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

The reporting period for these financial 
statements is the year ended 30 June 2013.

The financial statements were authorised for  
issue by the Directors on 11 August 2013.

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared  
on the basis of historical cost modified by the 
revaluation of certain assets and liabilities as 
identified in the following accounting policies.

These financial statements are presented in  
New Zealand dollars rounded to the nearest 
million ($M). Previously, Meridian’s financial 
statements have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand ($’000). This change in presentation  
is designed to enhance readability for the users.

The accrual basis of accounting has been used 
unless otherwise stated.

The same accounting policies, presentation  
(aside from the rounding) and methods of 
computation have been applied consistently  
to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements except for the additional  
new Standards as listed below. The additional  
new Standards and IFRIC (International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee) 
interpretations are as follows:
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Adoption Status of Relevant Financial Reporting Standards

Meridian has elected not to early adopt the following NZ IFRS that have been issued but are not yet effective for application:

Standard/Interpretation

Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after

Expected to be initially 
applied in the financial 
year ending

NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IAS 19 Employee Benefits (revised 2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (revised 2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised 2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Amendments to NZ IFRS 7 Financial Instruments :Disclosures 
– Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Improvements to IFRS: 2009 – 2011 cycle 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Amendments to NZ IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation  
– Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

1 January 2014 30 June 2015

NZ IFRIC 21 Levies 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2015 30 June 2016

Revised NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2010) 1 January 2015 30 June 2016

Amendments to NZ IFRS 9 and NZ IFRS 7 Mandatory Effective Date and Transition Disclosures 1 January 2015 30 June 2016

Further to the above, NZ IFRS 9 and NZ IFRS 13 are 
anticipated to have the most impact on Meridian’s 
financial statements upon adoption.

NZ IFRS 9 requires all financial assets to be 
measured at fair value, unless the entity’s 
business model is to hold the assets to collect 
contractual cash flows and contractual terms  
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments  
of interest and principal, in which case they are 
measured at amortised cost. This may impact 
 the measurement of certain available for sale 
investments in the financial statements.

NZ IFRS 13 establishes a single framework for  
fair value measurement where required by  
other Standards. Under the new standard the  
fair value of a liability should reflect the effect of 
non-performance risk (including, but not limited 
to, an entity’s own credit risk). It also introduces  
a number of new disclosures. Prior to review,  
it is not possible to state the impact, if any,  
of changes to any measurement techniques 
currently used by the Group.

The financial statement impact of the adoption  
of these standards has not yet been analysed but 
Meridian may early-adopt if it results in a more 
faithful representation of the parent/group.

Significant Accounting Policies

The following significant accounting policies have 
been adopted in the preparation and presentation 
of the financial report:

Judgements and Estimations
The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with NZ IFRS requires judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts  
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.  
The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Actual results may differ  
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions  
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Judgements that have a significant effect on  
the financial statements and estimates with a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the next 
year are in relation to the valuation of generation 
structures, plant assets and energy derivatives.  
In addition, accounting judgements are made  
in respect of the hedge designation and valuation 
of certain financial instruments, assessment of 
hedge effectiveness and determination of useful 
lives of Property, Plant and Equipment.

Fair Value Estimation  
of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities, including derivative instruments, must 
be estimated for recognition and measurement, 
or for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of instruments traded in active 
markets (such as market traded electricity 
futures) is based on closing market prices at 
balance date.

The fair value of instruments that are not traded 
on an active market (Interest Rate Swaps (IRSs), 
Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps (CCIRSs), 
Foreign Exchange Contracts (FECs), Contracts  
for Difference (CfDs)) is determined using various 
valuation techniques which include assumptions 
on both observable data when such data is 
available (IRSs, CCIRSs, FECs, some CfDs) and 
non-observable data (some CfDs) in all other 
instances. The fair value of IRSs, CCIRSs, FECs  
and CfDs is based on the discounted value  
of future cashflows. Assumptions on the 
determination of future cash flows are based  
on the publicly available forecast prices where 
available and internal models when a forecast 
price is not available.

In relation to forecast prices used to determine 
future cash flows for CfDs for non-observable 
periods, the following significant assumptions  
are used where relevant:

•	 Forecast of the forward wholesale electricity 
price for the non-observable period based  
on a fundamental analysis of expected demand 
and cost of new supply
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•	 Forecast of the aluminium price (based on  
the London Metal Exchange (LME)) for the 
non-observable period using a historical trend 
analysis to form future price expectations

•	 Forecast consumer price index or proxy for  
price inflation

Future electricity price estimates are used to 
determine expected cash flows to be settled on 
CfDs. The expected cash flows are then discounted 
to determine a fair value of the CfD. The discount 
rates used are based on Government Bond Rates 
adjusted for additional risks including credit risk 
and the remaining term of the CfD. In relation  
to the NZAS Pricing Agreement, the discount  
rate used is Meridian’s weighted average cost  
of capital (WACC).

The fair value of FECs is determined using forward 
exchange market rates at balance date discounted 
to present value. The fair value of currency options 
is determined using appropriate binomial models 
or the Black-Scholes model.

The fair value of financial liabilities in a fair  
value hedge relationship and for the purpose of 
disclosure is estimated by discounting the future 
designated cash flows at current market interest 
rates applicable to the risks being hedged.

The valuations determined for instruments  
not traded on an active market, particularly in 
respect to CfDs can vary significantly based on 
assumptions in relation to the forecast electricity 
price and interest rates. In addition, the fair value 
of the NZAS Pricing Agreement, can also vary 
based on the price of aluminium published on  
the LME. The sensitivity to changes in assumptions 
for level 3 financial instruments is quantified in 
Note 26 – Financial Risk Management.

Property, Plant and Equipment
In determining the fair value of generation 
structures and plant, Meridian applies judgement 
regarding the methodology and key assumptions 
to be used. Meridian also uses judgement to 
determine the estimated remaining useful lives  
of assets. They are as follows:

•	G eneration Structures and Plant – 
Up to 80 years

•	 Freehold Buildings – 
Up to 67 years

•	O ther Plant and Equipment – 
Up to 20 years

•	 Resource Consents	– 
Up to 50 years

The residual value and the useful lives of assets 
are reviewed, and if appropriate adjusted, at each 
balance date. See Note 22 for further details of the 
valuation assumptions used.

Intangible Assets
Meridian has used judgement to determine the 
estimated remaining useful lives of intangible 
assets. They are as follows:

•	 Customer Acquisition Costs – 
Up to 10 years

•	 Computer Software	 – 
Up to 3 years

•	 Patents and Trademarks – 
Up to 20 years

•	 Licence Agreement – 
Up to 10 years

•	O ther Licences – 
Up to 6 years

The residual value and the useful lives of assets 
are reviewed, and if appropriate adjusted, at each 
balance date.

The recoverable amount of goodwill is  
calculated using value in use (the net present 
value of expected future cash flows) of the cash 
generating units or fair value less costs to sell.  
Key assumptions used in the value in use model 
that require Meridian’s estimation and judgement 
include sales forecasts (including volumes and 
pricing), costs and discount rates.

Revenue Recognition
Meridian has exercised judgement in  
determining estimated retail sales for unread 
electricity meters at balance date. Specifically  
this involves an estimate of consumption for  
each unread meter, based on the customer’s  
past consumption history.

Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities controlled directly 
or indirectly by the Company. Control is achieved 
where the Company has the power to govern  
the financial and operating policies of an entity  
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The acquisition method is used to account for  
the purchase of subsidiaries by the Company. 
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed  
of during the year are included in the consolidated 
income statement from the effective date of 
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, 
as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to  
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies into line with those  
used by other members of the Group. All material 
intra-group transactions, balances, income and 
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of 
consolidated subsidiaries are presented in the 
equity section of the consolidated statement  
of financial position, separately from the equity  
of the owners of the parent.

Common Control Amalgamation Transactions
Under a business combination where entities 
under common control are amalgamated,  
the carrying values of the assets and liabilities  
of the entities are combined, with any gain  
or loss on amalgamation recognised in equity.

Joint Ventures
•	 Jointly Controlled Entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the 
establishment of a separate entity in which  
each venturer has an interest where it has 
entitlement to a share of the outcome (profit/
loss) of the activities of the joint venture and 
which are subject to joint control (unanimous 
decision making) by the venturers are referred 
to as jointly controlled entities. Meridian reports 
its interest in jointly controlled entities using the 
equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, investments in  
joint ventures are carried in the consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position at cost and 
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the 
Company’s share of the net assets of the joint 
venture, less any impairment in the value  
of individual investments. Losses of a joint  
venture in excess of the Company’s interest in 
that joint venture (which includes any long-term 
interests that, in substance, form part of the 
Company’s net investment in the joint venture) 
are not recognised unless there is a legal or 
constructive obligation incurred by Meridian  
on behalf of the joint venture.

•	 Jointly Controlled Assets
Where Meridian has an interest in a jointly 
controlled asset Meridian recognises its share 
using the proportionate consolidation method. 
Under this method Meridian recognises its share 
of the jointly controlled asset according to the 
nature of the asset, any liabilities incurred in 
respect of the joint venture and any income  
or expenses from its share of the joint venture  
or incurred in respect of the joint venture.

Operating Segments
Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with internal reporting provided to  
the chief operating decision maker. The chief 
operating decision maker, who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance 
of the operating segments, has been identified  
as the Chief Executive.

Foreign Currency
Transactions denominated in a foreign currency 
are converted at the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction. Foreign currency monetary assets 
and liabilities at reporting date are translated  
at the exchange rate prevailing at reporting date.

Assets and liabilities of overseas entities,  
whose functional currency is other than NZD,  
are translated at the closing rate at balance date.  
The revenues and expenses of these entities are 
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translated at rates approximating the exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Exchange 
differences arising on the translation of the 
financial statements of these entities are recorded 
in the foreign currency translation reserve.  
Such translation differences are recognised  
in the income statement in the period in which  
the foreign operation is disposed of.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Meridian’s generation structures and plant assets 
(including land and buildings) are stated in the 
Statement of Financial Position at their fair value 
at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and impairment  
losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does 
not differ materially from that which would be 
determined using fair values at the balance date.

As disclosed in Note 22, the fair value of 
generation assets was determined using an 
income approach. In using the income approach, 
consideration was given to application of either 
net present value of expected future cash flows  
or capitalisation of earnings approach, whichever 
was more appropriate.

Any increase arising on revaluation is credited  
to the revaluation reserve, except to the extent 
that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the 
same asset previously recognised in the income 
statement, in which case the increase is credited 
to the income statement to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged. A decrease in 
carrying amount arising on revaluation is charged 
to the income statement to the extent it exceeds 
the balance, if any, held in the revaluation reserve 
relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Accumulated depreciation at revaluation date  
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount  
so that the carrying amount after revaluation 
equals the revalued amount.

Subsequent additions to generation structures 
and plant assets are recorded at cost, which is 
considered fair value, including costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location 
and condition necessary for its intended service. 
The cost of assets constructed includes all 
expenditure directly related to specific contracts 
including financing costs where appropriate.

Financing costs for qualifying assets are 
capitalised based on either the actual borrowing 
costs incurred or Meridian’s weighted average 
borrowing cost applicable to the general 
borrowings (excluding specific borrowings)  
that were outstanding during the period.  
Costs cease to be capitalised as soon  
as the asset is ready for use.

All other property, plant and equipment are  
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation  
and any accumulated impairment losses.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference 

between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in the 
income statement. Any balance attributable  
to the disposed asset in the asset revaluation 
reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
assets, other than freehold land, is calculated  
on a straight-line basis to allocate the cost or fair 
value amount of an asset, less any residual value, 
over its estimated remaining useful life.

Assets Classified as Held for Sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups 
comprising assets and liabilities) that are 
expected to be recovered primarily through  
sale rather than continuing use are classified  
as held for sale.

Immediately before classification as held  
for sale, the assets (or disposal group) are 
re-measured in accordance with Meridian’s 
accounting policies. Thereafter the assets  
(or disposal group) are measured at the lower  
of their carrying amount or fair value less cost  
to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification 
as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses  
on re-measurement are recognised in the income 
statement. Gains are not recognised in excess  
of any cumulative impairment loss.

Finance Lease 
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership to the lessee. Meridian recognises 
assets held under finance lease arrangements  
as a receivable or payable at an amount equal to 
the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Finance lease receipts are apportioned between 
principal repayments, relating to the lease 
receivable, and interest revenue. The interest 
revenue reflects a constant periodic rate of return 
on Meridian’s net investment over the term of  
the lease. Finance leases are classified as loans 
and receivables.

Intangible Assets

Customer Acquisition Costs
Customer acquisition costs are finite life intangibles 
and represent the capitalisation of costs incurred  
to acquire retail customers from other parties. 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate the cost over its useful life. 

Computer Software
Acquired computer software licences, that  
are not considered an integral part of related 
hardware, are capitalised on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. These costs are amortised over their 
useful lives on a straight-line basis.

Costs associated with maintaining computer 
software programmes are recognised as an 
expense as incurred.

Costs directly associated with the production of 
identifiable and unique software products that will 
generate economic benefits beyond one year are 
recognised as intangible assets and amortised over 
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.

Patents and Trademarks
Patents and Trademarks are finite life intangibles 
and are recorded at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment. Amortisation  
is charged on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives.

Licence Agreement
The value of a Licence Agreement has been 
recognised on acquisition of controlled entities. 
The Agreement is a finite life intangible and  
is recorded at fair value less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment. Amortisation  
is charged on a straight-line basis over a period  
of ten years.

Other licences are also amortised on a straight-
line basis over their useful lives.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets  
other than Goodwill
At each balance date or when events/
circumstance indicate, Meridian reviews the 
recoverability of the carrying amounts of its 
tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether they have suffered an impairment loss. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value 
in use is the present value of the future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the asset. For the 
purpose of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating 
units). An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in the income statement for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,  
in which case the impairment loss is treated  
as a revaluation decrease.

Non-financial assets that have suffered 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of 
the impairment at each reporting date. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately  
in the income statement, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation increase.

Goodwill
Goodwill, representing the excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
acquired, is recognised as an asset and not 
amortised, but tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the goodwill 
may be impaired. Any impairment is recognised  
in the income statement and is not subsequently 
reversed. For the purpose of assessing impairment 
goodwill is allocated to cash generating units.
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Non Derivative Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised on Meridian’s Statement of Financial 
Position when the Parent or Group becomes  
a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument (trade date).

Non Derivative Financial Assets
Meridian classifies its financial assets as either 
loans and receivables, or assets available for sale. 
The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired. Meridian 
determines the classification of its financial assets 
at initial recognition.

•	 Available for Sale Investments
Certain shares held by Meridian are classified  
as being available for sale and stated at fair 
value. Gains and losses arising from changes  
in fair value are recognised directly in the 
available-for-sale revaluation reserve, until the 
investment is disposed of or is determined to  
be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognised in the available-
for-sale revaluation reserve is included in the 
income statement for the period. Dividend 
income is recognised in the Income Statement 
separately from other changes in fair value.

Investments in shares that do not have a quoted 
market price in an active market and whose fair 
value cannot be reliably measured are carried  
at cost, less any impairment loss to reflect 
irrecoverable amounts.

•	� Investments in Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures
In the financial statements of the Parent the  
cost method is used to account for investments 
in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities.

•	 Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are measured on initial 
recognition at fair value, and are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost. Appropriate 
allowances for estimated unrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in the income 
statement when there is objective evidence  
that the asset is impaired. The allowance 
recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows.

•	 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents used in the 
Statement of Cash Flows comprise cash  
on hand and demand deposits and other 
short-term highly liquid investments that  
are readily convertible to a known amount  
of cash and are subject to an insignificant  
risk of changes in value.

Non Derivative Financial Liabilities
Meridian classifies its financial liabilities as either 
borrowings and payables, or liabilities held for 
sale. Financial liabilities are classified as held  
for sale if the sale of the asset or disposal group  
to which they relate is highly probable and  
is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition subject only to normal sale terms.  

The classification of other financial liabilities 
depends on the purpose for which the financial 
liabilities were acquired. Meridian determines  
the classification of its financial liabilities  
at initial recognition.

•	 Borrowings 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair  
value, net of transaction costs. Borrowings not 
designated as hedged items are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost and any difference 
between the proceeds (net of transaction  
costs) and the redemption value is recognised  
in the income statement over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 
Borrowings designated as hedged items  
are subject to measurement under hedge 
accounting requirements.

•	 Payables and Accruals
Trade and other accounts payable are 
recognised when Meridian becomes obligated  
to make future payments resulting from the 
purchase of goods and services, and are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost which 
approximates fair value.

•	 Deferred Income on Environmental Products
Meridian receives carbon credits and other 
tradable environmental products from specific 
energy production levels of certain renewable 
generation facilities. The future revenue arising 
from the sale of these units is a key matter in 
deciding whether to proceed with construction  
of the generation facility and is considered to  
be part of the value of the generation assets 
recorded in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Proceeds received on the sale of environmental 
products are recorded as deferred income in  
the Statement of Financial Position until the 
committed energy production level pertaining 
to the unit sold has been generated.

Derivative Financial Instruments  
and Hedge Accounting
Derivatives include cross currency interest  
rate swaps (CCIRSs), interest rate swaps (IRSs) 
(including forward rate agreements and interest 
rate options), foreign exchange contracts (FECs) 
(including currency options) and electricity 
contracts for differences (CfDs) (including 
electricity options).

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date a derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently re-measured on a periodic basis 
at their fair value. The method of recognising the 
resulting gain or loss depends on whether the 
derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, 
and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 
Meridian designates certain derivatives as either:

•	 hedges of the fair value of recognised assets  
or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value 
hedge); or 

•	 hedges of a particular risk associated with a 
recognised asset or liability or a highly probable 
forecast transaction (cash flow hedge).

For derivatives designated in a hedge relationship 
Meridian documents at the inception of the 
transaction the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as  
its risk management objectives and strategy  
for undertaking various hedge transactions.  
Meridian also documents its assessment,  
both at hedge inception and on an ongoing  
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used  
in hedging transactions are highly effective in 
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows  
of hedged items.

Some derivatives (within risk management policy) 
are not in a designated hedging relationship.

Fair Value Hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated and qualify as fair value hedges are 
recorded in the income statement in net change  
in fair value of financial instruments within other 
finance related expenses in respect of CCIRSs, 
together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset or liability that are attributable to 
the hedged risk. Interest expense on the loans 
designated as hedged items in fair value hedges  
is recognised in finance costs.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for  
hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying 
amount of a hedged item is amortised to the 
income statement over the period to maturity.

Cash Flow Hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 
flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the income 
statement in net change in fair value of financial 
instruments within operating profit in respect  
of FECs and net change in fair value of financial 
instruments within other finance related expenses 
in respect of CCIRSs and certain IRSs.

Amounts accumulated in other comprehensive 
income are recycled in the income statement in 
the periods when the hedged item affects profit  
or loss (for instance when the forecast transaction 
that is hedged takes place). The realised gain or 
loss relating to the effective portion of derivatives 
is recognised in the income statement on the same 
line as the hedged item.

When the forecast transaction that is hedged 
results in the recognition of a non-financial asset 
or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses 
previously deferred in other comprehensive 
income are transferred from other comprehensive 
income and included in the initial measurement  
of the cost of the asset or liability as a  
“basis adjustment”.

However, if Meridian expects that all or a portion 
of a loss previously deferred in equity will not  
be recovered in one or more future periods,  
the amount that is not expected to be recovered  
is reclassified into profit or loss immediately.
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When a hedging instrument expires or is sold,  
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 
existing in equity at that time remains in equity 
and is recognised when the forecast transaction  
is ultimately recognised in the income statement. 
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected 
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was 
reported in equity is immediately transferred  
to the income statement.

Derivatives not Designated as Hedges
Derivative instruments that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting or for which hedge accounting  
is not actively sought are at fair value through 
profit or loss and classified as being held for 
trading. Changes in their fair value, therefore,  
are recognised immediately in the income 
statement within operating profit in respect  
of CfDs and FECs or within finance costs in respect 
of IRSs. Cash settlements on such derivatives will 
adjust the price of the underlying item to which 
they relate. The cost of certain electricity options 
is recognised within “Net Change in Fair Value  
of Financial Instruments (Operational)”.

Day 1 Adjustment
A Day 1 adjustment arises when an electricity 
derivative is entered into at a fair value 
determined to be different to the transaction 
price. This difference can then be accounted for  
in one of two ways. The first option is to amortise 
the Day 1 adjustment to the Income Statement  
as contracted electricity volumes expire in the 
derivative. Alternatively the valuation model  
can be recalibrated by a fixed percentage to result  
in a value at inception equal to the transaction 
price (fair value). This recalibration adjustment  
is then applied to future valuations over the life  
of the contract. 

Reserves
The revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation 
of generation structures and plant and from the 
revaluation of certain intangible assets. Where 
revalued generation structures, plant assets or 
intangible assets are sold, that portion of the 
asset revaluation reserve which relates to that 
asset, is effectively realised and is transferred 
directly to retained earnings. Where a revalued 
intangible asset is impaired, the impairment is 
recognised in the reserve to the extent of any 
surplus for that asset otherwise the impairment  
is recognised in the income statement.

The foreign currency translation reserve 
comprises all foreign currency differences arising 
from the translation of the financial statements  
of foreign operations.

The cash flow hedge reserve comprises the 
effective portion of the cumulative net change  
in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments 
relating to hedged transactions that have not yet 
occurred. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on 
the hedge is recognised in the income statement 
when the transaction impacts the profit and  
loss, or is included as a basis adjustment to  
the non-financial hedged item, consistent with  
the applicable accounting policy.

The available-for-sale revaluation reserve arises 
on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial 
assets. Where a revalued asset is sold, that 
portion of the reserve which relates to that 
financial asset, and is effectively realised,  
is recognised in the income statement.  
Where a revalued financial asset is impaired,  
the impairment is recognised in the reserve  
to the extent of any surplus for that asset, 
otherwise the impairment is recognised in  
the income statement.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of  
the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable 
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 
as reported in the income statement because  
it excludes items of income and expense that  
are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the financial statements and the corresponding 
tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit, and is accounted for using the balance 
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised  
to the extent that it is probable that taxable  
profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) 
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction  
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary differences arising on investments  
in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, 
except where Meridian is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets  
is reviewed at each balance date and reduced  
to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to  
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates  
that are expected to apply in the period when  
the liability is settled or the asset realised. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the  
income statement, except when it relates to items 
charged or credited directly to equity, in which 
case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset  
when there is a legally enforceable right to set  
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and when they relate to income taxes levied by  
the same taxation authority and Meridian intends 
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities  
on a net basis.

Employee Benefits
Provision is made for benefits accruing to 
employees in respect of wages and salaries, 
annual leave, long service leave, and employee 
incentives when it is probable that settlement  
will be required and they are capable of being 
measured reliably. 

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits 
are measured using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
The income statement and statement of cash flows 
are prepared on a GST exclusive basis. All items  
in the Statement of Financial Position are stated 
net of GST, except for receivables and payables, 
which include GST.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost  
or net realisable value. Cost is determined on a 
weighted average basis and includes expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing 
them to their existing condition and location.  
Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price less estimated selling expenses.

Environmental Products
Australian Renewable Energy Certificates  
(RECs) are created monthly and validated shortly 
thereafter on the Australian REC registry based  
on the amount of eligible renewable electricity 
generated by certain Australian-based facilities. 
New Zealand emission units are allocated by the 
New Zealand government to renewable electricity 
generators on an annual basis. Both types of units 
are readily tradable.

If the units can be measured reliably and it  
is probable that expected future benefits will  
flow to the Group, they are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position. After initial 
recognition at cost, which is a proxy for market 
value, the units are reviewed regularly for 
impairment with any movements taken to  
the Income Statement. Initial market value  
is determined with reference to quoted prices.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognised when Meridian has  
a present obligation as a result of a past event, 
and it is probable that Meridian will be required  
to settle that obligation and the amount has been 
reliably estimated.

Warranties
A provision for warranties is recognised as a 
liability when the underlying products or services 
are sold.

Restructuring
Restructuring is a programme planned and 
controlled by Meridian that materially changes  
the scope of a business undertaken by Meridian  
or the manner in which that business is conducted 
by Meridian. Meridian recognises a provision for 
restructuring when the Directors have approved  
a detailed formal plan, and restructuring has 
commenced or a public announcement regarding 
the restructuring has been made. Costs and 
expenditures related to ongoing operations are 
not included in the provision for restructuring.

Operating Leases
Operating leases are leases where the lessor 
effectively retains substantially all the risks  
and benefits of ownership of the leased items.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the term  
of the lease.

Revenue Recognition

Sale of Energy and Other Related Services 
Revenue comprises amounts received or 
receivable in the ordinary course of business  
for the sale of electricity sold into the wholesale 
electricity market and to retail customers and  
for energy related goods and services provided.

Revenue from a contract to provide dam related 
maintenance services is recognised by reference 
to the stage of completion of the contract.  
The stage of completion is assessed by reference 
to surveys of work performed.

Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognised when the  
right to receive payment is established. 

Interest Income
Interest income is recognised on a time 
proportionate basis using the effective  
interest method.

Energy Related Expenses
Energy related expenses reported in the income 
statement include amounts payable for electricity 
purchased from the wholesale market and energy 
related services purchased from suppliers.

Statement of Cash Flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared exclusive 
of GST, which is consistent with the method used 
in the income statement. The GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities, which is recoverable from or payable to, 
the taxation authority is classified as an operating 
cash flow. 

2.  Segment Reporting

Meridian has determined the operating segments 
based on the reports reviewed by the Chief 
Executive to assess performance, allocate 
resources and make strategic decisions.

The Chief Executive assesses the performance of 
the operating segments on a measure of EBITDAF. 
Segment EBITDAF represents profit earned by  
each segment before the allocation of central 
administration costs, Directors’ fees, equity 
accounted earnings of joint ventures, change  
in fair value of financial instruments, finance  
costs, gain/loss on sale of property, plant  
and equipment, subsidiaries and investments, 
depreciation, amortisation, impairments and 
income tax expense.

The following balance sheet items are not 
allocated to operating segments as they  
are not reported to the Chief Executive  
at a segmental level:

•	 Assets

•	 Liabilities

•	 Capital Expenditure.

The Chief Executive considers the business from 
the perspective of three reportable segments, 
being Wholesale, Retail and International.

Revenues are derived from external customers 
within New Zealand, Australia and the United 
States of America. Meridian Energy Ltd sold the 
equivalent of approximately 40% (2012: 46%)  
of its generation output to a single customer. 
The revenues received from this customer are 
attributable to the Wholesale segment.

The revenue from external parties reported to  
the Chief Executive is measured in a manner 
consistent with that in the Income Statement.

From 1 July 2012, Meridian introduced a transfer 
pricing mechanism between the Wholesale and 
Retail segments. Wholesale purchases Retail’s 
electricity requirements from the wholesale 
electricity market at spot prices at the relevant 
grid exit point and on-sells it to them at agreed 
transfer prices, enabling Wholesale to manage 
market risk. Prior periods have been restated  
to reflect this change, resulting in a shift in the 
previously reported Energy Margin between  
the Wholesale and Retail segments of $84 million  
for the year ended 30 June 2012.

In the year ended 30 June 2013, Meridian has 
commenced allocating directly attributable ICT, 
Insurance, Property and Brand costs to segments 
in order to better assess performance. As the 
allocation methodology is based on current costs, 
it was not considered appropriate to restate prior 
periods to reflect this change since the data  
is unavailable and the cost to develop it would  
be excessive.

The accounting policies of the reportable 
segments are the same as Meridian’s accounting 
policies described in Note 1.

Wholesale Segment

The Wholesale segment encompasses activity 
associated with Meridian’s generation of 
electricity and the sale into the wholesale 
electricity market, the purchase of electricity  
from the spot market to sell to large industrial 
customers and the retail segment, development  
of New Zealand renewable energy opportunities 
and activities such as risk management and dam 
consultancy services.

Costs to develop New Zealand renewable 
generation opportunities and dam consultancy 
services offered by Damwatch Services Limited  
are reported as part of the Wholesale operating 
segment as it is determined that they have similar 
long term economic characteristics. Damwatch 
Services Limited was previously included in other 
segments. Prior periods have been restated to 
reflect this change.

Retail Segment

The Retail segment encompasses activity 
associated with the purchase of electricity  
from the Wholesale segment, the retail sale  
of electricity to customers and provision of 
metering services.

The Retail segment purchase electricity from  
the Wholesale segment at an average annual  
fixed price of $80-$85 per MWh for electricity 
supporting sales made to fixed price, variable 
volume customers and purchased electricity for 
customers on spot agreements at the prevailing 
wholesale market rates. 

International Segment

The international segment comprises Meridian’s 
Australian and United States of America 
operations which generate, sell and retail 
electricity into the relevant markets.

On 28 June 2013, Meridian Wind Macarthur 
Holdings Pty Ltd, a controlled entity involved  
in the construction of the Macarthur Windfarm, 
was sold as a going concern.
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Other Segments

Other operations, which are not considered 
reportable segments, include Meridian’s portfolio 
of subsidiaries that provide insurance services and 
energy solutions to industry. The results of these 
segments are included in ‘Other Segments’.

On 20 December 2012, Energy for Industry Limited, 
a subsidiary that provided energy solutions to 
industry, was sold as a going concern.

Unallocated

Unallocated Corporate encompasses Meridian’s 
business functions and company-wide costs, such 
as insurance, that provide support to the Wholesale, 
Retail, International and Other Segments, and 
Meridian’s non-operating subsidiaries.

Inter-Segment Items

Inter-segment revenue and expenses are sales  
and purchases between the Wholesale and  
Retail segments.

The Segment Information Provided to the Chief Executive for the Reportable Segments for the year ended 30 June 2013 is as follows:

Wholesale  
$m

Retail  
$m

International 
$m

Other 
Segments  

$m

Unallocated 
Corporate  

$m

Inter-Segment 
Items

$m
Total  

$m

Operating Revenue

Energy Sales Revenue 2,061.2 1,166.5 51.4 9.7 - (607.3) 2,681.5

Energy Related Expenses (1,289.3) (674.8) (0.6) (4.6) 0.5 607.3 (1,361.5)

Energy Distribution Expense (1.1) (403.0) (0.1) - - - (404.2)

Energy Margin 770.8 88.7 50.7 5.1 0.5 - 915.8

Dividend and Other Revenue 12.3 15.1 - 0.4 2.6 (0.7) 29.7

Energy Transmission Expense (113.2) - (2.1) - - - (115.3)

Gross Margin 669.9 103.8 48.6 5.5 3.1 (0.7) 830.2

Employee Expenses (29.3) (28.2) (7.1) (1.5) (22.5) - (88.6)

Other Operating Expenses (64.2) (58.0) (6.9) (2.2) (26.0) 0.5 (156.8)

EBITDAF 576.4 17.6 34.6 1.8 (45.4) (0.2) 584.8

Reconciliation of Operating Revenue

Energy Sales Revenue 2,061.2 1,166.5 51.4 9.7 - (607.3) 2,681.5

Dividend and Other Revenue 12.3 15.1 - 0.4 2.6 (0.7) 29.7

Inter-Segment Revenue (607.5) - - (0.3) (0.2) 608.0 -

Revenue from External Customers 1,466.0 1,181.6 51.4 9.8 2.4 - 2,711.2

The Segment Information Provided to the Chief Executive for the Reportable Segments for the Year Ended 30 June 2012 is as follows:

Wholesale  
$m

Retail  
$m

International 
$m

Other 
Segments  

$m

Unallocated 
Corporate  

$m

Inter-Segment 
Items

$m
Total  

$m

Operating Revenue

Energy Sales Revenue 1,985.1 1,156.6 23.3 20.9 - (643.0) 2,542.9

Energy Related Expenses (1,306.6) (701.4) (0.5) (10.0) - 643.0 (1,375.5)

Energy Distribution Expense (23.5) (380.7) - - - - (404.2)

Energy Margin 655.0 74.5 22.8 10.9 - - 763.2

Dividend and Other Revenue 9.8 11.6 2.6 1.6 3.6 (1.9) 27.3

Energy Transmission Expense (84.7) - (2.0) - - - (86.7)

Gross Margin 580.1 86.1 23.4 12.5 3.6 (1.9) 703.8

Employee Expenses (23.5) (25.6) (6.2) (4.7) (19.6) - (79.6)

Other Operating Expenses (43.4) (49.6) (4.9) (4.5) (45.2) - (147.6)

EBITDAF 513.2 10.9 12.3 3.3 (61.2) (1.9) 476.6

Reconciliation of Operating Revenue

Energy Sales Revenue 1,985.1 1,156.6 23.3 20.9 - (643.0) 2,542.9

Dividend and Other Revenue 9.8 11.6 2.6 1.6 3.6 (1.9) 27.3

Inter-Segment Revenue (643.0) - - - (1.9) 644.9 -

Revenue from External Customers 1,351.9 1,168.2 25.9 22.5 1.7 - 2,570.2
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Group

2013
$m

2012
$m

Total Revenue in:

New Zealand 2,659.8 2,544.3

Australia 48.3 22.7

United States of America 3.1 3.2

2,711.2 2,570.2

Reconciliation of EBITDAF to Profit before tax provided as follows:

Group
2013

$m

Group
2012

$m

EBITDAF for Reportable Segments 628.6 535.7

Other Segments EBITDAF 1.8 4.0

Unallocated EBITDAF (45.6) (63.1)

Total Group EBITDAF 584.8 476.6

 Impairment of Assets (24.8) (60.1)

 Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Assets 106.6 (1.5)

 Equity Accounted Earnings of Joint Ventures 0.1 (2.7)

 Amortisation (18.5) (22.2)

 Depreciation (201.2) (202.9)

 Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments 93.8 53.3

 Finance Costs and Other Finance Related Income/(Expenses) (113.5) (82.5)

 Group Profit before Tax 427.3 158.0

3.  Operating Expenses

Group Parent

2013 
$m

 2012
$m

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Employee Expenses include:

Contributions to Defined Contribution Plans 2.4 2.5 2.0 2.1

Movement in Share Based Incentives - (0.9) - -

Other Operating Expenses include:

Auditors Remuneration to Deloitte for:

Audit of New Zealand-based Companies Financial Statements1 0.5 0.5 0.3 0.4

Audit of Overseas-based Companies Financial Statements 0.1 0.1 - -

Other Services2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.2

Operating Lease Payments 5.2 4.6 4.0 3.7

Foreign Exchange Losses - 0.5 - -

Donations - - - -
					   

1	 Includes Office of the Auditor General overhead contribution of $26,500 (2012: $29,600)
2	 In addition to the audit of the Financial Statements, Deloitte performed Other Services as follows:

•	 Review of Interim financial statements
•	 Audit of carbon emissions
•	 Audit of Securities registers
•	 Audit report for Prospectus
•	 Investigating accountant for Initial Public Offer
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4.  Impairment of Assets
	

Group Parent

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Impairment of Intangible Assets - 22.3 - -

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment 19.1 35.4 19.1 25.8

Impairment of Held for Sale Assets 5.7 0.9 - 0.9

Impairment of Investments - 1.5 - 12.8

Impairment of Subsidiary Advances - - 2.0 54.4

24.8 60.1 21.1 93.9

Impairment of Intangible Assets

Prior Financial Year
The 2012 intangible asset impairments included 
Whisper Tech Limited ($16.1 million) and Meridian 
Energy USA Incorporated ($6.2 million) due to  
the carrying values no longer being supported  
by expected cash flows.

Impairment of Property,  
Plant and Equipment

Group Property, Plant and Equipment has  
been impaired by $19.1 million in 2013 (2012:  
$35.4 million).

North Bank Tunnel  
Development Project
Following an economic assessment of the  
North Bank Tunnel Hydro Project on the lower 
reaches of the Waitaki River, a decision was  
made to suspend the project indefinitely due  
to low electricity demand growth resulting  
in an impairment of $17.9 million.

Other Development Projects
Other early stage development projects  
were impaired by $1.2 million following  
economic assessment.

Prior Financial Year
The 2012 Property, Plant and Equipment 
impairments of $35.4 million included Project 
Hayes ($6.9 million), the discontinuation  
of the Mokihinui hydro project in Westland  
($18.1 million), Arc Innovations Limited metering 
assets ($5.8 million) and various work in progress 
assets of the Parent and Meridian Energy USA 
Incorporated ($4.6 million).

Impairment of Held for Sale Assets

Meridian Energy USA Incorporated
Two proposed solar developments in USA  
(Jacobs Creek and San Luis Valley Projects)  
have been impaired by $5.7 million following 
economic assessment and the resulting decision 
to not proceed with these projects.

Prior Financial Year
In 2012, the Group reclassified its investment in 
Nth Power Technologies Fund II, L.P. as they were 
being actively marketed for sale. An impairment of 
$0.9 million was recorded based on market prices. 
The shares were subsequently sold during the 
current period resulting in a loss of $0.1 million.

Impairment of Investments  
and Advances to Subsidiaries

MEL Solar Holdings Limited
Meridian has an investment in MEL Solar Holdings 
Limited, which operates as the investment  
entity for its interest in Meridian Energy USA Inc. 
Meridian has tested for impairment assessing the 
recoverable amount of the investment, based on 
the fair value of Meridian Energy USA Inc business 
assets, which include Cal RENEW – 1- an 
operational solar power station in California.  
As a result of this assessment the parent has 
recorded an impairment of $2.0 million on its  
loan to MEL Solar Holdings Limited.

Prior Financial Year
Where there are indications of impairment of 
investments and advances to subsidiaries, an 
impairment test has been performed. In 2012,  
the Parent recognised an impairment totalling 
$66.7 million in respect of its investment and 
advances to its subsidiaries, Whisper Tech Limited 
(investment $4.4 million, loans $27.1 million),  
MEL Solar Holdings Limited (loan $27.4 million) 
and Arc Innovations Limited (investment  
$7.8 million).

Available for Sale Investments, Carbon Flow  
Inc. and EnergyHedge Limited were impaired  
$0.6 million in 2012 due to the companies being 
liquidated or in process of liquidation. 

5.  Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Assets

Group Parent

Note
2013  

$m
2012 

$m
2013 

$m
2012 

$m

Loss on Sale of Finance Lease Receivable 16 (0.5) - (0.5) -

Gain on Sale of Subsidiaries 18 107.3 - 8.8 -

Loss on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment (0.2) (1.1) 0.3 (1.0)

Loss on Sale of Investments Held for Sale - - - -

Loss on Sale of Investments Available for Sale - (0.4) - -

Total Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Assets 106.6 (1.5) 8.6 (1.0)
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6.  Finance Costs

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

Interest on Borrowings 123.0 111.1 81.6 89.9

Less Capitalised Interest (7.9) (20.9) (1.8) -

115.1 90.2 79.8 89.9

Interest is capitalised during construction of 
assets that take a substantial period of time and 

where borrowing costs are directly attributable  
to the construction of those assets.

Total interest expense for financial liabilities at 
amortised cost is $59.6 million (2012: $52.9 million).

7.  Interest Income

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

Interest Income on Financial Assets at amortised cost: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.6 7.7 0.9 1.9

Loans to Subsidiaries - - 28.7 22.0

1.6 7.7 29.6 23.9

8.  Income Tax Expense

Group Parent

Note
2013  

$m
2012 

$m
2013 

$m
2012 

$m

Income Tax Expense

Current Tax Expense

Current Income Tax Charge 100.3 28.5 87.2 33.3

Adjustments Regarding Current Income Tax of Prior Years (5.7) (2.2) (5.6) (0.9)

Total Current Tax Expense 94.6 26.3 81.6 32.4

Deferred Tax Expense

Relating to Origination and Reversal of Temporary Differences 37.6 25.2 38.9 31.1

Deferred Tax Asset written off in relation to carried forward losses - 7.7 - -

Effect of Corporate Tax Rate Reduction on Deferred Tax Liability - 0.6 - 0.6

Effect of Change in Building Tax Depreciation on Deferred Tax - 23.6 - 23.6

Total Deferred Tax Expense 24 37.6 57.1 38.9 55.3

Total Income Tax Expense 132.2 83.4 120.5 87.7

Income Tax Expense can be reconciled to Accounting Profit as follows:

Profit Before Tax 427.3 158.0 374.0 158.5

Income Tax at Applicable Tax Rates 120.2 43.9 104.7 44.4

Tax Effect of Expenditure Not Deductible for Tax 9.8 16.5 7.1 27.1

Tax Effect of Income Not Subject to Tax (0.9) (7.0) (2.5) (5.0)

Income Tax Under/(Over) Provided in Prior Year 3.1 5.7 11.2 (0.9)

Tax Credits Transferred from Subsidiary - - - (1.6)

Inter-Company Dividend Received Not Subject to Tax - - (0.1) (0.5)

Effect of Corporate Tax Rate Reduction on Deferred Tax Liability 24 - 0.6 - 0.6

Effect of Change in Building Tax Depreciation on Deferred Tax 24 - 23.6 - 23.6

Other - 0.1 0.1 -

Income Tax Expense 132.2 83.4 120.5 87.7
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Applicable group tax rates for the current and 
prior financial years are 28% for New Zealand  
and 30% for Australia.

The discontinuation of tax depreciation on 
buildings with a useful life of greater than  
50 years was effective for the Group on 1 July 2011. 
The effect of this change was reflected in the 
Income Statement in 2010 ($14.7 million).  
At the time Meridian used judgement in regard  
to the tax definition of buildings with the above 
ground structure of Generation Structures and 

Plant being treated as buildings. Meridian 
maintain this view but took a further provision  
in 2012 due to the Inland Revenue Department’s 
current interpretation of the definition of buildings 
that in relation to generation assets includes the 
structures below ground. The effect included in 
the Income Statement in 2012 was $23.6 million. 
This approach has been reflected in the tax return 
for the 2012 tax year (resulting in an increased tax 
payable of $1.4 million) however the Group is still 
disputing the interpretation.

In addition to the income tax charge to  
the income statement, deferred tax credits 
(representing temporary differences) of  
$124.1 million for the Group (2012: $22.3 million 
credit) and $133.4 million for the Parent (2012:  
$3.4 million credit) have been recognised in  
equity for the year (see Note 24 – Deferred Tax).

At balance date the imputation credits available 
for use in future periods were Group $50.8 million 
(2012: $15.9 million) and Parent $50.6 million  
(2012: $14.9 million).

9.  Earnings per Share

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Group

2013 2012

Profit After Tax Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent Company ($M) 295.1 74.9

Weighted Average number of ordinary shares in issue (units) 1,600,000,002 1,600,000,002

Basic Earnings per Share ($) 0.18 0.05

Diluted Earnings per Share ($) 0.18 0.05

10.  Equity

Share Capital
The share capital is represented by 1,600,000,002 
ordinary shares issued and fully paid. These are 
held in equal numbers by the Minister of Finance 
and the Minister for State-Owned Enterprises  
on behalf of the Crown. There have been no 
movements in share capital during the year.

11.  Dividends

Group and Parent

2013
$m

2013
cents per  

share
2012

$m

2012
cents per  

share

2013 Interim Dividend Paid 99.8 6.24 - -

2012 Final Dividend Paid - - - -

2012 Interim Dividend Paid - - 71.3 4.46

2011 Final Dividend Paid - - 69.4 4.34

99.8 6.24 140.7 8.80

All shares are fully paid and have equal voting 
rights. All shares participate equally in any 
dividend distribution or any surplus on the  
winding up of the Company.

Changes to the Companies Act in 1993 abolished 
the authorised capital and par value concept  
in relation to share capital from 1 July 1994. 
Therefore the Company does not have a limited 
amount of authorised capital and issued shares  
do not have a par value.

12.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

Current Account 335.9 155.0 18.7 28.1

Money Market Account 46.9 59.4 46.1 58.3

Cash and Cash Equivalents 382.8 214.4 64.8 86.4

There are no cash and cash equivalent  
balances that are not available for use by the 
Group with the exception of funds held on deposit 
with JP Morgan. The Group trades on the  
ASX (Australian Securities Exchange) using 

 JP Morgan as a broker. As a result, a proportion  
of the funds it holds on deposit are pledged  
as margin which varies depending on market 
volatility and contracts held. At 30 June 2013,  
this collateral was $7.8 million for the Parent  

and $9.2 million for the Group (2012 Group and 
Parent: $7.4 million).

All cash and cash equivalents are held with money 
market dealers, JP Morgan and banks.
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13.  Accounts Receivable and Prepayments

Group Parent

Current
2013

$m
2012

$m
2013

$m
2012

$m

Billed and Accrued Receivables 199.3 298.7 177.9 278.6

Promissory Note 59.1 - - -

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts (3.9) (6.6) (3.6) (6.3)

Net Trade Receivables 254.5 292.1 174.3 272.3

Prepayments 7.4 6.0 7.1 4.4

Total Accounts Receivable and Prepayments 261.9 298.1 181.4 276.7

Group Parent

Movement in Provision for Doubtful Debts
2013

$m
2012

$m
2013

$m
2012

$m

Opening Provision for Doubtful Debts (6.6) (6.5) (6.3) (6.5)

Provision Created During the Year (5.9) (7.7) (4.8) (6.9)

Provision Released During the Year - - - -

Provision Used During the Year 8.6 7.6 7.5 7.1

Closing Provision for Doubtful Debts (3.9) (6.6) (3.6) (6.3)

Group Parent

Trade Receivables Ageing
2013

$m
2012

$m
2013

$m
2012

$m

Not Past Due 245.9 277.5 170.3 257.9

Past Due 1-30 days 7.3 10.4 3.1 11.1

Past Due 31-60 days 0.9 1.8 0.6 1.3

Past Due 61-90 days 0.9 2.3 0.8 2.0

Past Due > 90 days 3.4 6.7 3.1 6.3

258.4 298.7 177.9 278.6

Trade receivables that are less than 90 days  
past due are generally not considered impaired. 
As of 30 June 2013 trade receivables of $8.6 million 
(2012: $14.6 million) were past due but not 
impaired. These relate to energy sales to a number 
of independent customers for whom there is no 
recent history of default.

Receivables more than 90 days overdue relate 
mainly to retail electricity customers of which 
some of the balance is disputed. It is assessed 
that a portion of these receivables is likely to  
be recovered.

Meridian maintains a doubtful debt provision that 
reflects the limited likelihood of payment defaults. 

Meridian considers that the carrying amount  
of accounts receivable approximates their  
fair values. Trade receivables written off during  
the year were $8.6 million for the Group (2012:  
$7.6 million) and $7.5 million for the Parent  
(2012: $7.1 million).

14.  Inventories

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

Inventories

Consumable Spares and Stores 4.3 4.5 4.3 3.7

In 2013, consumables recognised as other 
operating expenses in the Group were $0.2 million 
(2012: $1.0 million) and in the Parent were $Nil 
(2012: Parent $0.7 million). Consumables and 

changes in finished goods and work in progress 
recognised as energy related costs in the Group 
were $0.5 million (2012: $0.3 million) and in the 
Parent $0.5 million (2012: $Nil).

Certain inventory items are subject to retention  
of title clauses.
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15.  Other Assets

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

New Zealand Carbon Credit Units 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1

Australian Renewable Energy Certificates 0.5 - - -

Total Other Assets 0.6 0.2 0.1 0.1

On 7 May 2013, Meridian purchased part of 
Rototuna Forest, Pouto Peninsula to secure land 
and access for a development project. This 
purchase included 51,982 carbon credit units.

From 1 January 2013, Meridian Finco Pty Ltd 
commenced receiving Renewable Energy 
Certificates regarding the Mt Millar Windfarm 
following the expiry of an all inclusive swap  
with Energy Australia.

16.  Finance Lease Receivable

Group AND PARENT

2013
$m

2012
$m

Minimum Lease Payments:

Not Later than One Year 0.3 0.6

Later than One Year and Not Later than Three Years 0.7 1.3

Later than Three Years and Not Later than Five Years 0.3 1.3

Later than Five Years - 8.2

Gross Investment in Finance Lease 1.3 11.4

Less: Unearned Finance Income (0.5) (6.0)

Present Value of Minimum Lease Payments 0.8 5.4

Analysed as:

Not Later than One Year 0.2 0.6

Later than One Year and Not Later than Three Years 0.4 0.2

Later than Three Years and Not Later than Five Years 0.2 0.3

Later than Five Years - 4.3

Total Finance Lease Receivable 0.8 5.4

Comprising

Current 0.2 0.6

Non-current 0.6 4.8

0.8 5.4

In 2013 Meridian has entered into an arrangement 
with Tonga Power Limited to provide lease finance 
for Popua Solar Farm. The lease is for a period  
of 5 years.

In the prior year Meridian had an arrangement with 
New Zealand Antarctic Institute to provide lease 
finance for Ross Island Wind Farm. The lease was 
originally for a period of 20 years but was sold to 

the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade  
on 10 May 2013 resulting in a loss on sale  
of $0.5m (see Note 5 for details).

As a result of the above finance lease, the Group 
and Parent have reported income of $0.7 million 
(2012: $0.5 million) which is included in Other 
Revenue in the Income Statement.
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17.  Assets and Liabilities Classified as Held for Sale

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

Meridian Energy USA Incorporated 24.0 27.7 - -

Nth Power Technologies Fund II, L.P. investment - 0.8 - 0.8

Freehold Land 30.2 0.9 30.2 0.9

Buildings 2.6 - 2.6 -

Farm Asset 2.1 - 2.1 -

Fonterra Co-Operative Group Limited Shares 5.9 - 5.9 -

Total Assets Held for Sale 64.8 29.4 40.8 1.7

Meridian Energy USA Incorporated 2.0 0.8 - -

Farm Asset Costs 0.7 - 0.7 -

Total Liabilities Held For Sale 2.7 0.8 0.7 -

Net Assets Classified as Held for Sale 62.1 28.6 40.1 1.7

The major classes of assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

Accounts Receivable and Prepayments 0.6 0.6 - -

Available for Sale Investments 5.9 0.8 5.9 0.8

Intangible Assets - 0.1 - -

Property Plant & Equipment 58.3 27.9 34.9 0.9

Total Assets Classified as Held For Sale 64.8 29.4 40.8 1.7

Payables and Accruals 2.7 0.8 0.7 -

Total Liabilities Classified as Held For Sale 2.7 0.8 0.7 -

Net Assets Classified as Held For Sale 62.1 28.6 40.1 1.7

Meridian Energy USA Incorporated

Meridian continues to actively market its  
interest in Meridian Energy USA Incorporated’s 
business with a view to selling it. Refer to Note 4 
for impairments recognised in the investment  
in Meridian Energy USA.

Meridian Energy USA Incorporated forms part  
of Meridian’s International Segment.

Other Assets 

Meridian is committed to an active programme  
to sell land, buildings and other farm assets that 
are no longer required for development projects. 

Nth Power Technologies Fund II, L.P.

At 30 June 2012 assets classified as held for sale 
also included the Nth Power Technologies Fund II, 
L.P. investment which was sold during the current 
period realising a loss of $0.1 million.
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18.  Investments in Subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries comprise shares at cost less impairments

name of entity incorporated principal activity interest held by Parent

2013
%

2013
$m

2012
%

2012
$m

Damwatch Services Limited Professional Services 100% - 100% -

Energy for Industry Limited Energy Solutions 0% - 100% 46.5

Three River Holdings (No.1) Limited2 Non-Trading Entity 100% 82.5 100% 69.2

Meridian Limited Non-Trading Entity 100% - 100% -

ARC Innovations Limited Metering Services 100% 29.5 100% 29.5

Meridian Energy Captive Insurance Limited Insurance Company 100% 2.5 100% 0.5

Meridian Energy International Limited Non-Trading Entity 100% 50.0 100% 50.0

Meridian (Whisper Tech) Limited Non-Trading Entity 100% - 100% -

Meridian (Whisper Tech No.2) Limited Non-Trading Entity 100% - 100% -

Powershop New Zealand Limited Electricity Retailer 100% 11.9 100% 11.9

MEL Solar Holdings Limited Holding Company 100% - 100% -

Whisper Tech Limited1 Non-Trading Entity 30% - 30% -

Hunter Downs Development Company Limited3 21/6/2013 Irrigation Development 100% - - -

176.4 207.6

1 	 The Parent holds 29.77% of Whisper Tech Limited with WhisperGen Limited (Controlled Entity) holding 70.23%.
2 	Members of Guaranteeing Group
3	 The Parent holds 50,000 shares with Hunter Downs Irrigation Limited holding 1 share

ARC Innovations Limited

On 1 October 2011, the Parent transferred assets 
and liabilities in return for share capital to Arc 
Innovations Limited. The assets and liabilities 
were transferred at fair value and share capital  
of $37.3 million was exchanged.

The transaction details are outlined in the table below:

2012
$m

Cash 2.0

Property, Plant and Equipment 36.5

Intangible Assets 0.2

Receivables and Prepayments 0.1

Payables and Provisions (0.8)

Deferred Tax (0.7)

37.3
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Controlled Entities (Other Subsidiaries)

interest held by GROUP

name of entity SOLD principal activity
2013

%
2012

%

Three River Holdings (No.2) Limited1 Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

WhisperGen Limited Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Whisper Tech Limited Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Damwatch Projects Limited Professional Services 100% 100%

Incorporated in Australia

Damwatch Pty Limited Professional Services 100% 100%

Meridian Wind Macarthur Holdings Pty Limited 28/6/2013 Non-Trading Entity - 100%

Meridian Wind Macarthur Pty Limited 28/6/2013 Electricity Generation - 100%

Meridian Australia Holdings Pty Limited1 Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Meridian Wind Australia Holdings Pty Limited1 Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Meridian Energy Markets Pty Limited1,2 Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Meridian Wind Monaro Range Holdings Pty Limited1 Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Meridian Wind Monaro Range Pty Limited1 Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Mt Mercer Windfarm Pty Limited1 Electricity Generation 100% 100%

Meridian Energy Australia Pty Limited1 Management Services 100% 100%

MEL Meridian Australia Partnership1 Financing Entity 100% 100%

Meridian Finco Pty Limited1 Financing Company 100% 100%

Mt Millar Wind Farm Pty Limited1 Electricity Generation 100% 100%

Powershop Australia Pty Limited Electricity Retailer 100% 100%

Wind Macarthur Holdings Trust3 28/6/2013 Non-Trading Entity - -

Wind Macarthur Holdings (T) Pty Limited3 28/6/2013 Non-Trading Entity - -

Wind Macarthur Trust3 28/6/2013 Non-Trading Entity - -

Wind Macarthur (T) Pty Limited3 28/6/2013 Non-Trading Entity - -

Wind Macarthur Finco Pty Limited3 28/6/2013 Financing Entity - -

Incorporated in United Kingdom

Whisper Tech (UK) Limited Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Incorporated in United States of America

Meridian Energy USA Incorporated Development 100% 100%

CalRENEW-1 LLC Electricity Generation 100% 100%

Jacob Canal Solar Farm LLC Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Laurel West Solar Farm LLC Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Laurel East Solar Farm LLC Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Hatteson Solar Farm LLC Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

San Luis Valley Solar Farm LLC Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

Desert Butte LLC Non-Trading Entity 100% 100%

1 	 Members of Guaranteeing Group
2 	During the 2012 year Meridian Wind Australia Pty Limited had its name changed to Meridian Energy Markets Pty Limited,  

and was sold by Meridian Wind Australia Holdings Pty Limited to Meridian Energy Australia Pty Limited
3 	Incorporated in Australia on 5 June 2013 and sold with Meridian Wind Macarthur Holdings Pty Limited 

Balance Dates
All subsidiaries have a balance date of 30 June 
except for Meridian Energy USA Incorporated, 
CalRENEW-1 LLC, Jacob Canal Solar Farm LLC, 

Laurel West Solar Farm LLC, Laurel East Solar 
Farm LLC, Hatteson Solar Farm LLC, San Luis 
Valley Solar Farm LLC and Desert Butte LLC that 
have balance dates of 31 December. These results 
have been incorporated to 30 June 2013.
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Disposal of Subsidiaries

Energy for Industry Limited
On 20 December 2012, the Group disposed of its entire interest in Energy for Industry Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary  
of the Parent, based on 30 November 2012 draft completion accounts, resulting in a gain of $5.9 million to the Group.

2013
$m

Assets and Liabilities disposed of:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4.9

Accounts Receivable and Prepayments 2.9

Inventories 1.1

Tax Receivable 0.1

Intangible Assets 5.7

Property, Plant and Equipment 39.7

Payables and Accruals (3.3)

Derivative Financial Instruments (0.1)

Deferred Tax (1.5)

Assets and Liabilities Disposed 49.5

Proceeds Received:

Cash Proceeds 56.3

Working Capital Adjustment 0.1

Disposal Costs (1.0)

Net Proceeds 55.4

Gain on Disposal 5.9

The Working Capital Adjustment is an amendment to the purchase price based on the finalised completion accounts.

Right House Limited
Right House Limited was sold as a going concern to Mark Group Holdings Pty Limited on 1 July 2011.

Disposal of Controlled Entities

Meridian Wind Macarthur Holdings Pty Ltd
On 28 June 2013, the Group disposed of its entire interest in Meridian Wind Macarthur Holdings Pty Ltd,  
a controlled entity of the Parent, resulting in a gain of $101.4 million to the Group.

2013
$m

Assets and Liabilities disposed of:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 9.3

Deferred Tax 1.0

Finance Lease Receivable 627.7

Taxation Receivable 10.6

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 13.6

Payables and Accruals (9.2)

Derivative Financial Instruments (44.2)

Borrowings (614.2)

Assets and Liabilities Disposed (5.4)

Proceeds Received:

Cash Proceeds 95.0

Promissory Note 59.1

Transaction Costs (58.1)

Net Proceeds 96.0

Gain on Disposal 101.4
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19.  Joint Ventures

Equity Accounted Joint Ventures

Details of the Group’s Equity Accounted Joint Ventures are as follows:

name of entity COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION DATE principal activity interest held by GROUP

2013
%

2012
%

Silverstream LFG Utilisation New Zealand 30/06/11 Electricity Generation - 93%

EDDI Project JV New Zealand 01/05/12 Dam Management Systems 50% 50%

On 1 November 2012, Energy for Industry Limited 
purchased the remaining 7% of the Silverstream 
LFG Utilisation Joint Venture for $0.2m.  
On 20 December 2012, Energy for Industry Limited 
was sold along with its interest in the joint venture 
(refer note 18).

On 1 May 2012 Damwatch Projects Limited entered 
into an unincorporated joint venture with GNS 
Science International Limited to provide a 
prototype system for dam management in 
Vietnam. The carrying value of the investment  
at 30 June 2013 is $11,100 (2012: $Nil).

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s investments in Joint Ventures is set out below:

Group

2013
$m

2012
$m

Current Assets - 0.2

Non-Current Assets - 0.5

Total Assets - 0.7

Current Liabilities - (0.2)

Non-Current Liabilities - -

Total Liabilities - (0.2)

Net Assets - 0.5

Group’s Share of Net Assets of Joint Ventures - 0.5

Foreign Exchange Translation effect - -

Goodwill - 3.3

Group’s Equity Accounted Joint Ventures - 3.8

Total Revenue 0.2 1.6

Total Expenses (0.1) (8.1)

Total Profit/(Loss) for the Period 0.1 (6.5)

Group’s Share of Profits/(Losses) of Joint Ventures 0.1 (2.7)

Group

2013
$m

2012
$m

Balance at Beginning of Year 3.8 4.4

New Investments - 3.4

Share of Profit/(Losses) of Joint Ventures 0.1 (2.7)

Transfer to Fully Consolidated Subsidiary (3.9) -

Loss on Sale - (0.5)

Loan Impaired - (0.8)

Balance at End of Year - 3.8

The Group has no share of any capital commitments or contingent liabilities from these Joint Ventures.
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Jointly Controlled Assets

Meridian Wind Macarthur Pty Limited held  
a 50% controlling interest in Macarthur  
Wind Farm unincorporated joint venture  
with AGL Energy Limited (AGL) which was 
proportionately consolidated.

On 28 June 2013, the Group disposed of its  
entire interest in Meridian Wind Macarthur 
Holdings Pty Ltd including the 50% controlling 
interest in the Macarthur Wind Farm 
unincorporated joint venture.

The following amounts are included  
in the Group financial statements:

Group

2013
$m

2012
$m

Statement of Financial Position

Current Assets - 81.7

Non-Current Assets - 494.1

Current Liabilities - (0.5)

Income Statement - -

Interest Income - 5.0

Groups Share of Jointly Controlled Profit and Loss - 3.5

The Groups share of prior year capital 
commitments from this joint venture is  
disclosed in Note 28. The Group had no share  
of any contingent assets or liabilities from this 
joint venture.

20.  Available for Sale Investments

Group and parent

currency
2013  

$m
2012 

$m

Listed Securities

Ceramic Fuel Cells Limited AUD - 0.1

Unlisted Securities

Fonterra Co- Operative Group Limited NZD - 3.5

- 3.6

Group and parent

2013  
$m

2012 
$m

Opening Balance 3.6 6.1

Impairments - (0.6)

Movement in Fair Value through Available for Sale Reserve 2.3 (0.3)

Transfers out to Held for Sale (5.9) (1.6)

Closing Balance - 3.6

Available-for-Sale Investments are carried at fair value.
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21.  Intangible Assets

group

note
software  

$m
goodwill 

 $m

licence 
agreement 

$m

patents and 
trademarks  

$m

customer 
acquisition 

costs
$m

Total  
$m

Cost or Fair Value

Balance at 1 July 2011 71.5 15.9 22.4 1.5 66.9 178.2

Acquisitions 8.7 - - 0.1 - 8.8

Transfer to Assets Classified  
as Held for Sale (0.1) - - - - (0.1)

Transfer from Property,  
Plant and Equipment 17.7 - - - - 17.7

Disposals (10.8) - - - - (10.8)

Balance at 30 June 2012 87.0 15.9 22.4 1.6 66.9 193.8

Balance at 1 July 2012 87.0 15.9 22.4 1.6 66.9 193.8

Acquisitions 32.0 - - - - 32.0

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate 
Movements (0.1) (0.2) - - - (0.3)

Transfer from Property,  
Plant and Equipment 20.6 - - - - 20.6

Sale of Subsidiary (4.5) - - - - (4.5)

Disposals (1.3) - - - - (1.3)

Balance at 30 June 2013 133.7 15.7 22.4 1.6 66.9 240.3

Accumulated Amortisation  
and Impairment

Balance at 1 July 2011 (54.1) (0.2) (11.2) (0.6) (65.2) (131.3)

Amortisation during Year (19.2) - (1.9) (0.9) (0.2) (22.2)

Impairment 4 - (13.0) (9.3) - - (22.3)

Transfer from Property,  
Plant and Equipment (1.6) - - - - (1.6)

Disposals 10.4 - - - - 10.4

Balance at 30 June 2012 (64.5) (13.2) (22.4) (1.5) (65.4) (167.0)

Balance at 1 July 2012 (64.5) (13.2) (22.4) (1.5) (65.4) (167.0)

Amortisation during Year (18.4) - - (0.1) - (18.5)

Sale of Subsidiary 0.2 - - - (1.5) (1.3)

Disposals 1.3 - - - - 1.3

Balance at 30 June 2013 (81.4) (13.2) (22.4) (1.6) (66.9) (185.5)

Net Book Value

Net Book Value 30 June 2011 17.4 15.7 11.2 0.9 1.7 46.9

Net Book Value 30 June 2012 22.5 2.7 - 0.1 1.5 26.8

Net Book Value 30 June 2013 52.3 2.5 - - - 54.8

Goodwill

The goodwill balance represents $2.5 million  
(2012: $2.7 million) in relation to the acquisition  
of Mt Millar Windfarm Pty Ltd. 

In 2012 the goodwill on Whisper Tech Limited  
($6.9 million) and Meridian Energy USA Inc  
($6.2 million) was fully impaired.
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21.  Intangible Assets  (continued)

parent

software  
$m

customer 
acquisition 

costs
$m

Total  
$m

Cost or Fair Value

Balance at 1 July 2011 70.4 65.2 135.6

Acquisitions 7.6 - 7.6

Transfer from Property, Plant and Equipment 15.2 - 15.2

Effect of Business Unit Becoming a Subsidiary (0.8) - (0.8)

Disposals (10.2) - (10.2)

Balance at 30 June 2012 82.2 65.2 147.4

Balance at 1 July 2012 82.2 65.2 147.4

Acquisitions 25.6 - 25.6

Transfer from Property, Plant and Equipment 19.8 - 19.8

Disposals (1.2) - (1.2)

Balance at 30 June 2013 126.4 65.2 191.6

Accumulated Amortisation and Impairment

Balance at 1 July 2011 (54.0) (65.2) (119.2)

Amortisation During Year (18.0) - (18.0)

Effect of Business Unit Becoming a Subsidiary 0.5 - 0.5

Disposals 9.9 - 9.9

Balance at 30 June 2012 (61.6) (65.2) (126.8)

Balance at 1 July 2012 (61.6) (65.2) (126.8)

Amortisation During Year (17.3) - (17.3)

Disposals 1.2 - 1.2

Balance at 30 June 2013 (77.7) (65.2) (142.9)

Net Book Value

Net Book Value 30 June 2011 16.4 - 16.4

Net Book Value 30 June 2012 20.6 - 20.6

Net Book Value 30 June 2013 48.7 - 48.7
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22.  Property, Plant and Equipment 

group

Generation
Structures 

and Plant
at Fair Value

$m

Freehold
Land

at Cost
$m

Freehold
Buildings

at Cost
$m

Resource
Consents

at Cost
$m

Other
Plant and
Equipment

at Cost
$m

Capital
Work in

Progress
at Cost

$m
Total  

$m

Cost or Fair Value

Balance at 1 July 2011 7,297.0 40.4 12.3 14.7 202.4 276.3 7,843.1

Additions 0.1 - 0.2 - 0.5 533.0 533.8

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Movements (2.8) - - - 0.2 (3.5) (6.1)

Transfers from Capital Work in Progress 35.8 0.6 0.9 10.2 15.8 (63.3) -

Transfers to Assets Held For Sale (23.0) (0.9) - - (5.8) - (29.7)

Transfer to Intangible Assets - - - - (2.1) (15.6) (17.7)

Disposals (2.2) - (0.2) - (34.1) - (36.5)

Reclassification - - (0.2) - 0.2 - -

Balance at 30 June 2012 7,304.9 40.1 13.0 24.9 177.1 726.9 8,286.9

Balance at 1 July 2012 7,304.9 40.1 13.0 24.9 177.1 726.9 8,286.9

Additions - - - - 0.1 276.6 276.7

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Movements (18.5) - - - (0.1) (40.7) (59.3)

Reversal of Revaluation Gains (849.0) - - - - - (849.0)

Transfers from Capital Work in Progress 3.0 2.9 1.0 0.3 10.4 (17.6) -

Transfers to Finance Lease Receivable - - - - - (623.3) (623.3)

Transfers to Assets Held For Sale - (29.2) (3.2) - (3.5) - (35.9)

Transfers to Liabilities Held for Sale - 0.3 - - - - 0.3

Transfer to Intangible Assets - - - - 0.1 (20.7) (20.6)

Disposals (0.1) (0.5) (0.9) - (44.3) (5.7) (51.5)

Reclassification 1.7 - (0.3) - (1.4) - -

Balance at 30 June 2013 6,442.0 13.6 9.6 25.2 138.4 295.5 6,924.3

The $623.3 million transfer to Finance Lease 
Receivable represents the conversion of 
previously capitalised construction costs 
associated with the Macarthur Wind Farm  
to a finance lease based on the terms of  
the Joint Venture.
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22.  Property, Plant and Equipment  (continued)

group

Generation
Structures 

and Plant
at Fair Value

$m

Freehold
Land

at Cost
$m

Freehold
Buildings

at Cost
$m

Resource
Consents

at Cost
$m

Other
Plant and
Equipment

at Cost
$m

Capital
Work in

Progress
at Cost

$m
Total  

$m

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

Balance at 1 July 2011 (13.0) - (2.4) (2.1) (102.5) (2.3) (122.3)

Depreciation Expense (182.0) - (0.4) (0.6) (19.9) - (202.9)

Exchange Rate Movements 0.2 - - - - - 0.2

Disposals 0.3 - - - 33.5 - 33.8

Transfer to Assets Held For Sale 1.6 - - - 0.1 - 1.7

Transfer to Intangible Assets - - - - 1.6 - 1.6

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment - - - - (6.3) (29.1) (35.4)

Balance at 30 June 2012 (192.9) - (2.8) (2.7) (93.5) (31.4) (323.3)

Balance at 1 July 2012 (192.9) - (2.8) (2.7) (93.5) (31.4) (323.3)

Depreciation Expense (181.7) - (0.3) (1.4) (17.8) - (201.2)

Exchange Rate Movements 2.2 - - - - - 2.2

Disposals - - 0.1 - 11.2 - 11.3

Transfer to Assets Held For Sale - - 0.5 1.5 - 2.0

Offset of Accumulated Depreciation on

Revaluation Reversal 372.8 - - - - - 372.8

Reclassification (0.4) - - - 0.4 - -

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment - - - - (0.1) (19.0) (19.1)

Balance at 30 June 2013 - - (2.5) (4.1) (98.3) (50.4) (155.3)

Net Book Value

Net Book Value 30 June 2011 7,284.0 40.4 9.9 12.6 99.9 274.0 7,720.8

Net Book Value 30 June 2012 7,112.0 40.1 10.2 22.2 83.6 695.5 7,963.6

Net Book Value 30 June 2013 6,442.0 13.6 7.1 21.1 40.1 245.1 6,769.0
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22.  Property, Plant and Equipment  (continued)

parent

Generation
Structures 

and Plant
at Fair Value

$m

Freehold
Land

at Cost
$m

Freehold
Buildings

at Cost
$m

Resource
Consents

at Cost
$m

Other
Plant and
Equipment

at Cost
$m

Capital
Work in

Progress
at Cost

$m
Total  

$m

Cost or Fair Value

Balance at 1 July 2011 7,025.0 40.5 11.5 14.7 163.3 163.8 7,418.8

Additions - - 0.2 - - 59.1 59.3

Transfers from Capital Work in Progress 35.8 - 0.6 10.2 5.6 (52.2) -

Transfers to Assets Held for Sale - (0.9) - - - - (0.9)

Transfers to Intangible Assets - - - - - (15.2) (15.2)

Effect of Business Unit Becoming a Subsidiary - - - - (65.7) (1.1) (66.8)

Disposals (1.2) - (0.2) - (2.7) - (4.1)

Balance at 30 June 2012 7,059.6 39.6 12.1 24.9 100.5 154.4 7,391.1

Balance at 1 July 2012 7,059.6 39.6 12.1 24.9 100.5 154.4 7,391.1

Additions - - - - 0.1 59.0 59.1

Reversal of Revaluation Gains (817.9) - - - - - (817.9)

Transfers from Capital Work in Progress 2.9 2.9 1.0 0.3 7.0 (14.1) -

Transfers to Assets Held for Sale - (29.2) (3.2) - (3.5) - (35.9)

Transfer to Liabilities Held for Sale - 0.3 - - - - 0.3

Transfers to Intangible Assets - - - - - (19.8) (19.8)

Transfer to Finance Lease Receivable - - - - - (0.3) (0.3)

Reclassification 1.7 - (0.3) - (1.4) - -

Disposals (0.4) - - - (5.1) - (5.5)

Balance at 30 June 2013 6,245.9 13.6 9.6 25.2 97.6 179.2 6,571.1
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22.  Property, Plant and Equipment  (continued)

parent

Generation
Structures 

and Plant
at Fair Value

$m

Freehold
Land

at Cost
$m

Freehold
Buildings

at Cost
$m

Resource
Consents

at Cost
$m

Other
Plant and
Equipment

at Cost
$m

Capital
Work in

Progress
at Cost

$m
Total  

$m

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

Balance at 1 July 2011 - - (2.4) (2.1) (96.6) (2.3) (103.4)

Depreciation Expense (170.5) - (0.3) (0.6) (10.7) - (182.1)

Disposals 0.3 - - - 2.4 - 2.7

Effect of Business Unit Becoming a Subsidiary - - - - 30.3 - 30.3

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment - - - - (0.5) (25.4) (25.9)

Balance at 30 June 2012 (170.2) - (2.7) (2.7) (75.1) (27.7) (278.4)

Balance at 1 July 2012 (170.2) - (2.7) (2.7) (75.1) (27.7) (278.4)

Depreciation Expense (171.1) - (0.3) (1.4) (8.8) - (181.6)

Disposals - - - - 5.0 - 5.0

Transfer to Assets Classified as Held For Sale - - 0.5 - 1.5 - 2.0

Reclassification (0.4) - - - 0.4 - -

Offset of Accumulated Depreciation  
on Revaluation Reversal 341.7 - - - - - 341.7

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment - - - - (0.1) (19.0) (19.1)

Balance at 30 June 2013 - - (2.5) (4.1) (77.1) (46.7) (130.4)

Net Book Value

Net Book Value 30 June 2011 7,025.0 40.5 9.1 12.6 66.7 161.5 7,315.4

Net Book Value 30 June 2012 6,889.4 39.6 9.4 22.2 25.4 126.7 7,112.7

Net Book Value 30 June 2013 6,245.9 13.6 7.1 21.1 20.5 132.5 6,440.7

Generation Structures  
and Plant Valuation

Generation structures and plant assets  
(including land and buildings) are stated at fair 
value. They were revalued at 30 June 2013 by  
an independent valuer. The revaluation resulted  
in previous revaluations held in the revaluation 
reserve decreasing by $476.2 million (gross of 
deferred tax).

Values were calculated for Meridian’s business 
operations, generation structures and plant 
assets as at 30 June 2013 by an independent valuer 
using both the capitalisation of earnings and the 
discounted cash flow (DCF) methodology, applied 
to Meridian as a whole.

The capitalisation of earnings methodology 
calculates value by reference to an assessment  
of future maintainable earnings and capitalisation 
multiples as observed from market prices of  
listed companies with broadly comparable 
operations to Meridian and the potential 
performance of the New Zealand economy in  
the near term. In preparing the capitalisation  
of earnings valuation an EBITDAF multiple range  
at which to capitalise Meridian’s historical and 
forecast earnings was determined.

The DCF methodology calculates value based on 
the present value of the cash flows that the asset 
or entity can be expected to generate in the future.

As a consequence of the 2013 revaluation, 
accumulated depreciation on these assets was 
reset to $Nil in line with treatment prescribed 
under NZ IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment. 

There is no depreciation impact of this revaluation 
in the Income Statement.

At 30 June 2013 had the generation structures  
and plant been carried at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses their carrying amount  
would have been approximately $2.6 billion  
(2012: $2.7 billion).

Valuation sensitivities:
The following table outlines the key assumptions 
used in preparing the valuation of generation 
structures and plant assets. In all cases there  
is an element of judgement required. The table 
shows the movement in fair value as a result of  
the change in assumption and keeping all other 
valuation inputs constant.

Assumption Base Case Sensitivity Valuation Impact

Future NZ electricity price estimates* $69/MWh to $98/MWh by 2033 
(in real terms)

+/- $3/MWh $365 million / ($365 million)

Generation Volume 13,052 GWh +/- 250 GWh $261 million / ($261 million)

Operating Expenditure $258 million p.a. + / - $10 million p.a. ($127 million) / $127 million

*	 The future NZ electricity prices reflect an approximation of the future prices implicit in the EBITDAF capitalisation of earnings valuation.
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Capitalised Interest

Finance costs totalling $7.9 million (2012:  
$20.9 million) have been capitalised in relation  
to new builds and refurbishment of certain 
generation structures and plant assets. For 
non-specific financing, a capitalisation rate of 
6.50% p.a. was used during the year (2012: 
6.77%p.a.). 

Land

The Group is formally registered as proprietor 
under the Land Transfer Act in relation to the 
majority of its land assets. In relation to the small 
portion for which it is not registered as proprietor, 
the Group has full beneficial ownership rights and 
the benefit of an obligation from the Crown to 
create titles under the Land Transfer Act and 
transfer them to the Group. Titles will be issued 
once land title processes have been completed.

Impairments

For details of property, plant and equipment 
impairments refer to Note 4.

23.  Payables and Accruals

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

Trade Creditors 10.6 12.5 6.0 11.9

Accruals 230.3 250.4 154.1 231.8

GST 10.6 11.0 12.2 10.7

Employee Entitlements 14.9 7.1 12.1 4.3

Unearned Income 8.3 5.1 - 0.8

274.7 286.1 184.4 259.5

24.  Deferred Tax

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group, and the movements thereon, during the current and prior  
reporting periods.

Group Parent

Note
2013  

$m
2012 

$m
2013 

$m
2012 

$m

Balance at Beginning of Year 1,435.8 1,404.4 1,448.3 1,400.5

Recognised in the Income Statement:

Movement in Temporary Differences 8 37.6 25.2 38.9 31.1

Corporate Tax Rate Reduction 8 - 0.6 - 0.6

Deferred Tax Asset written off in relation to carried forward losses 8 - 7.7 - -

Building tax depreciation change 8 - 23.6 - 23.6

37.6 57.1 38.9 55.3

Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income:

Deferred Tax on Asset Revaluation Reserve Movements  
(Revaluation Reserve)

(133.3) (4.3) (133.3) (4.3)

Movement in Temporary Differences (Equity) 9.2 (18.0) (0.1) 1.0

(124.1) (22.3) (133.4) (3.3)

Effect of Retranslating Foreign Opening Balances (0.1) - - -

Adjustments Regarding Deferred Tax of Prior Years 2.7 (3.4) 0.6 (3.4)

Effect of Sale of Subsidiaries (0.4) - - -

Effect of Business Unit becoming Subsidiary 18 - - - (0.8)

Balance at End of Year 1,351.5 1,435.8 1,354.4 1,448.3
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24.  Deferred Tax  (continued)

The movement in temporary differences recognised in the income statement consists of the following:

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

Property, Plant and Equipment 4.6 16.2 0.1 9.6

Term Payables 14.4 - 14.4 -

Financial Instruments 26.5 15.0 26.0 17.8

Carried Forward Losses to be Utilised against Future Taxable Income (6.4) (8.2) - -

Other (1.5) 2.2 (1.6) 3.7

37.6 25.2 38.9 31.1

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The following is the analysis of the deferred 
tax balances (after offset) for Statement of Financial Position purposes:

Group Parent

2013
$m

2012
$m

2013
$m

2012
$m

Property, Plant and Equipment 942.0 1,076.5 942.0 1,077.0

Accelerated Depreciation 428.9 439.4 418.2 426.2

Term Payables (8.6) (41.8) (8.6) (21.1)

Financial Instruments 0.9 (34.2) (1.4) (33.3)

Other 1.0 4.3 4.2 (0.5)

Deferred Tax Liability 1,364.2 1,444.2 1,354.4 1,448.3

Carried Forward Losses to be Utilised Against Future Taxable Income (12.5) (8.2) - -

Other (0.2) (0.2) - -

Deferred Tax Asset (12.7) (8.4) - -

1,351.5 1,435.8 1,354.4 1,448.3

Some Group carried forward tax losses have  
not been recognised as deferred tax assets as 
Meridian has assessed that it is not probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against 

which the benefit of the losses can be utilised. 
These total $16.6 million (2012: $20.9 million).  
For tax purposes these losses begin to expire 
in 2029 subject to shareholder continuity. 

25.  Borrowings

Group Parent

currency

face  
value

2013  
$m

carrying 
value*

2013  
$m

face  
value

2012  
$m

carrying 
value*

2012  
$m

face  
value

2013  
$m

carrying 
value*

2013  
$m

face  
value

2012  
$m

carrying 
value*

2012  
$m

Borrowings – Current

Unsecured Borrowings NZD 92.5 90.9 114.6 113.2 92.5 91.2 114.6 113.2

Unsecured Borrowings AUD - - 134.7 134.7 - - - -

Unsecured Borrowings USD 61.1 55.8 - - 61.1 55.8 - -

Total Current Borrowings 153.6 146.7 249.3 247.9 153.6 147.0 114.6 113.2

Borrowings – Non Current

Unsecured Borrowings NZD 420.0 416.3 690.3 686.8 420.0 416.1 690.3 686.8

Unsecured Borrowings AUD 190.3 189.7 402.6 402.6 - - - -

Unsecured Borrowings USD 418.8 427.5 479.9 488.3 418.8 427.5 479.9 488.3

Total Non Current Borrowings 1,029.1 1,033.5 1,572.8 1,577.7 838.8 843.6 1,170.2 1,175.1

Total Borrowings 1,182.7 1,180.2 1,822.1 1,825.6 992.4 990.6 1,284.8 1,288.3

* 	 Carrying value is considered to approximate fair value.
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Borrowings are carried at amortised cost, with  
the exception of USD borrowings which are in a 
designated hedge relationship. The total carrying 
value of all borrowings is considered to 
approximate fair value. 

Meridian borrows under a negative pledge 
arrangement, which does not permit it to grant 
any security interest over its assets, unless it is an 
exception permitted within the negative pledge.

Meridian has entered into hedge contracts  
to manage its exposure to interest rates and 
borrowings sourced in foreign currencies.  
The foreign currency denominated term 
borrowings reported in the financial statements  
at fair value for the hedge risk are hedged by Cross 
Currency Interest Rate Swaps (CCIRSs). The NZD 
equivalent of these borrowings after the effect  
of foreign exchange hedging of the borrowings  
is $479.9 million (30 June 2012: $479.9 million).

Meridian’s (net) cost of funds for the year ended 
30 June 2013 was 7.21% (2012: 6.75%).

Meridian has committed bank facilities of  
$1,277.8 million ($1,444.5 million at 30 June 2012) 
of which $957.5 million were undrawn at  
30 June 2013 ($397.1 million at 30 June 2012).

For more information about Meridian’s management 
of interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk, 
see Note 26 – Financial Risk Management.

26.  Financial Risk Management

Capital Risk Management Objectives 

Meridian’s objectives when managing capital are 
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as  
a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders 
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, Meridian may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital  
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets  
to reduce debt.

Meridian monitors capital on the basis of the 
gearing ratio (calculated as net debt divided  
by total capital) and interest cover (calculated  
as EBITDAF divided by interest cost).

Net debt is calculated as total borrowings net of 
foreign exchange less cash and cash equivalents.

Total capital is calculated as ‘equity attributable 
to shareholders of the Parent’ as shown in the 
Statement of Financial Position, adjusted for the 
effect of the fair value of financial instruments, 
plus net debt.

GrouP

2013
$m

2012
$m

Borrowings – NZD Equivalent Net of Foreign Exchange Hedging 1,177.5 1,822.1

Less: Cash and Cash Equivalents 382.8 214.4

Net Debt 794.7 1,607.7

Adjusted Shareholders' Equity 4,780.6 5,077.2

Net Debt plus Equity 5,575.3 6,684.9

Meridian’s debt facilities have financial covenants that relate to the Group. The two key financial covenants are as follows:

group

2013 2012

Net Debt to Net Debt Plus Equity (Gearing) < 55%1 14.25% 24.05%

EBITDAF Interest Cover (# of times) > 2.5 times1 5.04 4.46

1 	 The Net Debt to Net Debt Plus Equity ratio is calculated using Total Capital and Net Debt as shown in the table above, and the EBITDAF Interest Cover ratio is calculated using EBITDA and Interest and Financing 
Costs, with the components of both of these ratios meeting the definitions in the trust deed covering the Guaranteeing Group externally imposed capital requirements

25.  Borrowings  (continued)

Meridian debt facilities have externally  
imposed capital requirements that relate  
to the Guaranteeing Group. Refer to Note 18  
for members of the Guaranteeing Group.

The Guaranteeing Group is in compliance  
with all debt facility covenants.

During the year all capital requirements relating  
to Meridian’s debt facilities have been complied 
with and a BBB+ (stable) credit rating retained.
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Financial Risk Management

Meridian’s activities expose it to a variety of 
financial risks: liquidity risk, market risk (including 
currency risk, cash flow risk, interest rate risk, 
electricity and other price risk) and credit risk. 
Meridian’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and the electricity spot price and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance and economic value of the Group.  
In order to hedge certain risk exposures, Meridian 
uses derivative financial instruments such as: 
foreign exchange contracts (FECs) and options; 
cross currency interest rate swaps (CCIRSs); 
interest rate swaps (IRSs) including forward rate 
agreements and interest rate options; electricity 
contracts for differences (CfDs), financial 
transmission rights (FTRs) and options;  
and aluminium CfDs.

Meridian uses sensitivity analysis to measure  
the amount of risk it is exposed to for: foreign 
exchange risk; interest rate risk; price risk;  
and ageing analysis for credit risk.

Risk management for currency risk and interest 
rate risk is carried out by the Group Treasury 
function under policies approved by the Board. 
Electricity price risk management is carried out  
by a centralised electricity risk management 
group, also under Board approved polices.  
These groups identify, evaluate and economically 
hedge financial risks in close co-operation  
with the Group’s operating units. Hedges are 
undertaken on an economic basis based on net 
exposures and cash flows. The Board provides 
written principles for overall risk management,  
as well as policies covering specific areas such  
as electricity price risk, interest rate risk,  
foreign exchange risk, and credit risk.

Liquidity Risk
Meridian maintains sufficient cash and marketable 
securities, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities 
and the ability to close out market positions as 
part of its management of liquidity risk. Due to  
the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, 
Group Treasury maintains flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed surplus credit lines available 
of at least $250 million to ensure it has sufficient 
headroom under normal and abnormal conditions.

Funding Facilities
The table below analyses the Parent and Group’s funding facilities:

2013 2012

currency
facility limit  

$m
drawn debt  

$m
available  

$m
facility limit  

$m
drawn debt  

$m
available  

$m

Bank Funding1 NZD 675.0 - 675.0 620.0 370.0 250.0

Renewable Energy Bonds2 NZD 200.0 200.0 - 200.0 200.0 -

Renewable Energy Notes3 NZD 12.5 12.5 - 44.9 44.9 -

EKF Facility4 NZD 130.0 130.0 - 140.0 140.0 -

Floating Rate Notes5 NZD 100.0 100.0 - 50.0 50.0 -

Fixed Rate Bond Issue6 USD 479.9 479.9 - 479.9 479.9 -

Commercial Paper7 NZD 70.0 70.0 - - - -

Total Parent 1,667.4 992.4 675.0 1,534.8 1,284.8 250.0

Bank Funding8 AUD 472.8 190.3 282.5 191.5 134.7 56.8

Project Financing9 AUD - - - 492.9 402.6 90.3

Total Group 2,140.2 1,182.7 957.5 2,219.2 1,822.1 397.1

1	 New Zealand Dollar unsecured bank funding bears interest at the relevant NZ market rate plus a margin.
2	 Renewable Energy Bonds are senior unsecured retail bonds bearing interest rates of 7.15% to 7.55%.
3	 Renewable Energy Notes are senior unsecured debt obligations paying a fixed rate of return over a set period of time.
4	 EKF facility is an unsecured 15 year amortising term loan, provided by the official export credit agency of Denmark, for the construction of Te Uku Wind Farm.
5	 New Zealand Dollar unsecured floating rate note bears interest at the relevant NZ market rate plus a margin.
6	 US Dollar fixed rate bond issue are unsecured fixed rate bonds issued in the US Private Placement Market.
7	 New Zealand Dollar commercial paper are senior unsecured short term debt obligations paying a fixed rate of return over a set period of time.
8	 Australian Dollar unsecured bank funding bears interest at the relevant Australian market rate plus a margin.
9	 Project Financing was a committed syndicated finance facility related to the Macarthur Wind Farm development, bearing interest at the relevant Australian market rate plus a margin.

All facility limits and drawn debt are shown in NZD.

26.  Financial Risk Management  (continued)

In addition to its borrowings, Meridian has entered 
into a number of letters of credit and performance 
guarantee arrangements which provide credit 
support of $96.1 million for the collateral 
requirements of Meridian’s trading business (2012: 
$141.9 million). Of the $96.1 million, $9.8 million 
expires in the 2014 financial year with the balance 
having no expiry date. Meridian indemnifies the 
obligations of the bank in respect of the letters  
of credit and performance guarantees issued  
by the bank to counterparties of Meridian.

The Group trades electricity CfDs on the ASX 
(Australian Securities Exchange) using JP Morgan 
as a broker. As a result, a proportion of the  
funds it holds on deposit are pledged as margin 
which varies depending on market volatility and 
contracts held. At 30 June 2013, this collateral  
was $7.8 million for the Parent and $9.2 million for 
the Group (2012 Group and Parent: $7.4 million).

Contractual Maturities 
The following table is an analysis of the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows relating  
to financial liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period and reconciliation from total undiscounted 
cash flows to carrying amounts:

The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows, except for 
IRSs, CCIRSs, forward exchange contracts and 
CfDs which are the undiscounted settlements 
expected under the contracts.
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26.  Financial Risk Management  (continued)

2013

Due  
within
1 year

$m

Due between
1 and 2 years

$m

Due between
3 and 5 years

$m

Due after 
5 years

$m

Total 
Undiscounted 

Cashflows
$m

Impact of 
other non-
cash items

$m

Impact of
Interest/FX 

discounting
$m

30 June 2013
Carrying 

Value
$m

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities

Payables and Accruals 184.4 - - - 184.4 - - 184.4

Borrowings 194.9 181.1 330.3 478.3 1,184.6 (5.3) (188.7) 990.6

Term Payables - 7.2 - - 7.2 - (0.5) 6.7

379.3 188.3 330.3 478.3 1,376.2 (5.3) (189.2) 1,181.7

Derivative Financial Liabilities  
– Net Settled

Interest Rate Swaps/Options 30.5 22.7 29.4 13.4 96.0 - (11.8) 84.2

Electricity Derivatives 14.5 133.3 54.4 79.5 281.7 (156.6) (54.7) 70.4

45.0 156.0 83.8 92.9 377.7 (156.6) (66.5) 154.6

Derivative Financial Liabilities  
– Gross Settled

Foreign Exchange Contracts

Inflows 139.3 28.8 - - 168.1

Outflows 149.9 30.8 - - 180.7

Net Outflows 10.6 2.0 - - 12.6 - 0.2 12.8

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps

Inflows 63.8 6.8 137.3 - 207.9

Outflows 68.3 6.1 153.8 - 228.2

Net Outflows/(Inflows) 4.5 (0.7) 16.5 - 20.3 - (11.6) 8.7

Total Financial Liabilities Parent 439.4 345.6 430.6 571.2 1,786.8 (161.9) (267.1) 1,357.8

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities

Payables and Accruals 90.3 - - - 90.3 - - 90.3

Provisions 0.1 - - - 0.1 - - 0.1

Borrowings 192.0 - - - 192.0 (0.8) (1.6) 189.6

282.4 - - - 282.4 (0.8) (1.6) 280.0

Derivative Financial Liabilities  
– Net Settled

Interest Rate Swaps/Options 2.2 1.5 2.6 (0.1) 6.2 - (0.8) 5.4

Electricity Derivatives 0.5 0.1 - - 0.6 (0.5) - 0.1

2.7 1.6 2.6 (0.1) 6.8 (0.5) (0.8) 5.5

Derivative Financial Liabilities  
– Gross Settled

Foreign Exchange Contracts

Inflows (75.1) (20.0) - - (95.1)

Outflows (83.9) (21.7) - - (105.6)

Net Outflows (8.8) (1.7) - - (10.5) - (1.6) (12.1)

Total Financial Liabilities Group 715.7 345.5 433.2 571.1 2,065.5 (163.2) (271.1) 1,631.2

Except for borrowings, the carrying value of financial liabilities equals the fair value. Financial Guarantees are disclosed in Note 28.
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26.  Financial Risk Management  (continued)

2012

Due  
within
1 year

$m

Due  
between

1 and 2 years
$m

Due  
between

3 and 5 years
$m

Due  
after 

5 years
$m

Total 
Undiscounted 

Cashflows
$m

Impact of 
other non-
cash items

$m

Impact of
Interest/FX 

discounting
$m

30 June 2012
Carrying 

Value
$m

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities

Payables and Accruals 260.1 - - - 260.1 - (0.6) 259.5

Borrowings 464.1 117.9 459.0 442.5 1,483.5 (5.6) (189.6) 1,288.3

Term Payables - 18.0 7.2 - 25.2 - (2.4) 22.8

724.2 135.9 466.2 442.5 1,768.8 (5.6) (192.6) 1,570.6

Derivative Financial Liabilities  
– Net Settled

Interest Rate Swaps/Options 31.6 31.2 57.9 28.9 149.6 - (17.3) 132.3

Electricity Derivatives 71.9 37.6 (93.8) (671.1) (655.4) 232.9 499.0 76.5

103.5 68.8 (35.9) (642.2) (505.8) 232.9 481.7 208.8

Derivative Financial Liabilities  
– Gross Settled

Foreign Exchange Contracts

Inflows 0.7 65.4 8.5 - 74.6

Outflows 1.0 71.3 9.4 - 81.7

Net Outflows/(Inflows) 0.3 5.9 0.9 - 7.1 - (4.1) 3.0

Total Financial Liabilities Parent 828.0 210.6 431.2 (199.7) 1,270.1 227.3 285.0 1,782.4

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities

Payables and Accruals 26.6 - - - 26.6 - - 26.6

Borrowings 539.6 - - - 539.6 - (2.3) 537.3

566.2 - - - 566.2 - (2.3) 563.9

Derivative Financial Liabilities  
– Net Settled

Interest Rate Swaps/Options 8.6 13.0 25.2 37.8 84.6 - (15.4) 69.2

Electricity Derivatives (0.4) - - - (0.4) 1.1 (0.1) 0.6

8.2 13.0 25.2 37.8 84.2 1.1 (15.5) 69.8

Total Financial Liabilities Group 1,402.4 223.6 456.4 (161.9) 1,920.5 228.4 267.2 2,416.1

Except for borrowings, the carrying value of financial liabilities equals the fair value. Financial Guarantees are disclosed in Note 28.
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26.  Financial Risk Management  (continued)

The following tables are an analysis of the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to 
financial assets at the end of the reporting period 
and reconciliation from total undiscounted cash 
flows to carrying amounts:

The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows, except for 
IRSs, CCIRSs, forward exchange contracts and 
CfDs which are the undiscounted settlements 
expected under the contracts.

The inclusion of information on derivative and 
non-derivative financial assets is necessary in 
order to understand Meridian’s liquidity risk 
management, as liquidity is managed on a net 
asset and liability basis.

2013

Due  
within
1 year

$m

Due  
between

1 and 2 years
$m

Due  
between

3 and 5 years
$m

Due  
after 

5 years
$m

Total 
Undiscounted 

Cashflows
$m

Impact of 
other non-
cash items

$m

Impact of
Interest/FX 

discounting
$m

30 June 2013
Carrying 

Value
$m

Non-derivative Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 64.8 - - - 64.8 - - 64.8

Trade and Other Receivables 181.4 - - - 181.4 - - 181.4

Finance Lease Receivables 0.3 0.7 0.3 - 1.3 - (0.5) 0.8

246.5 0.7 0.3 - 247.5 - (0.5) 247.0

Derivative Financial Assets  
– Net Settled

Interest Rate Swaps/Options 5.1 4.6 2.8 0.2 12.7 - (3.3) 9.4

Electricity Derivatives (10.4) 37.5 32.5 28.1 87.7 78.0 (17.3) 148.4

(5.3) 42.1 35.3 28.3 100.4 78.0 (20.6) 157.8

Derivative Financial Assets  
– Gross Settled

Foreign Exchange Contracts

Inflows 88.6 21.7 - - 110.3

Outflows 79.6 20.1 - - 99.7

Net Inflows 9.0 1.6 - - 10.6 - 1.6 12.2

Cross Currency Interest Rate

Inflows 13.2 13.2 39.7 254.9 321.0

Outflows 9.6 11.3 41.8 287.2 349.9

Net Inflows/(Outflows) 3.6 1.9 (2.1) (32.3) (28.9) - 43.2 14.3

Total Financial Assets Parent 253.8 46.3 33.5 (4.0) 329.6 78.0 23.7 431.3

Non-derivative Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 318.0 - - - 318.0 - - 318.0

Trade and Other Receivables 80.5 - - - 80.5 - - 80.5

398.5 - - - 398.5 - - 398.5

Derivative Financial Assets  
– Net Settled

Interest Rate Swaps/Options - (0.4) 0.6 0.2 0.4 - 0.1 0.5

Electricity Derivatives 0.2 1.2 - - 1.4 (0.5) - 0.9

Total Financial Assets Group 652.5 47.1 34.1 (3.8) 729.9 77.5 23.8 831.2

The carrying value of all financial assets equals the fair value.
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26.  Financial Risk Management  (continued)

2012

Due  
within
1 year

$m

Due  
between

1 and 2 years
$m

Due  
between

3 and 5 years
$m

Due 
 after 

5 years
$m

Total 
Undiscounted 

Cashflows
$m

Impact of 
other non-
cash items

$m

Impact of
Interest/FX 

discounting
$m

30 June 2012
Carrying 

Value
$m

Non-derivative Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 86.4 - - - 86.4 - - 86.4

Trade and Other Receivables 276.7 - - - 276.7 - - 276.7

Finance Lease Receivables 0.6 1.3 1.9 7.6 11.4 - (6.0) 5.4

Available for Sale Investments 0.1 - - 3.5 3.6 - - 3.6

363.8 1.3 1.9 11.1 378.1 - (6.0) 372.1

Derivative Financial Assets  
– Net Settled

Interest Rate Swaps/Options 5.3 5.0 8.5 - 18.8 - (3.7) 15.1

Electricity Derivatives 4.7 8.6 16.7 (67.5) (37.5) 120.8 21.8 105.1

10.0 13.6 25.2 (67.5) (18.7) 120.8 18.1 120.2

Derivative Financial Assets  
– Gross Settled

Foreign Exchange Contracts

Inflows 2.7 - - - 2.7

Outflows 2.7 - - - 2.7

Net Inflows - - - - - - - -

Cross Currency Interest Rate

Inflows 22.0 74.4 177.5 258.9 532.8

Outflows 16.3 78.2 193.6 299.8 587.9

Net Inflows/(Outflows) 5.7 (3.8) (16.1) (40.9) (55.1) - 69.6 14.5

Total Financial Assets Parent 379.5 11.1 11.0 (97.3) 304.3 120.8 81.7 506.8

Non-derivative Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 128.0 - - - 128.0 - - 128.0

Trade and Other Receivables 21.4 - - - 21.4 - - 21.4

149.4 - - - 149.4 - - 149.4

Derivative Financial Assets – Net Settled

Electricity Derivatives 4.2 - - - 4.2 (4.2) (0.1) (0.1)

Total Financial Assets Group 533.1 11.1 11.0 (97.3) 457.9 116.6 81.6 656.1

The carrying value of all financial assets equals the fair value.

In both the asset and liability tables the Parent amounts are materially the same as the Group reported amounts except for AUD bank funding of $189.4 million 
(2012: $537.4 million), AUD interest rate swaps of $5.4 million (2012: ($69.2) million) and cash and cash equivalents of $318.0 million (2012: $128.0 million).

Meridian has substantial committed borrowing facilities available as described in note 25 preceding, of which $957.5 million was undrawn at 30 June 2013  
(30 June 2012: $397.1 million). Meridian expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows and maturing financial assets.

Market Risk

Foreign Exchange Risk
Meridian borrows in foreign currencies and  
is exposed to foreign exchange risks, primarily  
in respect of the US and Australian dollar.  
In addition, the Group incurs capital and 
operating expenditure denominated in foreign 
currencies which exposes the Group to foreign 
exchange risk primarily in respect of US dollars, 
Australian dollars and the Euro. Meridian does  
not enter into FECs for speculative purposes.

In respect of overseas borrowings, the Group’s 
policy is to hedge the foreign currency exposure  
of both interest and principal repayments.  
This is achieved through CCIRSs which swap  
all foreign currency denominated interest and 
principal repayments with New Zealand 
denominated payments over the life of the 
borrowings. The combination of the foreign 
denominated debt and the CCIRSs result in a 
Group exposure to New Zealand floating interest 
rates and a fixed New Zealand denominated 

principal repayment. The New Zealand floating 
interest rate risk is managed as part of the  
New Zealand interest rate risk as described  
in the following section.

Meridian establishes a combination of both cash 
flow and fair value hedges for the CCIRSs and the 
foreign denominated borrowings (refer to Note 27 
– Financial Instruments). The aggregate notional 
principal amount of the outstanding CCIRSs at  
30 June 2013 was $479.9 million (30 June 2012: 
$479.9 million).
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26.  Financial Risk Management  (continued)

In respect of foreign exchange exposures on 
capital and operating expenditures denominated 
in foreign currencies, Meridian hedges the foreign 
exchange risk through a combination of FECs and 
options. Capital projects which are approved by 
the Board are hedged. All committed foreign 
currency exposures of greater than $0.1 million 
NZD equivalent are hedged. The aggregate 
notional principal amount of the outstanding FECs 
at 30 June 2013 was $174.6 million (30 June 2012: 
$84.5 million).

In cases where the capital expenditure qualifies  
as a highly probable transaction or a firm 
commitment, Meridian establishes a combination 
of both cash flow and fair value hedges. To the 

extent these hedges are effective, gains and losses 
on the derivatives are included as a component  
of the cost of the capital expenditure. In instances 
where the forecast capital expenditure does not 
meet the highly probable requirements, hedge 
accounting is not sought and the derivatives are 
classified as held for trading (refer to Note 27 – 
Financial Instruments).

The Group has monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in Australian and US dollars as at  
30 June 2013. These monetary assets and liabilities 
have been converted to New Zealand dollars at 
closing exchange rates of AUD 0.8460 and USD 
0.7738 (30 June 2012: AUD 0.7831, USD 0.8015).

The values of foreign currency derivatives  
are sensitive to changes in the forward prices  
for currencies. The table below summarises  
the impact of a 20% increase / decrease  
in the New Zealand dollar against the forward 
price of the US dollar and the Euro as at 30 June,  
on the Group’s profit and equity on the assumption 
that all other variables are held constant.

As previously noted, Meridian’s CCIRSs and foreign 
denominated borrowings are in a combination of a 
fair value hedge and cash flow hedge relationship. 
A 20% increase/decrease in movement in currency 
does not materially impact NPAT or Equity.

Sensitivity Analysis – Foreign Currency

Impact on After Tax Profit Impact on Equity

2013
%

2013
 $m

2012
%

2012
$m

2013
%

2013
 $m

2012
%

2012
$m

NZ Dollar / US Dollar -20% 0.7 -20% 0.7 -20% 3.1 -20% 3.2

 +20% (0.5) +20% (0.5) +20% (2.1) +20% (2.2)

NZ Dollar / Australian Dollar -20% - -20% 0.1 -20% - -20% -

+20% - +20% (0.1) +20% - +20% -

NZ Dollar / Euro -20% 0.1 -20% - -20% 10.8 -20% 12.2

+20% (0.1) +20% - +20% (7.2) +20% (12.2)

AUD / Euro -20% - -20% - -20% 19.0 -20% -

+20% - +20% - +20% (12.6) +20% -

Cash Flow and Interest Rate Risk
Meridian’s primary interest rate risk arises from 
long term borrowings which are sourced at both 
fixed interest rates and floating interest rates.  
In addition, as described in the section above,  
the combination of foreign denominated 
borrowings and the CCIRSs result in an exposure 
to floating interest rates in the currency of the 
funding’s ultimate destination. Borrowings in 
floating New Zealand or Australian interest rates 
expose Meridian to risk of changes in the fair value 
of the debt issued. Meridian does not enter into 
interest rate hedges for speculative purposes.

Interest rate risk is managed on a dynamic  
basis and various scenarios are simulated  
taking consideration of existing and forecast  
debt requirements, existing hedge positions, 
forecast interest rates and in accordance  
with the Board approved policies. 

In accordance with the Board policy, Meridian 
manages its exposure to interest rate risk by 
identifying a core level of debt and using IRSs that 
apply minimum and maximum bands of interest 
rate (hedge) cover to fix interest rates. 

Interest rate sensitivity of borrowings is 
considered to be minimal due to a significant 
portion of total borrowings being hedged.

The majority of Meridian IRSs are not designated 
as hedges for accounting purposes and are 
therefore classified as held for trading. In the  
case of Macarthur Wind Farm Project Financing, 
Meridian has established cash flow hedges for  
the IRSs and related debt (see Note 27 for further 
detail). The aggregate notional principal amount 
of the outstanding IRSs at 30 June 2013 was 
$1,866.4 million (30 June 2012: $2,460.8 million).

The table below summarises the impact of 
increases / decreases in the forward price of 
interest, using the benchmark bank bill rate 
(BKBM), as at 30 June, on Meridian’s profit and 
equity on the assumption that all other variables 
are held constant.
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26.  Financial Risk Management  (continued)

Sensitivity Analysis – Interest rates

Group and Parent

Impact on After Tax Profit Impact on Equity

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

New Zealand BKBM -100 bps (34.7) (66.5) (34.7) (66.5)

+100 bps 32.3 61.9 32.3 61.9

Australian BBSY -100 bps (6.6) (4.1) (6.6) (7.5)

+100 bps 6.2 3.8 6.2 7.0

Price Risk
Meridian is exposed to movements in the spot 
price of electricity arising through the sale and 
purchase of electricity to and from the market. 
Meridian manages this exposure by entering into 
electricity derivative contracts to manage the  
net risk. Meridian does not enter into derivative 
contracts for speculative purposes.

The derivative contracts include both forward 
electricity CfDs traded on the ASX (Australian 
Securities Exchange), FTRs under the NZX auction 
process and bi-lateral derivative contracts 
(including options) with other electricity 
generators and major customers. Meridian 
estimates both expected generation and electricity 
purchase requirements and determines its net 
position of generation less sales. Based on this net 
position, Meridian enters into derivative contracts 
to protect against price volatility within trading 
parameters set and monitored by the Board. 

Although Meridian considers itself economically 
hedged in relation to electricity price risk, for 
accounting purposes, all of the CfDs are classified 
as held for trading, with movements in fair value 
recognised in the income statement.

Due to cessation of hedge accounting the balance 
held in the cash flow hedge reserve is amortised 
as contract volumes expire over the remaining  
life of the respective contracts.

The values of the derivative contracts are sensitive 
to changes in the forward prices for electricity, 
interest rates and, in the case of one CfD (NZAS 
contract), the aluminium price published on the 
London Metal Exchange (LME). Meridian is 
progressively mitigating some of this exposure 
through the use of Aluminium Commodity Swaps 
(ACSs) as economic hedges against the aluminium 
price component of the NZAS contract. The ACSs 
are not designated as hedging instruments and  
are therefore classified as held for trading.

The aggregate notional volume of the outstanding 
electricity derivatives at 30 June 2013 is 52,016GWh 
(Group, 2012: 113,673GWh) and 50,838GWh  
(Parent, 2012: 114,173GWh). One contract makes  
up 17,059GWh of these totals in both the Group 
and the Parent (2012: 75,224GWh).

The aggregate notional principal amount  
of the outstanding ACSs at 30 June 2013 was 
$436.0 million (30 June 2012: $494.2 million).

The table below summarises the impact of 
increases / (decreases) in changes to certain 
assumptions as at 30 June on Meridian’s profit  
and equity, on the assumption that all other 
variables are held constant and Meridian’s current 
accounting policies are followed as stated. Post 
tax profit and equity would increase / (decrease) 
as shown in the table below due to unrealised 
gains/losses on CfDs and ACSs held for trading.

Sensitivity Analysis – Electricity and Aluminium price risk

GRoup Parent

Impact on After  
Tax Profit

Impact on  
Equity

Impact on After  
Tax Profit

Impact on  
Equity

ACSs and all CfDs held for trading
2013 

$m
2012 

$m
2013 

$m
2012 

$m
2013 

$m
2012 

$m
2013 

$m
2012 

$m

Electricity Prices -10% 16.9 93.9 16.9 93.9 15.0 96.6 15.0 96.6

+10% (13.7) (93.5) (13.7) (93.5) (12.0) (96.0) (12.0) (96.0)

Interest Rates (discount rate) -100 bps 0.1 (23.5) 0.1 (23.5) 0.1 (23.4) 0.1 (23.4)

+100 bps (0.1) 21.0 (0.1) 21.0 (0.1) 21.1 (0.1) 21.1

Aluminium LME -10% 23.1 (11.2) 23.1 (11.2) 23.1 (11.2) 23.1 (11.2)

+10% (23.1) 11.2 (23.1) 11.2 (23.1) 11.2 (23.1) 11.2

Level 3 CfDs only

Electricity Prices -10% 18.3 97.9 18.3 97.9 18.0 100.6 18.0 100.6

+10% (15.2) (97.5) (15.2) (97.5) (15.0) (100.0) (15.0) (100.0)

Interest Rates (discount rate) -100 bps (1.0) (24.3) (1.0) (24.3) (1.0) (24.2) (1.0) (24.2)

+100 bps 1.0 21.8 1.0 21.8 1.0 21.8 1.0 21.8

Aluminium LME -10% (5.9) (43.5) (5.9) (43.5) (5.9) (43.5) (5.9) (43.5)

+10% 5.9 43.5 5.9 43.5 5.9 43.5 5.9 43.5
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Credit Risk
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis.  
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
derivative financial instruments and deposits with 
banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to wholesale and retail customers, 
including derivatives which have a positive  
value, outstanding receivables and committed 
transactions. For banks and financial institutions, 
only independently rated parties with a minimum 
rating of ‘A’ are accepted and where wholesale 
customers are independently rated, these ratings 

are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent 
rating, the Credit Management Unit assesses the 
credit quality of the customer, taking into account 
its financial position, past experience and other 
factors. Individual risk limits are set based on 
internal or external ratings in accordance with 
limits set by the Board. The utilisation of credit 
limits and provision of prudential security by 
wholesale customers is regularly monitored  
by line management. Credit risk surrounding  
the sales to retail customers is predominantly 
mitigated by the accounts being settled on a 

monthly basis. Retail credit management 
continually monitors the size and nature of the 
exposure and acts to mitigate the risk deemed  
to be over acceptable levels.

The carrying amounts of financial assets 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
best represents Meridian’s maximum likely 
exposure to credit risk at the date of this  
report. Meridian does not have any significant 
concentrations of credit risk with any  
one financial institution.

Valuation Input Source

Forward wholesale electricity price Market (Australian Securities Exchange (ASX)) quoted prices where available and Meridian’s  
best estimate based on a fundamental analysis of expected demand and cost of new supply

Financial Transmission Right price Market (NZX) quoted prices

Forward aluminium price Market (London Metal Exchange (LME)) quoted prices where available and Meridian’s  
best estimate of non-observable period using a historical trend analysis to form future  
price expectations

Interest rate forward price curve Published market swap rates

Foreign exchange forward prices Published forward exchange market rates

Discount rates for valuing contracts Government Bond Rates adjusted for additional risks including credit risk and duration of contract

Discount rate for valuing NZAS pricing arrangement Meridian’s weighted average cost of capital

Discount rate for valuing interest rate contracts Published market interest rates as applicable to the remaining life of the instrument

Discount rate for valuing foreign exchange contracts Published market interest rates as applicable to the remaining life of the instrument

27.  Financial Instruments

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

NZ IFRS 7 provides for a three-level fair value 
hierarchy of valuation data inputs that requires 
financial instrument’s inputs to be categorised  
as follows:

•	 Level 1 Inputs – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities

•	 Level 2 Inputs – Either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) observable 
inputs other than quoted prices included in 
Level 1

•	 Level 3 Inputs – Inputs for the asset or liability 
that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs)

Where the fair value of a financial instrument is 
calculated as the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows of the instrument, two key types 
of variables are used by the valuation technique. 
These are:

•	 forward price curve; and 

•	 discount rates

Where possible observable market data  
is used when selecting variables and developing 
assumptions for valuation techniques.
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The table below shows the fair value hierarchy of the financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value by the Group:

Group 2013 Group 2012

Derivative Financial Instruments
Level 1

$m
Level 2

$m
Level 3

$m
30 June 2013

$m
Level 1

$m
 Level2

$m
Level3

$m
 30 June 2012 

$m

Assets:

Held for Trading

CfDs 3.7 62.6 83.0 149.3 - 36.6 68.4 105.0

Interest Rate Swaps - 9.9 - 9.9 - 15.1 - 15.1

Foreign Exchange Contracts - 0.1 - 0.1 - - - -

Cash Flow Hedges

CfDs - - - - - - - -

Foreign Exchange Contracts - 12.1 - 12.1 - - - -

Fair Value Hedges

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps - 14.3 - 14.3 - 14.5 - 14.5

Total 3.7 99.0 83.0 185.7 - 66.2 68.4 134.6

Liabilities:

Held for Trading

CfDs 7.3 0.3 62.9 70.5 6.5 0.3 71.4 78.2

Interest Rate Swaps - 89.6 - 89.6 - 138.2 - 138.2

Foreign Exchange Contracts - - - - - 0.1 - 0.1

Cash Flow Hedges

CfDs - - - - - - (1.1) (1.1)

Interest Rate Swaps - - - - - 63.3 - 63.3

Foreign Exchange Contracts - 0.7 - 0.7 - 2.9 - 2.9

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps - 1.4 - 1.4 - - - -

Fair Value Hedges

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps - 7.3 - 7.3 - - - -

Total 7.3 99.3 62.9 169.5 6.5 204.8 70.3 281.6

Available for Sale Financial Assets:

Listed Securities - - - - 0.1 - - 0.1

Unlisted Securities - - - - - 3.5 - 3.5

Total - - - - 0.1 3.5 - 3.6

The fair value element of borrowings which are subject to fair value hedge accounting are a level 2 valuation.

27.  Financial Instruments  (continued)
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27.  Financial Instruments  (continued)

The table below shows the fair value hierarchy of the financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value by the Parent:

parent 2013 parent 2012

Derivative Financial Instruments
Level 1

$m
Level 2

$m
Level 3

$m
30 June 2013

$m
Level 1

$m
 Level2

$m
Level3

$m
 30 June 2012 

$m

Assets:

Held for Trading

CfDs 3.3 62.6 82.5 148.4 - 36.6 68.5 105.1

Interest Rate Swaps - 9.4 - 9.4 - 15.1 - 15.1

Foreign Exchange Contracts - 12.2 - 12.2 - - - -

Cash Flow Hedges

CfDs - - - - - - - -

Fair Value Hedges

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps - 14.3 - 14.3 14.5 14.5

Total 3.3 98.5 82.5 184.3 - 66.2 68.5 134.7

Liabilities:

Held for Trading

CfDs 7.2 0.3 62.9 70.4 6.5 0.3 70.8 77.6

Interest Rate Swaps - 84.2 - 84.2 - 132.3 - 132.3

Foreign Exchange Contracts - 12.1 - 12.1 - 0.1 - 0.1

Cash Flow Hedges

CfDs - - - - - - (1.1) (1.1)

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps - 1.4 - 1.4 - - - -

Foreign Exchange Contracts - 0.7 - 0.7 - 2.9 - 2.9

Fair Value Hedges

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps - 7.3 - 7.3 - - - -

Total 7.2 106.0 62.9 176.1 6.5 135.6 69.7 211.8

Available for Sale Financial Assets:

Listed Securities - - - - 0.1 - - 0.1

Unlisted Securities - - - - - 3.5 - 3.5

Total - - - - 0.1 3.5 - 3.6

The fair value element of borrowings which are subject to fair value hedge accounting are a level 2 valuation.



MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2013

PG 78

27.  Financial Instruments  (continued)

The table below shows the changes in the fair value of financial instruments recognised in the Income Statement.

group parent

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Fair value hedge

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps 57.5 (9.3) 57.5 (9.3)

Borrowings – Fair Value of Hedged Risk (57.4) 9.3 (57.4) 9.3

0.1 - 0.1 -

Cash flow hedge

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps (margin) - - - -

Held for trading

Interest Rate Swaps 42.6 (68.0) 42.4 (61.3)

Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments Gain/(Loss) – Financing 42.7 (68.0) 42.5 (61.3)

Held for trading

Foreign Exchange Contracts 0.3 (0.2) 0.3 (0.2)

Other (0.8) - (0.8) -

CfDs – NZAS Contract 56.2 29.6 56.2 29.6

CfDs – Aluminium 27.6 87.1 27.6 87.1

CfDs – Other (32.2) 4.8 (33.6) 7.9

Net Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments Gain/(Loss) – Operational 51.1 121.3 49.7 124.4

Total Unrealised Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Instruments 93.8 53.3 92.2 63.1

Included in the above is $22.7 million Group  
(2012: $39.8 million) and $22.3 million Parent 
(2012:$41.1 million) related to Level 3 financial 
instruments held at year end.

The table below shows a reconciliation of fair value movements in Level 3 financial instruments.

group parent

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Energy Derivatives (CfDs)

Opening Balance (1.9) (48.2) (1.2) (50.7)

Total Gains/(Losses) recognised in the Income Statement

Included in Energy Sales Revenue (56.7) (54.7) (53.7) (79.1)

Net Change in Fair Value of CfDs 22.9 39.6 21.9 42.7

Total Gains/(Losses) recognised in the Cash Flow Hedge Reserve (1.1) 0.8 (1.1) 0.8

Total Gains/(Losses) recognised in the FX Translation Reserve - (0.1) - -

CfDs settled during the year 56.7 54.7 53.7 79.1

CfDs entered into during the year 0.2 6.0 - 6.0

Closing Balance 20.1 (1.9) 19.6 (1.2)

Refer to previous Electricity price risk sensitivity 
analysis (in Note 26 - Financial Risk Management) 
for sensitivity to changes in valuation assumptions 
of Level 3 financial instruments (CfDs).
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27.  Financial Instruments  (continued)

The table below shows the aggregate valuation difference arising on initial recognition of financial instruments (under the recalibration method),  
yet to be recognised in the Income Statement:

group parent

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Opening Difference 119.4 69.6 124.7 73.7

Initial Difference on New Hedges 0.1 8.7 0.1 19.5

Volumes Expired during the Period (26.3) (14.5) (31.5) (18.7)

Recalibration of Model for Future Price Estimates and Time (23.3) 55.6 (23.4) 50.2

Closing Difference 69.9 119.4 69.9 124.7

NZAS Agreement

On 1 October 2007, Meridian and New Zealand 
Aluminium Smelters (NZAS) entered into an 
electricity price agreement (which includes a  
CfD) based on 572MW of continuous consumption  
at the smelter, therefore providing NZAS price 
certainty for this consumption volume which NZAS 
is responsible for purchasing from the national 
wholesale market. The agreement is for a period 
of up to eighteen years and took effect on  
1 January 2013. 

Under the previous contract which expired on  
31 December 2012, Meridian was responsible for 
delivered energy supply to the smelter. This means 
Meridian was responsible for the electricity,  
its quality, and its transmission to the smelter.

At 30 June 2013, the carrying value of the CfD is as follows:

30 June 2013
$m

30 June 2012
$m

1 October 2007
$m

Present Value of Estimated Cash Flows (104.8) (559.9) (515.0)

Less: Day 1 adjustment 116.1 515.0 515.0

Carrying Value 11.3 (44.9) -

Whilst there are projected negative cash flows on 
the CfD against Meridian’s forecast forward price 
curve, the contract with NZAS will have a positive 
impact on Meridian’s cash flows which will more 
than offset the settlements expected under the 
CfD. The present value of estimated cash flows 
and amortisation of the Day 1 adjustment for the 
year ended 30 June 2013 were reviewed in light of 
the current contract negotiations noted above. 

The outcome is a reduction in the present value of 
the estimated cash flows and acceleration in the 
amortisation of the Day 1 adjustment to reflect a 
change in the assumption of contract duration and 
consequently the total expected electricity 
volume consumption compared to when the 
adjustment was originally recognised at contract 
inception. 

Day 1 Adjustment  
– NZAS Pricing Agreement
A Day 1 adjustment arises when an electricity 
derivative is entered into at a fair value 
determined to be different to the transaction 
price. The Day 1 adjustment is amortised to profit 
and loss as electricity volumes contracted in  
the derivative expire. The carrying value of the 
derivative is disclosed net of the Day 1 adjustment. 

This contract was still in force at 30 June 2013 and 
is therefore valued in the Statement of Financial 
Position, in accordance with NZ IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
Subsequent to 30 June, a new contract has been 
agreed with NZAS (see note 30).

The agreed base price of the 1 October 2007 
contract was subject to escalation with reference 
to a multi-year average market price for electricity 
in New Zealand, the world price for aluminium  
(as determined by an independent benchmark), 
and a component as a proxy for price inflation. 

Meridian considered this formula would best 
ensure that the electricity price NZAS pays will 
remain competitive for electricity demand of  
the unique type created by the smelter, while 

recognising both the commodity-price driven 
cycles of NZAS’s business environment and  
the wholesale electricity price cycles to which 
Meridian is exposed. 

Accounting Treatment  
of NZAS Contract 
The 2007 agreement with NZAS includes a CfD 
which has been accounted for at fair value in 
accordance with NZ IAS 39. Fair value changes 
subsequent to initial recognition are recognised  
in the income statement. 

The application of NZ IAS 39 only considers the 
CfD part of the agreement and does not consider 
the value of the agreement to Meridian as a whole. 
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The aggregate Day 1 adjustment and movement for the year are disclosed below.

group and parent

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Opening Balance 515.0 515.0

Additions During the Year - -

Amortised During the Year (398.9) -

Closing Balance 116.1 515.0

Cash Flow Hedging

Cash Flow Hedges – CfDs
Meridian currently sells and purchases electricity 
at spot prices from the market exposing it to 
changes in the price of electricity. As described  
in Note 26 – Financial Risk Management, it is 
Group policy to manage this risk on a net basis by 
entering into CfDs which swap receipt (payment) 
of spot electricity prices based on a specified 
volume of electricity with fixed electricity 
payments (receipts) for an equivalent volume. 
Cash settlements are made on these instruments 
on a monthly basis and impact income on an 
accrual basis. As discussed in Note 26 – Financial 
Risk Management, for accounting purposes,  
all of the CfDs are classified as held for trading 
with movements in fair value recognised in the 
income statement. Due to cessation of hedge 
accounting the balance in the cash flow hedge 
reserve is amortised as contract volumes expire 
over the remaining life of the respective contracts.

Cash Flow Hedges – FECs
Meridian hedges highly probable forecast capital 
expenditures through a combination of forward 
exchange contracts and foreign currency options. 
The cash flows associated with these contracts 
are timed to mature when payment for the capital 
expenditure is made. The contracts range in 
maturity from 0 to 36 months. For contracts 
designated as hedges for accounting purposes, 
when the cash flows occur Meridian adjusts the 
carrying value of the asset acquired.

Cash Flow Hedges – CCIRSs
Meridian hedges its foreign currency exposure  
on foreign currency denominated debt using 
CCIRSs in a combination of cash flow and fair  
value hedges. The cash flow hedge component 
represents the expected foreign currency cash 
flows on the debt relating to the credit margin 
paid by Meridian on the borrowings. Cash flows 
relating to the debt and the CCIRSs are settled 
quarterly for the NZ cash flows and semi-annually 
for the foreign currency (US and Australian 
dollars). Income is affected by these settlements 
on an accrual basis.

Cash Flow Hedges – IRSs
Meridian hedges its interest rate exposure  
on debt using IRSs. Cash flow hedges were 
established in relation to the Macarthur Wind 
Farm Project Financing, construction and term 
facilities and related IRS. Cash flows relating  
to the debt and the IRSs are settled monthly. 
Income is affected by these settlements on  
an accrual basis.

The table below shows the movements in the cash flow hedge (CFH) reserve for the period.

GROUP

IRSs
$m

FECs
$m

DEBT – CFH  
OF MARGIN

$m
CFDs

$m
TAX
$m

TOTAL
$m

Opening Balance at 1 July 2012 (63.2) (2.9) 5.2 1.1 18.0 (41.8)

Amount Recognised in Equity 19.0 (11.2) (3.8) - (1.2) 2.8

Amount Removed from Equity:

–	 Amortised to Income Statement - - - (1.1) 0.3 (0.8)

–	 Included in Initial Cost of Assets - 25.4 - - (7.7) 17.7

Transfer Cash Flow Hedge Reserve to  
Retained Earnings on Sale of Subsidiary 44.2 - - - (13.2) 31.0

Closing Balance at 30 June 2013 - 11.3 1.4 - (3.8) 8.9

Ineffectiveness Recognised in the  
Income Statement from Cash Flow Hedges - - - - - -

27.  Financial Instruments  (continued)
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GROUP

IRSs
$m

FECs
$m

DEBT – CFH OF 
MARGIN

$m
CFDs

$m
TAX
$m

TOTAL
$m

Opening Balance at 1 July 2011 - 1.3 (1.9) 0.3 0.1 (0.2)

Amount Recognised in Equity (63.2) (5.0) 7.1 - 18.4 (42.7)

Amount Removed from Equity:

–	 Amortised to Income Statement - - - 0.8 (0.2) 0.6

–	 Included in Initial Cost of Assets - 0.8 - - (0.3) 0.5

Closing Balance at 30 June 2012 (63.2) (2.9) 5.2 1.1 18.0 (41.8)

Ineffectiveness Recognised in the  
Income Statement from Cash Flow Hedges - - - - - -

PARENT

FECs
$m

DEBT – CFH 
OF MARGIN

$m
CFDs

$m
TAX
$m

TOTAL
$m

Opening Balance at 1 July 2012 (2.9) 5.2 1.1 (1.0) 2.4

Amount Recognised in Equity (6.1) (3.8) - 2.8 (7.1)

Amount Removed from Equity:

–	 Amortised to Income Statement - - (1.1) 0.3 (0.8)

–	 Included in Initial Cost of Assets 8.1 - - (2.3) 5.8

Closing Balance at 30 June 2013 (0.9) 1.4 - (0.2) 0.3

Ineffectiveness Recognised in the  
Income Statement from Cash Flow Hedges - - - - -

PARENT

FECs
$m

DEBT – CFH  
OF MARGIN

$m
CFDs

$m
TAX
$m

TOTAL
$m

Opening Balance at 1 July 2011 1.3 (1.9) 0.3 0.1 (0.2)

Amount Recognised in Equity (5.0) 7.1 - (0.6) 1.5

Amount Removed from Equity:

–	 Amortised to Income Statement - - 0.8 (0.2) 0.6

–	 Included in Initial Cost of Assets 0.8 - - (0.3) 0.5

Closing Balance at 30 June 2012 (2.9) 5.2 1.1 (1.0) 2.4

Ineffectiveness Recognised in the  
Income Statement from Cash Flow Hedges - - - - -

27.  Financial Instruments  (continued)
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2013

LESS THAN 
1 YEAR  

$m

 
1-2 YEARS 

$m
2-5 YEARS  

$m

GREATER  
THAN 5 YEARS  

$m

CfDs - - - -

CCIRSs 0.2 - 0.4 0.8

FECs (0.6) (0.1) - -

Total Parent (0.4) (0.1) 0.4 0.8

FECs 9.7 2.3 - -

Total Group 9.3 2.2 0.4 0.8

2012

LESS THAN 
1 YEAR  

$m

 
1-2 YEARS 

$m
2-5 YEARS  

$m

GREATER  
THAN 5 YEARS  

$m

CfDs 1.1 - - -

CCIRSs - 0.3 1.2 3.8

FECs (0.3) (1.8) (0.8) -

Total Parent 0.8 (1.5) 0.4 3.8

IRS (1.8) - - (61.5)

Total Group (1.0) (1.5) 0.4 (57.7)

27.  Financial Instruments  (continued)

Meridian leases office buildings with terms of  
the leases ranging from one to twelve years,  
with options to extend up to twelve years.  
Lease contracts contain rent review clauses 

including consumer price index increases  
and market rental reviews in the event Meridian 
exercises its options to renew.

28.  Commitments

group parent

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Operating Lease Commitments

Non Cancellable Operating Lease Payments are as follows:

Less than One Year 4.6 4.8 3.7 3.9

Later than One Year and Not Later than Three Years 8.6 7.2 7.2 6.0

Later than Three Years and Not Later than Five Years 6.9 5.5 6.0 5.2

More than Five Years 3.5 6.7 3.3 5.9

23.6 24.2 20.2 21.0

The table below shows when the gross amounts held in the cash flow hedge reserve are expected to impact the income statement (CfDs and CCIRSs)  
or the Statement of Financial Position (FECs and IRSs).
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group parent

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Capital Expenditure Commitments

Property, Plant and Equipment 230.1 78.3 15.4 14.9

Software 3.9 0.7 3.9 0.7

234.0 79.0 19.3 15.6

Less than One Year 182.5 68.8 18.3 15.4

Later than One Year and Not Later than Three Years 51.5 10.2 1.0 0.2

Later than Three Years and Not Later than Five Years - - - -

More than Five Years - - - -

234.0 79.0 19.3 15.6

28.  Commitments  (continued)

Guarantees

Meridian Wind Macarthur Pty Limited had various 
obligations arising from the joint venture with AGL 
Energy Limited (disclosed above). These included 
performance and funding obligations under the 
joint venture deed, obligations to contractors in 
relation to the construction of the wind farm, and 
obligations under various landowner agreements. 
Meridian Energy Limited had provided various 
guarantees and letters of comfort to the relevant 

parties that effectively guarantee the obligations 
of Meridian Wind Macarthur Pty Limited.  
These obligations ceased when Three Rivers 
Holdings No 2 Limited sold Meridian Wind 
Macarthur Holdings Pty Limited.

Meridian Energy Limited has provided parent 
guarantees for various construction and grid 
connection obligations of Mt Mercer Wind Farm 
Pty Limited. The maximum liability under these 
guarantees is $221.9 million (2012: $Nil).

Three River Holdings No 2 Limited has provided  
a bank guarantee (A$37.9 million) to the financiers  
of the Macarthur Wind Farm, guaranteeing that  
it will comply with its various obligations under  
the Refinancing Coordination Deed (with that 
guarantee expected to be released in Q4 2013).

29.  Related Party Transactions

Transactions with Related Parties

Meridian transacts with other Government  
owned or related entities independently and  
on an arm’s length basis. Transactions cover  
a variety of services including trading energy, 
postal, travel and tax.

Entity Transaction $m Details of Transaction

Damwatch Services Limited Consultancy Services $1.6
Damwatch Services Limited provided consultancy services to Meridian 
Energy Limited during the year totalling $1.6 million (2012: $2.2 million).

Meridian Energy Captive Insurance 
Limited

Insurance Services $5.9
Meridian Energy Captive Insurance Limited (MECIL) received payment for 
insurance premiums from Meridian Energy Limited. MECIL has this policy 
underwritten by third parties (2012: $5.0 million).

Arc Innovations Limited Meter management Services $21.9
Arc Innovations Limited provided advanced meter management services 
to Meridian Energy Limited during the year totalling $21.9 million  
(2012: $7.8 million)

Powershop New Zealand Limited Online Electricity Retailer $2.8
Powershop New Zealand Limited entered into energy contracts  
with Meridian Energy Limited during the year totalling $2.8 million  
(2012: $12.8 million)

Mt Mercer Windfarm Pty Limited Foreign Exchange Contracts $12.1
Mt Mercer Windfarm Pty Limited entered into foreign exchange contracts 
with Meridian Energy Limited during the year totalling $12.1 million  
(2012: nil)

Some directors of the Group may be directors  
or officers of other companies or organisations 
with whom members of the Group may transact. 
Such transactions are all carried out 
independently on an arm’s length basis.

Other Transactions  
involving a Related Party

During the financial year the transactions outlined 
in the table below occurred between the Parent 
and its subsidiaries. These transactions are carried 
out on a commercial and arm’s length basis.
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Subsidiaries Loan  
Facilities and Advances 

Advances to Subsidiaries are repayable on demand 
and are unsecured. Interest is charged at an 

annually set base rate plus a margin and is payable 
on demand. Advances from Subsidiaries are 
repayable on demand, are unsecured and attract  
a market rate of return. Interest is paid on demand.

Total undrawn loan facilities  
to Subsidiaries total $72.0 million  
(2012: $99.3 million).

parent

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Loans and Advances to Subsidiaries

Loan to Three Rivers No 1 Limited 380.3 351.5

Loan to Three Rivers No 2 Limited 0.8 0.7

Loan to Meridian Energy Captive Insurance Limited 1.9 -

Loan to MEL Solar Holdings Limited 27.0 29.1

Loan to Powershop New Zealand Limited 0.5 -

Other Advances to Subsidiaries 1.5 11.6

Total Loans and Advances to Subsidiaries 412.0 392.9

Advances from Subsidiaries

Meridian Energy International Limited 219.2 219.2

Meridian Energy Captive Insurance Limited - 2.9

Arc Innovations Limited 9.3 2.6

Damwatch Services Limited 0.3 -

Whisper Tech Limited 0.2 0.2

Powershop New Zealand Limited - 2.5

Energy for Industry Limited - 0.5

Other Advances from Subsidiaries - 0.6

Total Advances from Subsidiaries 229.0 228.5

Impairment

Loans and Advances to Subsidiaries have been 
impaired by a total of $2.0 million in 2013 (2012: 
$54.4 million), in respect of MEL Solar Holdings 
Limited (2012: $27.4 million). In 2012 WhisperGen 
Limited was impaired $12.2 million and Whisper 
Tech Limited $14.8 million. Refer to Note 4 for 
further details of these impairments.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows:

group parent

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

2013 
$m

2012 
$m

Directors Fees 0.6 0.8 0.5 0.4

Chief Executive Officer, Senior Management Team and Subsidiary Chief Executives:

Salaries and Short Term Benefits 8.9 7.8 6.2 5.4

Redundancy Benefits - 0.4 - 0.2

Other Long Term Benefits - 0.2 - 0.2

8.9 8.4 6.2 5.8
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30.  Subsequent Events

NZAS

In July 2012, Meridian Energy Limited was 
approached by Pacific Aluminium Pty Limited,  
a business unit of Rio Tinto Limited, the majority 
shareholder of New Zealand Aluminium Smelters 
Limited (NZAS), to discuss potential changes  
to the electricity price agreement held with the 
smelter. The outcome of negotiations is that  
a new electricity price agreement was agreed 
between the parties on 7 August 2013, replacing 
the previous agreement which took effect on  
1 January 2013. 

31.  Contingent Assets and Liabilities

Contingent Assets

There were no contingent assets at 30 June 2013 
(2012: nil).

Contingent Liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities at  
30 June 2013 (2012: $14 million).

The contingent liability of $14 million reported at 
30 June 2012 was in regard to a group of market 
participants appeal to the High Court on prices  
in excess of $19,000/MWh bid into the wholesale 
electricity market. The appeal was subsequently 
withdrawn resulting in no liability to the Group.

As at 30 June 2013, the agreement which took 
effect on 1 January 2013 was still in place. Under  
NZ IAS39 this contract has been recognised in  
the Statement of Financial Position (see note 27).  
The new agreement of 7 August 2013 only  
became effective on 1 July 2013 and has not been 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Dividends

On 11 August the Board declared a dividend  
of $152.6 million payable on 30 September 2013.  
The payment of the dividend will not have tax 
consequences for the Group other than reducing 
the imputation credit balance. 

There have been no other material events 
subsequent to 30 June 2013.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MERIDIAN ENERGY LIMITED  
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
The Auditor–General is the auditor of Meridian Energy Limited (the “Company”) and Group. The Auditor–General has appointed me, Michael Wilkes,  
using the staff and resources of Deloitte, to carry out the audit of the financial statements of the Company and Group, on her behalf. 

We have audited the financial statements of the Company and Group on pages 32 to 85, that comprise the statement of financial position  
as at 30 June 2013, the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows  
for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Opinion 

Financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements of the 
Company and Group on pages 32 to 85:

•	 comply with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand;

•	 comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards; and

•	 give a true and fair view of the Company  
and Group’s:
–	 financial position as at 30 June 2013; and
–	 financial performance and cash flows for  

the year ended on that date.

Other legal requirements
In accordance with the Financial Reporting  
Act 1993 we report that, in our opinion, proper 
accounting records have been kept by the 
company and group as far as appears from  
an examination of those records.

Our audit was completed on 11 August 2013.  
This is the date at which our opinion  
is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below.  
In addition, we outline the responsibilities of 
the Board of Directors and our responsibilities, 
and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance  
with the Auditor–General’s Auditing  
Standards which incorporate the  
International Standards on Auditing  
(New Zealand). Those standards require  
that we comply with ethical requirements  
and plan and carry out our audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether  
the financial statements are free from  
material misstatement. 

Material misstatements are differences  
or omissions of amounts and disclosures  
that, in our judgement, are likely to influence 
shareholders’ overall understanding of the 
financial statements. If we had found material 
misstatements that were not corrected,  
we would have referred to them in our opinion.

An audit involves carrying out procedures  
to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements.  

The procedures selected depend on our 
judgement, including our assessment of risks  
of material misstatement of the financial 
statements whether due to fraud or error.  
In making those risk assessments, we consider 
internal control relevant to the preparation of 
the Company and Group’s financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the matters to 
which they relate. We consider internal control 
in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company and Group’s 
internal control.

An audit also involves evaluating:

•	 the appropriateness of accounting  
policies used and whether they have  
been consistently applied;

•	 the reasonableness of the significant 
accounting estimates and judgements  
made by the Board of Directors;

•	 the adequacy of all disclosures in the 
financial statements; and

•	 the overall presentation of the  
financial statements.

We did not examine every transaction,  
nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the 
financial statements. Also we do not evaluate 
the security and controls over the electronic 
publication of the financial statements.

In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 
1993, we report that we have obtained all the 
information and explanations we have required. 
We believe we have obtained sufficient and 
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of  
the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for 
preparing financial statements that:

•	 comply with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand; and

•	 give a true and fair view of the Company 
and Group’s financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows.

The Board of Directors is also responsible  
for such internal control as it determines  

is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
The Board of Directors is also responsible for 
the publication of the financial statements, 
whether in printed or electronic form.

The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise 
from the State–Owned Enterprises Act 1986  
and the Financial Reporting Act 1993. 

Responsibilities of the Auditor
We are responsible for expressing an 
independent opinion on the financial 
statements and reporting that opinion to you 
based on our audit. Our responsibility arises 
from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001  
and section 19(1) of the State–Owned 
Enterprises Act 1986.

Independence
When carrying out the audit we followed the 
independence requirements of the Auditor–
General, which incorporate the independence 
requirements of the External Reporting Board.

In addition to the audit, our firm carries out 
other assurance assignments for the Company 
and Group in the areas of carbon emissions 
audit, review of the interim financial 
statements, audit of the securities registers,  
in connection with the prospectus and has 
been appointed as the investigating accountant 
in respect of the proposed public offer, which 
are services compatible with those 
independence requirements. In addition to 
this, principals and employees of our firm deal 
with the Company and Group on normal terms 
within the ordinary course of trading activities 
of the business of the Company and Group. 

Other than the audit and these assignments, 
the firm has no other relationship with or 
interests in the Company or Group.

Michael Wilkes
Deloitte
On behalf of the Auditor–General
Christchurch, New Zealand
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Statutory  
Information

Meridian Energy Limited
Chris Moller (Chair)
Peter Wilson (Deputy Chair)
John Bongard
Mark Cairns (Appointed 18/07/2012)
Jan Dawson (Appointed 1/11/2012)
Mary Devine
Sally Farrier (Appointed 18/07/2012)
Anake Goodall
Stephen Reindler

New Zealand Subsidiaries

Arc Innovations LIMITED
Mark Binns
Paul Chambers

Damwatch Services Limited
Peter Amos
Neal Barclay

Damwatch Projects Limited
Peter Amos

Hunter Downs Development 
Company Limited
Andrew Fraser (Appointed 21/06/13)
Ross Rathgen (Appointed 21/06/13)
Linda Robertson (Appointed 21/06/13)
Paul Wilson (Appointed 21/06/13)

MEL Solar Holdings Limited
Mark Binns
Paul Chambers

Meridian Energy Captive 
Insurance Limited
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers
Jason Stein (Alternate for  
Paul Chambers)

Meridian Limited
Mark Binns
Paul Chambers

Meridian Energy 
International Limited
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers
Jason Stein (Alternate for  
Paul Chambers)

Meridian (Whisper Tech No. 2) 
Limited
Thomas Hannah (Appointed 
19/12/2012)  
Jason McDonald
Brian Vass (Resigned 19/12/2012)

Meridian (Whisper Tech) 
Limited
Thomas Hannah (Appointed 19/12/12)
Jason McDonald
Brian Vass (Resigned 19/12/2012)

Powershop New Zealand 
Limited
Gillian Blythe (Appointed alternate 
for Paul Chambers 14/06/13)  
Paul Chambers
John Journee
Jason McDonald 
Rowan Simpson (Appointed 29/10/12)

Three River Holdings  
(No. 1) Limited 
Mark Binns
Paul Chambers
Kelvin Mason (Alternate for  
Paul Chambers)
Jason Stein (Appointed alternate  
for Mark Binns 13/06/13)

Three River Holdings  
(No. 2) Limited
Mark Binns
Paul Chambers
Kelvin Mason (Alternate for  
Paul Chambers)
Jason Stein (Appointed alternate  
for Mark Binns 13/06/13)

WhisperGen Limited
Thomas Hannah (Appointed 19/12/12)
Jason McDonald
Brian Vass (Resigned 19/12–12)

Whisper Tech Limited
Thomas Hannah
Jason McDonald (Appointed 19/12/12)
Brian Vass (Resigned 19/12/12)

Australian Subsidiaries

Damwatch Pty Limited 
Peter Amos 
Stanley Brogan

Meridian Australia Holdings 
Pty Limited 
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 

Meridian Energy Australia 
Pty Limited 
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 

Meridian Finco Pty Limited 
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 

Note: MEL Meridian Australia Partnership. 
This is a limited liability partnership 
under Australian law and not a subsidiary 
company. However the general partner  
of the MEL Meridian Australia Partnership 
is Meridian Energy Australia Pty Limited, 
whose Directors are noted above.

Meridian Wind Australia 
Holdings Pty Limited 
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 

Meridian Energy Markets  
Pty Limited 
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 

Meridian Wind Monaro Range 
Holdings Pty Limited 
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 

Meridian Wind Monaro Range 
Pty Limited 
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 

Mt. Mercer Windfarm  
Pty Limited 
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 

Mt. Millar Wind Farm  
Pty Limited 
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 

Powershop Australia  
Pty Limited
Mark Binns 
Paul Chambers 
Darryl Flukes (Appointed 21/12/12)
Peter Lowe 
Gillian Blythe (Appointed alternate 
for Paul Chambers 14/06/13)

USA Subsidiaries

CalRENEW–1, LLC 
Member: William Overholt

Hatteson Solar Farm, LLC 
Member: William Overholt

Jacob Canal Solar Farm, LLC 
Member: William Overholt 
(Appointed 31/01/12)

Laural East Solar Farm, LLC 
Member: William Overholt

Laurel West Solar Farm, LLC 
Member: William Overholt 

Meridian Energy USA, Inc 
Guy Waipara 

San Luis Valley Solar Farm, LLC 
Member: William Overholt 

Desert Butte, LLC 
Member: William Overholt

UK Subsidiaries

WhisperTECH (UK) Limited 
Thomas Hannah
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NAME POSITION DISCLOSURES

Andrew Fraser Director, 
Hunter Downs 
Development 
Company Limited

•	 Director, Mt. Cecil Trophy Deer  
Stud Limited

•	 Director, Hunter Dairies Limited

•	 Trustee, Mt. Cecil Trust

John Journee Director, 
Powershop  
New Zealand 
Limited

•	 Director, Torpedo7 Limited

Ross Rathgen Director, 
Hunter Downs 
Development 
Company Limited

•	 Director, RE Rathgen
•	 Director, Glenriver Farm Trust
•	 Director, St. Andrews Dairy Limited
•	 Director, Stoney Partnership

•	 Director, Sanctuary Trust
•	 Director, Aoraki Water Trust
•	 Director, Otaio Makikihi Rural Water 

Supply Scheme

Rowan Simpson Director, 
Powershop  
New Zealand 
Limited

•	 Director, One Square Room Limited 
(cessation December 2012) 

•	 Director Southgate Labs Limited
•	 Director Vend Limited
•	 Director and Shareholder N7 Limited

•	 Director Utiku Limited
•	 Director New Ground Media Limited
•	 Director W5 Limited

Directors’ Remuneration  
– Meridian Energy Limited

DIRECTOR
2013 REMUNERATION 

($)

John Bongard 49,000

Mark Cairns 49,000

Jan Dawson 32,667

Mary Devine 49,000

Sally Farrier 49,000

Anake Goodall 49,000

Chris Moller 98,000

Stephen Reindler 49,000

Peter Wilson 61,250

Total 485,917

Directors’ Remuneration  
– Subsidiaries

DIRECTOR 
 2013 

REMUNERATION 

Stanley Brogan (Damwatch Pty Limited) AUD$3,000 

Darryl Flukes  
(Meridian Energy Australia Pty Limited) AUD$10,060

John Journee  
(Powershop New Zealand Limited) $44,164

Peter Lowe  
(Meridian Energy Australia Pty Limited) AUD$64,219

Rowan Simpson  
(Powershop New Zealand Limited) $23,333

Note that Meridian executives appointed to 
be Directors of subsidiaries do not receive any 
Directors’ fees.

Interests Register 

Disclosure of Director Interests

Pursuant to sections 140 and 211(e) of the Companies 
Act 1993 the general disclosures of interest made 
during the accounting period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 
2013 for Directors of Meridian Energy Limited and 
its subsidiaries are listed on this page. 

Note that where an employee of Meridian is also a 
Director of a subsidiary of the company, a general 
disclosure to this effect is made on appointment.

NAME POSITION DISCLOSURES

John Bongard Director, Meridian 
Energy Limited

•	 Tourism Holdings Limited – Director 
(cessation December 2012)

•	 PSCTH Thailand – Chairman
•	 Narta Australia Pty Ltd – Director

Mark Cairns Director, Meridian 
Energy Limited

•	 C3 Limited – Director (disclosed 
July 2012, cessation December 12)

•	 Metropack Limited – Director 
(disclosed July 2012, cessation 
February 2013)

•	 Tapper Transport Limited – 
Director (disclosed July 2012, 
cessation February 2013)

•	 Tapper Sip Limited – Director 
(disclosed July 2012, cessation 
February 2013)

•	 Quality Marshalling Limited, Director
•	 Port of Tauranga – Employee
•	 Port of Tauranga Trustee Company 

Limited – Director
•	 North Tugz Limited – Director
•	 Northport Limited – Director

Jan Dawson Director, Meridian 
Energy Limited

•	 Rabobank, Bondholder
•	 Auckland International Airport, 

Bondholder
•	 Fonterra, Bondholder
•	 Air New Zealand, Director, 

Shareholder and Bondholder
•	 Mainfreight, Shareholder
•	 Trade Me, Shareholder
•	 The Warehouse Group, Shareholder
•	 Westpac Banking Corporation, 

Shareholder
•	 Westpac New Zealand, Director

•	G oodman Fielder, Director  
and Shareholder

•	 Counties Manukau District Health 
Board, Director

•	 Voyager Maritime Museum, Trustee
•	U niversity of Auckland, Councillor
•	 International Sailing Federation, 

Councillor
•	 Mighty River Power, Shareholder
•	 Disciplinary Tribunal – NZ Institute  

of Chartered Accountants, Member
•	 Yachting New Zealand, President

Mary Devine Director, Meridian 
Energy Limited

•	 McKenzie & Willis Limited – Director 
(cessation April 2013)

Sally Farrier Director, Meridian 
Energy Limited

•	 Farrier Swier Consulting Pty Ltd 
•	 ErgoCorp Pty Ltd, Director and 

Shareholder

•	 Tertius – Member

Anake Goodall Director, Meridian 
Energy Limited

•	 Ministry of Education – Youth 
Guarantee Advisory Group  
(cessation May 2013)

•	 National Australia Bank – 
Shareholder

•	 Impax Environmental Markets – 
Shareholder

•	 BHP Billiton – Shareholder

•	 Cougar Energy Limited – Shareholder
•	 Commonwealth Bank of Australia – 

Shareholder
•	 Vector Limited – Bondholder
•	 Rio Tinto – Shareholder
•	 Infratil – Shareholder
•	 Enspiral Foundation Limited – 

Director

Chris Moller Director, Meridian 
Energy Limited

•	O rigin Energy Limited – Shareholder 
(cessation March 2013)

•	 NZX Limited – Director (cessation 
November 2012)

•	 Victoria University Foundation – 
Trustee (cessation August 2012)

Stephen Reindler Director, Meridian 
Energy Limited

•	G lidepath Limited – Advisory Board 
Member (cessation January 2013)

•	 IPENZ Board (cessation March 2013)
•	 Infratil – Shareholder 

•	 Lynas Corporation – Shareholder
•	 BHP – Shareholder
•	 Bathurst Resources – Shareholder
•	 Woodside Petroleum – Shareholder

Peter Wilson Director, Meridian 
Energy Limited

•	 NZ Farming Systems Uruguay 
Limited – Director (cessation 
December 2012)

•	 Westpac Banking Corporation – 
Director (cessation December 2012)

•	 King Country Energy Limited  
– Shareholder

•	 Mighty River Power Limited  
– Shareholder

Directors Interests – Subsidiaries

Directors Interests – Meridian Energy Limited
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Registered Office
Level 1
33 Customhouse Quay
Wellington 6011
New Zealand

Offices
33 Customhouse Quay
PO Box 10840
The Terrace
Wellington 6143
New Zealand

Telephone +64 4 381 1200
Facsimile +64 4 381 1201

104 Moorhouse Avenue 
PO Box 2146
Christchurch 8140
New Zealand

Telephone +64 3 357 9700

State Highway 8
Private Bag 950
Twizel 7944
New Zealand

Telephone +64 3 435 0818
Facsimile +64 3 435 0939

Meridian Energy Australia Pty Ltd
9 Queen Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
Australia

Telephone +61 3 8370 2100
Facsimile +61 3 9620 9955

Auditor
Michael Wilkes
On behalf of the Office  
of the Auditor–General
Deloitte
PO Box 248
Christchurch 8140
New Zealand

Banker
Westpac
Wellington
New Zealand

Directors
Chris Moller, Chair
Peter Wilson, Deputy Chair
John Bongard
Mark Cairns
Jan Dawson
Mary Devine
Sally Farrier
Anake Goodall
Stephen Reindler

Management Team
Mark Binns, Chief Executive
Neal Barclay
Ben Burge
Paul Chambers
Jacqui Cleland
Alan McCauley
Glen McLatchie
Jason Stein
Guy Waipara

Bondholder statistics

Retail fixed rate bonds (MEL010) as at 29 August 2013

Size of holding Number of bondholders % of bondholders Number of bonds % of bonds

1,001 to 5,000 192 12.83 960,000 0.77

5,001 to 10,000 344 22.98 3,290,000 2.63

10,001 to 50,000 802 53.57 21,906,000 17.52

50,001 to 100,000 86 5.74 7,033,000 5.63

100,001 to 500,000 57 3.81 13,168,000 10.53

500,001 and over 16 1.07 78,643,000 62.92

Total 1,497 100.00 125,000,000 100.00

Retail fixed rate bonds (MEL020) as at 29 August 2013

Size of holding Number of bondholders % of bondholders Number of bonds % of bonds

1,001 to 5,000 46 5.92 230,000 0.31

5,001 to 10,000 137 17.63 1,300,000 1.73

10,001 to 50,000 453 58.30 13,676,000 18.23

50,001 to 100,000 68 8.75 5,341,000 7.12

100,001 to 500,000 55 7.08 12,594,000 16.79

500,001 and over 18 2.32 41,859,000 55.82

Total 777 100.00 75,000,000 100.00

NZX Waivers

Details of all waivers granted and published by NZX 
within or relied upon by Meridian Energy Limited 
in the 12 months immediately preceding the date 

two months before the date of publication of this 
annual report are available on the company’s 
website www.meridianenergy.co.nz.
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Front cover image – West Wind Farm Recreation Area, Wellington

Two mountain biking tracks, designed and constructed by Wellington mountain bikers 
Jonathan, Paul and Simon Kennett, provide some good challenges for keen mountain bikers.


